
 
 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
 
Date Wednesday 24 November 2021 

Time 1.30 pm 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 
Business 

 
Part A 

Items which are open to the Public and Press 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 1 September 2021 (Pages 5 - 14) 

5. Health and Social Care Integration: (Pages 15 - 30) 

 Presentation of Director of Integrated Community Services, 
Durham County Council. 

6. County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-25 
Update: (Pages 31 - 132) 

 Report of Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning, Durham 
County Council and NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 

7. Overview of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021: (Pages 133 - 158) 

 Report and Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham 
County Council. 

8. Better Care Fund: (Pages 159 - 166) 

 Report of Strategic Programme Manager, Integration, Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County Council. 

9. Winter Planning Arrangements: (Pages 167 - 190) 

 Report of Director of Integrated Community Services, Durham 
County Council. 
 
 
 



10. Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns: (Pages 191 - 198) 

 Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council. 

11. Covid 19 Vaccine Inequalities Update: (Pages 199 - 224) 

 Report Director of Commissioning Strategy and Development 
(Primary Care), NHS County Durham CCG and Director of Public 
Health, Durham County Council. 
 

Local Outbreak Engagement Board 
 
12. Local Outbreak Control Plan Update, including questions from 

members of the public and stakeholders: (Pages 225 - 232) 

 Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council. 

13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

14. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information   

 
Part B 

 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 

to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 
15. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 

meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
County Hall 
Durham 
16 November 2021 
 
 
To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

 
 Councillors R Bell, T Henderson and P Sexton 
  
J Robinson Adult and Health Services, Durham 

County Council 
J Pearce Children and Young People’s Services, 

Durham County Council 
A Healy Public Health, County Durham Adult and 

Health Services, Durham County 
Council 

Dr S Findlay County Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

Dr J Smith 
 
N Bailey 
 
F Jassat 

County Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group 
County Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group 
County Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust 

J Gillon North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust 

J Illingworth Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 

V Mitchell City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust 

C Cunnington-
Shore 

Healthwatch County Durham 

M Forster Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 
Trust 

M Laing Associate Director of Community  
Services 

S White 
 
S Helps 

Office of the Police, Crime, and Victim’s 
Commissioner 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service 

L Hall Housing Solutions 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Martin Tindle Email: 03000 269 713 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in Council Chamber, 
County Hall, Durham on Wednesday 1 September 2021 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor P Sexton (Chair) 
 

Members of the Board: 
Councillors R Bell and T Henderson, Chris Cunnington-Shore, Dr Stewart Findlay, 
Amanda Healy, Jennifer Illingworth, Sue Jacques, Michael Laing, John Pearce 
and Jane Robinson. 
 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Nicola Bailey, Mike Forster, Julie 
Gillon, Lynn Hall, Steve Helps, Feisal Jassat, Dr Jonathan Smith and Peter 
Sutton. 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
Levi Buckley for Julie Gillon, Patrick Garner for Peter Sutton, Suzanne Lamb 
for Mike Forster, Phil Innes for Steve Helps and Marie Smith for Lynn Hall 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 June 2021 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 

5 Health and Social Care Integration  
 
The Board received a verbal update from the Corporate Director of Adult and 
Health Services and the Director of Integrated Community Services on Health 
and Social Care Integration progress. 
 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services referred to 
winter pressures in County Durham and across the region and advised that 
discussions were taking place with NHS colleagues to put in place a number of 
actions to mitigate the challenges.  One event had taken place with another 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



planned  later in the month to discuss winter planning.  Discussions related to 
prevention and communications. In addition, the County Durham Care 
Partnership had been nominated for the Health Service Journal Award. 
 
Michael Laing, Director of Integrated Community Services advised that winter 
planning involved colleagues from the NHSand local authority and other 
partners who met as a task group to discuss the challenges ahead.  Surge in 
demand was expected in NHS and social care and plans would be brought 
together. High levels of demand had been experienced already and measures 
have been in place since July. He advised that funding had been secured for 
an 8 – 8, 7 day a week, crisis response service,with a view to responding to 
people within 2 hours to prevent hospital admissions.  He also identified the 
creation of an integrated hospital admissions team to help to get people home 
safely and releasing beds to improve patient flow..   
 
With regards to the ICS, design guidance has been released; he said that the 
deadline to submit plans to government was the end December as to what we 
want to see in County Durham and across the region.  The nomination for the 
HSJ award showed the good partnership working across the sector in County 
Durham.  Finally, he informed the board that the long covid clinics, being run 
from Bishop Auckland and Darlington, showed how we were working together 
to improve services for residents. 
 
On answering a question from the Chair, the Director of Integrated Community 
Services advised that the ICS was picking up speed and will be recruiting key 
staff and board members as well as putting financial arrangements in place.  
 
Resolved: That the update be noted. 
 

6 Housing and Health  
 
The Board considered a report of the Strategic Housing Manager, Housing 
Solutions, Durham County Council that provided an update of the housing 
and health related projects that Housing Solutions had delivered over the 
past year, as well as any planned initiatives, which aligned to the priorities 
outlined in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
The Housing Manager, Durham County Council delivered a presentation that 
gave an overview of why housing was a key determinant to health and 
wellbeing and what Housing Solutions had delivered over the past 12 months 
against the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priorities: 
 

 Starting Well –  
o Adaptations for children 
o Target Hardening for families (Remain Safe)  

Page 6



o Young person’s Joint Protocol 

 Ageing Well – 
o Adaptations 
o Warm and Healthy Homes 
o Hospital discharge 
o Reducing hospital admissions 
o Domestic abuse (DA) 
o DA Needs Assessment 
o Rough sleeping 
o County Durham Lettings Agency 
o Dedicated Offender Team 
o COVID 19 Vaccinations for vulnerable groups 
o Joint working with Registered Housing Providers 
o Selective licensing 
o Landlord accreditation 

 Living Well –  
o Council New Build Programme 
o New Housing for Older People  
o Needs Based Accommodation Programme Board 

 
.   
 
Councillor Bell asked if we were meeting the needs of older and disabled 
people with collaborative working and asked if there was anything else that 
could be done.  The Housing Manager responded that this area of work was 
going really well and the service were now working more collaboratively.  
She referred to an event being held on 13 September, led by the 
Commissioning team, with housing colleagues involved. 
 
Councillor Henderson referred to paragraph 26 of the report and the impact 
of COVID on mental health which showed an increase of 8% and asked if 
there was any additional support in place.  The Housing Manager advised of 
the different funding support available including the appointment of a mental 
health worker in the Rough Sleeper Team.  She said that there was a 
homelessness review underway and that the team were keeping an eye on 
trends. 
 
Referring to joint working, the Corporate Director of Adults and Health 
Services said that it had been a good piece of work and was optimistic of the 
outcomes of this.  She added that mental health was being collectively 
addressed with a positive approach. 
 
Phil Innes, Fire and Rescue Service, gave an offer of support in addressing 
the complex needs of rough sleepers and people at risk of dying from 
accidental fires.  He advised that the Fire Service are advocates of  
sprinklers being installed in all new builds. 

Page 7



 
Resolved: 
That the content of the report be noted. 
 

7 Health and Wellbeing Framework for schools / education settings 
update  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham 
County Council that gave an update on the progress of the County Durham 
Health and Wellbeing Framework for schools and education settings (for 
copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health reported that between May and July 2020 the 
Public Health team engaged with 30 education settings, who took part in a 
pilot phase for the Health and Wellbeing Framework. Feedback from the pilot 
helped develop and refine the framework.  A web-based version of the 
framework was developed with associated materials for schools and 
education settings. There  had been input from across the wider Children and 
Young People Mental Health (CYPMH) system such as the Mental Health 
Lessons Learned Group and the CYPMH Forums. She added that it was a 
pledge for educational establishments to carry out work and included 
physical activity, that staff had training and that wellbeing was important for 
all.  
 
The Director of Public Health advised that she would bring back examples of 
the work carried out and that board members would be invited to a 
celebration event. 
 
Councillor Henderson asked if academies were involved and was advised 
that all schools were actively encouraged and engaged in the work.  He 
further asked if there was a cost involved and was informed that there was 
no cost in terms of the framework but that there may be costs for some 
external resources which was made clear to the schools at the start. 
 
Referring to disadvantaged pupils across all schools, Councillor Bell asked if 
any more could be done in terms of IT provision and access to remote 
learning.  Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health said that this was being 
looked at across the boardand that there had been a huge emphasis placed 
on mental health in schools  as well as supporting those children and young 
people who need it most.  A health equality audit was being carried out to 
identify fairness of access to services so that the inequality gap does not 
widen. 
 
Sue Jacques, Chief Executive County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust spoke in support of this work as the hospital trust had seen 

Page 8



an increase in the number of children with eating disorders and outlined that 
early support is very important. 
 
John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services 
also welcomed the Frameworkas he was currently working with the public 
health team and they were tracking the take up of schools across the county.  
He added that schools knew their pupils and communities really well and 
they were best placed to support children and young people in terms of work 
on inequalities. 
 
Resolved: 
That the progress made in the development of the Health and Wellbeing 
Framework for education settings, be noted. 
 

8 Alcohol and Drug Harm Reduction Group update 2021  
 
The Board received a report from the Director of Public Health, Durham 
County Council that gave an update of activity relating to reducing alcohol 
and drug harms during 2020-21, that updated on the refresh of the Alcohol 
and Drug Harm Reduction Group (ADHRG) Plan on a Page (POP) and 
Action Plan for 2021-22, and that reflected on the impact and consequential 
developments during COVID-19 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health informed the Board of the work undertaken 
during the pandemic including looking at the impact on children.  Alcohol and 
drug use were very challenging across County Durham and in the North 
East.  She went on to highlight the rise in alcohol death rates especially since 
the first lockdown and the impact of drug use in the region.  The Board were 
advised of the continuing work with Balance who fronted key targeted 
campaigns. 
 
The Chair asked what measures were in place to address the increase in 
alcohol consumption and was advised that Balance were carrying out 
advocacy work on our behalf.  She added that ‘What’s the Harm’ campaign 
work was vital and ensured that service provision extended on what was 
already in place.  It was important that this area remained a high priority. 
 
Councillor Henderson referred to under age sales and test purchases and 
asked when this area of work would be re-introduced.  The Director of Public 
Health said that they were in the process of looking for volunteers and would 
then start to engage with young people to get this back up and running.  This 
would also include work around illicit tobacco sales. 
 
Phil Innes, Fire and Rescue Service said that there were concerns about risk 
from fire in the home when people were under the influence of alcohol and 
drug use, reporting a recent fatality.  He pledged an open offer from the fire 

Page 9



service to help develop pathways.  The Director of Public Health would 
ensure that this linked up with the Safe Durham Partnership’s work. 
 
Referring to the statistics, Councillor Bell asked if there was any data relating 
to specific communities, ages or groups and was advised that it was a 
challenge to get data a this lower level but it would be explored through the 
surveys with Balance and the different measures in place. 
 
Resolved: 
That the content of the report as an annual update on the progress of the 
ADHRG, be noted. 
 

9 Area Action Partnership update  
 
The Board received a report of the Area Action Partnership Co-ordinator, 
East Durham Rural Corridor AAP, Durham County Council which provided an 
update in relation to the work taking place to enhance the interface between 
AAP’s and the Health and Wellbeing Board to improve the alignment of AAP 
developments and investments and the priorities of the Board (for copy see 
file of Minutes). 
 
The AAP Co-ordinator gave an overview of the priorities, funding and 
projects including the initial pandemic response in establishing the 
Community Hub and updating Locate as well as providing details of the 
funding available to AAPs and their support to elected members in allocating 
neighbourhood budget monies. 
 
Following a question by the Chair it was confirmed that the £10,000 one off 
sum had been provided to elected members was strategically targeted for 
towns and villages work.. 
 
Councillor Bell asked what would happen with representation on AAPs when 
the CCGs were no longer in existence and how we could ensure the wider 
health partners were involved in all 14 AAPs.  The Head of Partnerships and 
Community Engagement (PACE) advised that the service actively engage 
with the primary care networks and Joseph Chandy, Director of 
Commissioning Strategy and Delivery, had been working on how we could 
engage moving forward, including connecting with GP surgeries. The Head 
of PACE would be providing a presentation to Primary Care Networks on the 
role and work of AAPs.  
 
Dr Findlay was delighted to see the close working with the Primary Care 
Networks as a lot of work had taken place with wrap around community 
services for our populations.  He suggested that a good link up would be with 
pharmacists, dentists and housing. 
 

Page 10



Resolved: 
That the report be noted. 
 

10 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns  
 
The Board noted a presentation from the Director of Public Health, on the 
following public health campaigns (for copy of presentation see file of 
minutes): 
 

 COVID-19 
o Proactive and prevention work 
o Vaccine 
o CYP/schools 
o Beat Covid NE 

 Raising Awareness of Health Harms 
o What’s the Harm campaign 
o Regional Don’t Wait campaign 
o Keep it Out campaign 

 Summer Activities 

 Autumn Campaigns 
 
The Director of Public Health said that as part of the Autumn Campaigns 
people would be encouraged to take up the flu and COVID booster vaccines. 
 
The Chair asked how members could support these campaigns and were 
links available to share on social media.  The Director of Public Health 
advised that all members would be provided with the appropriate links to 
share the key messages of the campaigns with member of the public.   
 
Councillor Bell asked how we were reaching those people without digital 
services with the delivery of these campaigns.   The Director of Public Health 
responded that it had to continue to be a mixture of online and other methods 
to be as effective as possible.  Whilst recognising how important online 
communication was, TV adverts reached a lot of people and in schools 
physical materials were displayed. 
 
Resolved: 
That the presentation be noted. 
 

11 Covid 19 update  
 
The Board received a report and presentation from the Director of Public Health 
which provided an update on the COVID-19 response and the COVID-19 Local 
Outbreak Management Plan (for copy of see file of minutes). 
 

Page 11



The Director of Public Health gave a detailed presentation that highlighted the 
promotion of access to the surveillance dashboard, that the vaccination 
programme had opened up to 16-17 year olds, the importance of ventilation and 
fresh air and planning for the autumn and winter.  A more in depth look at 
supporting schools and colleges and the vaccination programme were 
highlighted.  Rates remained relatively high with hospital admissions affecting 
more younger aged people. 
 
The Director of Public Health advised that the following responses to questions 
from members of the public and stakeholders would be published on the 
Council’s website following the meeting: 
 
Dr Stewart Findlay 

1. What happens from 16 August? Who is exempt from self-
 isolation if they are pinged?  
From 16 August 2021, in line with step 4 of the government’s Covid-19 
roadmap, if you receive notice to self-isolate as a close contact of a positive 
case from NHS Test and Trace or from Public Health and are double 
vaccinated (and have been for at least 2 weeks prior to contact) or under 18 
years of age, you will no longer be legally required to self-isolate.  You will be 
advised to take a precautionary PCR test. 
 
Those not fully vaccinated still need to self-isolate if notified as a close 
contact of a positive case, and you still need to isolate if you test positive for 
Covid-19, to protect yourself and others. 

 
2. How do you prove you’re fully vaccinated? 

You can prove you are fully vaccinated through the NHS Covid Pass which 
allows you to share your vaccination records or test status in a secure way. 
You may be asked to demonstrate your Covid-19 status as a condition of 
entry to a venue/event or when you are travelling abroad.  
 
If you are aged 18 or over you can get a NHS Covid Pass for domestic 
venues and events. If you are 16 or over you can get this pass for travel 
abroad but you must then follow the entry requirements of the country you 
are travelling to.  
 
To find out about the NHS Covid Pass visit the Gov.uk        
website: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/covid-pass/ 
 
Paper versions can be printed out via the NHS App if needed, and if people 
don’t have smart phones / access to the app etc, they can ring 119 and 
request a paper version.   
 
 
 

Page 12

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/covid-pass/


Amanda Healy 
3. Is it recommended to continue to do regular lateral flow 

 tests? If so, will these still be available free of charge? 
Yes, we are still advocating twice weekly LFD Testing. These home test kits 
are free and you can find details on how to order home testing kits to be 
delivered to your home or to find your nearest collection point (there are over 
160 collection points in County Durham), on our webpage 
www.durham.gov.uk/CovidLFT  
 

4. If we can still get Covid when we have been double 
 vaccinated, why is it so important for me to have both doses? 
Anyone who gets COVID-19 can become seriously ill or have long-term 
effects (long COVID). The COVID-19 vaccines are the best way to protect 
yourself and others.  
 
Research has shown the vaccines help to: 

• Reduce your risk of getting seriously ill or dying from COVID-19 

• Reduce your risk of catching or spreading COVID-19  

• Protect against COVID-19 variants.  

 
The first dose should give you some protection from 3 or 4 weeks after 
you've had it. But you need 2 doses for stronger and longer-lasting 
protection. Being fully vaccinated reduces the harm of Covid-19. There is a 
chance you might still get or spread COVID-19 even if you have a vaccine, 
so it's important to follow advice about how to avoid catching and spreading 
COVID-19  
 

The Chair was advised that people were expected to hear about the booster 

vaccine shortly and whether 12-15 year olds would be included to start receiving 

their vaccines. 

 

Dr Findlay re-emphasised the importance of having both vaccines and the 

booster as the effects would wear off in time and protection was so important to 

continue to fight COVID. 

 

Resolved: 
That the report and updated Local Outbreak Management plan be noted and 
agreed. 
 

12 Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved:  
That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Page 13

http://www.durham.gov.uk/CovidLFT
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/how-to-avoid-catching-and-spreading-coronavirus-covid-19/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/how-to-avoid-catching-and-spreading-coronavirus-covid-19/


 

13 Pharmacy Applications  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health which 
presented a summary of Pharmacy Applications received from NHS England 
in accordance with the NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical 
Services) Regulations 2013 (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted. 
 

Page 14



Integration Update for Health 
and Wellbeing Board

24 November 2021

Jane Robinson Corporate 

Director Adults and Health 

Services and Michael Laing 

Director of Integrated 

Community Services

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 5



Format
• Purpose

• Health and Care Bill – overview

• The ICS in the North East and North Cumbria

• Guidance and Timeline

• Integrated Care Boards and Partnerships

• Provider collaboratives

• Place based working

• Integration in Durham

• Summary

P
age 16



Purpose

• To provide an update on discussions with partners about Integrated Care System (ICS) 
developments and progress with integration in County Durham

• To listen to your views and comments

• To answer questions

P
age 17



The Health and Care Bill - Overview 

• Designed to reform the delivery of health services and promote integration between health and care, repealing the 
2012 Health and Social Care Act.

• Promotes integration rather than competition and includes the specifications of integrated care systems (ICSs), with 
distinct statutory functions for the integrated care board (ICB) and integrated care partnership (ICP).

• Increases the Secretary of State's powers over various aspects of the NHS’s operation, notably including local service 
reconfigurations. 

• NHS England and NHS Improvement are legally merged under the name NHS England (NHSE).

• Powers are introduced for NHSE functions (notably including commissioning functions) to be exercised by ICS 
integrated care boards.

• The government may direct NHSE to use funding for service integration.

• These reforms cannot be considered in - future of social care.  

P
age 18



Scale of our ICS

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 5

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

North East and North
Cumbria

Cheshire and Mersey Greater Manchester West Yorkshire and
Harrogate

Lancashire and South
Cumbria

Humber, Coast and Vale South Yorkshire and
Bassetlaw

ICSs in the North  - population in millions

P
age 19



Guidance and Timeline

• Complex work developing quickly with partners working together

• NHSE guidance published – important role for Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBB) at ICS and place 
levels

• Appointment of Chair – Professor Sir Liam Donaldson 

• CE recruitment undertaken – announcement expected – other senior posts filled

• Followed by statutory appointments and set up of Shadow Board

• Groups set up to design new structures and financial arrangements

• Deadline for proposals to NHSE late November 2021

• Due diligence process required

• CCG remains statutory organisation till 1/04/22

P
age 20



Integrated Care Boards (ICB)

• CCGs abolished - powers and resources transferred to ICBs and NHS

• ICBs - responsible also for commissioning a wide range of health services, including PC, ambulance, and 
potentially opticians and dental services

• ICBs will have a range of duties, including to promote the NHS Constitution, reduce inequalities, maintain 
patient choice and promote integration.

• ICBs must ensure public involvement in planning and decision-making.

• ICB functions can be exercised jointly with a place based partnership.

• ICBs must prepare and publish a plan setting out how they will exercise their functions in the coming five 
years – including how it will implement local joint health and wellbeing strategies.

• Each relevant HWBB should be consulted in the preparation of this plan.

• NHSE will assess the performance of each ICB consulting HWBBs.P
age 21



Integrated Care Partnership (ICP)

Integrated Care Partnerships

• ICBs and local authorities must establish an integrated care partnership (ICP) who will then create an integrated care strategy,
considering the NHS Mandate, Secretary of State guidance and involve people who live in the partnership’s area.

• ICPs are to consist of (a) one member appointed by the ICB, (b) one member appointed by each local authority, and (c) any 
members appointed by the integrated care partnership.

Joint working and delegation of functions

• NHS England, integrated care boards, NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts can exercise functions jointly with local authorities 
and combined authorities. 

• Joint functions can be exercised by (a) a joint committee or (b) by a specific organisation or joint committee through a pooled 
fund.

• Joint appointments can be made across NHS commissioners, providers and/or local authorities, subject to NHS England 
guidance.

P
age 22



Provider collaboratives

• From April 2022 all Trusts to be part of a provider collaborative

• Provider collaboratives will agree specific objectives with ICBs

• Provider collaboratives will agree working relationships, representation with ICBs

• ICB can delegate commissioning to one or more provider working in a provider collaborative – lead 
provider

• ICB can form a Joint Committee with a Trust

• Confirms the major role for Trusts in the future 

P
age 23



Place-based partnerships

• Place arrangements and leadership are for local determination – partners within each ICS will decide how to work 
together to address the needs of places, building from an understanding of neighbourhoods and primary care 
networks.

• An ICB could establish any of the following place-based governance arrangements with local authorities and other 
partners:

• Consultative forum, informing decisions by the ICS NHS body, local authorities and other partners

• Committee of the ICB (NHS body) with delegated authority to take decisions about the use of ICS NHS body 
resources

• Joint committee of the ICB (NHS body) and one or more statutory provider(s), where the relevant statutory 
bodies delegate decision making on specific functions/services/populations to the joint committee

• Individual directors of the ICB (NHS body) having delegated authority, which they may choose to exercise through 
a committee

• Lead provider managing resources and delivery at place-level under a contract with the ICS NHS body

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 10

P
age 24



Durham Place Based Working 

• Aiming to keep as much decision-making and finance in County Durham as possible

• Need to inspire the confidence of the ICB to delegate to us and make a “positive” offer

• Building on the County Durham Care Partnership (CDCP) set up in 2018

• Revised the CDCP structures in 2021 in anticipation of these changes

• Now have an Executive in Common with the CCG and CDCP 

• Working on the implications of a Joint Committee with delegated budgets with an ambitious aspiration to 
begin in April 2023

• All partners working together

P
age 25



Integration in Durham - Vision

Our vision for integrated care is:

To bring together health and social care and voluntary
organisations to achieve improved health and wellbeing for
the people of County Durham

P
age 26



Integration in Durham - Principles

• Put the patient and service user first 

• The right person in the right place at the right time delivering care to reduce handoffs, delays and duplication

• Promote integrity between primary, community and social care

• Deliver care closer to home

• Engage, share and develop our workforce together

• Share the benefits and successes

• Encourage leadership at all levels

• Get the best value from the resources available

• Innovate and make the most of opportunities together

• Respect our differences and promote a culture of integrated working 

P
age 27



• Workstreams agreed to make a difference for residents and progressing well
• Hospital Discharge – April 2022 
• Crisis Response – April 2022
• Urgent/Emergency Care
• Therapies
• Quality and safety
• Customer contact
• Review of Teams Around Patients
• Digital
• Enhanced Health in Care Homes

Integration in Durham - Workstreams

P
age 28



Summary

• Major changes in the Health and Care Bill

• CCGs abolished from April 2022

• Work underway about how services will be commissioned and the structures of the ICS

• Influencing on behalf of County Durham to keep as much finance and decision making at place

• In a strong position because of the CDCP – looking at Joint Committee – “positive” offer to the ICB

• Getting on with improving services in Durham through an Integration Programme

• Questions and comments

P
age 29



P
age 30



 

             

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

24 November 2021 

County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-2025 (third edition)  

 

Report of Sarah Burns, Head of Integrated Strategic 

Commissioning, Durham County Council and NHS County Durham 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None. 

Purpose of the Report 

1. To provide the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board with an 
update on the third iteration of the County Durham Commissioning and 
Delivery Plan 2020-2025.  

 

Executive summary 

2. The County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-2025 (third 
edition) ("the plan") forms the health and care commissioning and 
delivery intentions of the system, to meet the objectives within the County 
Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). Now in its third 
iteration the plan continues to use the structure of the previous versions, 
namely 22 chapters that reflect the life course of 

 Starting Well 

 Living Well 

 Ageing Well 
 

3. The plan is owned by the County Durham Care Partnership Executive 
(CDCPE), and therefore covers the commissioning intentions of the 
Integrated Commissioning Team (including Public Health) alongside the 
delivery intentions of NHS mental health, acute, community, and primary 
care services. The plan does not replace organisational operational 
planning, though does bring together partners across pathways of care 
within each chapter. 
 

4. This third edition of the plan was due for publication in Spring 2021, 
however because of the pandemic a decision to delay this until the 
Autumn was taken. 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



Recommendation 

5. The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to review and approve 
the content of the plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



OGIM structure 

6. Each chapter, known as an OGIM (Objectives, Goals, Initiatives, 

Measures), provides a template to support read across between 

chapters, and to ensure that key lines of consideration are reflected 

within each. Changes in this edition include the removal of the 

Approach to Wellbeing under the initiative section, and the separation of 

health inequalities and prevention to a section dedicated to addressing 

health inequalities, and prevention being rebadged as health behaviours 

(alcohol, tobacco, nutrition, and physical activity). 

7. The Approach to Wellbeing remains an important model to be applied 

within the plan, however it was acknowledged that in the previous 

editions of the plan the content under this heading did not reflect the 

model adequately, resulting in an inconsistency across chapters. The 

preface to the plan includes a section on how the plan is meeting the 

aims of the model. 

8. The section on Covid-19 details how each subject area is to support the 

recovery of services from the pandemic and looks towards a post-

pandemic future. 

9. The chapter on Palliative Care and End of Life has not been updated 

due to staffing changes and the suspension of the Palliative Care and 

End of Life Group over recent months. A new lead for this chapter has 

been appointed and this chapter will follow in due course once updated 

with the new national guidance, and following consideration and 

approval of the group. 

County Durham Outcomes Framework and the Triple Aim 

10. Work has continued over the period since the last version of the plan 

was published on developing an outcomes framework based upon the 

Triple Aim (outcomes, experience, and workforce). Chapter leads have 

worked with colleagues within NECS to identify outcomes that reflect 

the triple aim for each subject area, and then the identification of 

sources of data that can support the reporting of these. 

11. A dashboard has been developed within RADIR (Rapid Actionable 

Insight Driving Reform), a health intelligence tool, that will enable the 

CDCPE to benchmark these outcomes both nationally, and within the 

county. This will enable CDCPE to highlight areas of inequality at a 

county-wide level, and between Primary Care Networks (PCNs). It is 

expected that the CDCPE will receive a twice yearly report, including an 

Page 33



analyst's narrative report, to ensure that areas of concern regarding 

outcomes are highlighted. An example of this can be seen in the 

attachment folder. It is expected that the framework will support 

investment decision making over time.  

Assurance and Approval Processes 

12. Each chapter within the plan has been led by a chapter lead, who has 
worked across organisational boundaries to ensure that the content of 
each OGIM reflects those working within the subject area (see Appendix 
2). This has included extensive clinical leadership engagement, both from 
within the County, and wider where regional networks have provided 
support. 
 

13. Chapter leads have also provided an internal assurance process 
between draft and final submission of the OGIMs, that is, the chapter 
leads for mental health, children and young people, and personalised 
care have reviewed each OGIM and suggested amendments and re-
wording to ensure read across between chapters. 

 

14. External assurance has been sought from the County Durham Public 
Health Team to ensure that the section on healthy behaviours reflects 
current practice and plans, and County Durham Sport has reviewed and 
provided feedback for each chapter from a physical activity perspective.  
 

15. Approval processes for the plan have been modelled on the new County 
Durham governance structure, therefore each of the four Partnership 
Boards considered the chapters relevant to their remit, as seen below. 

 

Board OGIMs 

Children, Young People and 
Families Partnership Board 

Maternity, Children and Young People 

Mental Health and Learning 
Disabilities Partnership Board  

Learning Disability and Autism, Mental 
Health 

Acute Care Partnership Board  Cancer, Cardiovascular Disease, 
Respiratory, Stroke, Palliative Care, Urgent 
and Emergency Care, Shorter Waits 

Primary, Community and Social 
Care Partnership Board 

Diabetes, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexual Health, 
Dementia, Ageing Well (frailty), Carers, Oral 
Health, Primary Care Networks 

County Durham Care Partnership 
Executive 

(enablers) Digital, Personalised Care, 
Population Health Management.  

Page 34



 Patient, Public and Carer engagement 

16. It has been recognised that previous versions of the plan have been 
technical in nature and effectively inaccessible to the public and 
interested Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) partners. Whilst the 
plan is the health and care delivery component of the JHWS and is 
therefore likely to remain heavy on detail, this should not prevent 
engagement with the wider public. 

 
17. To support the move towards a co-production model in the future each 

chapter will be summarised on the County Durham Partnership website, 
with a page dedicated to the plan. Through promotion of the website by 
chapter leads within their networks, and working with Durham Community 
Action, the website will enable interested parties to provide feedback on 
content. It is hoped that this engagement will facilitate improvements in 
participation and co-production from non-statutory partners in future 
editions of the plan.  

 

Governance 

18. Governance of the plan between iterations has been sporadic with the 
monitoring of progress in-year down to individual chapters utilising their 
existing arrangements, for example, progress against the aims within the 
diabetes chapter have been managed through the Diabetes Governance 
Board. However, such arrangements are not in place for each chapter. 

 
19. To support in-year governance of the plan each chapter lead has been 

asked to identify their top three priorities for delivery by March 2022 (see 
appendix 3). Assurance will be provided to the relevant Partnership 
Board on a three-month basis using a highlight report. This will enable 
the Partnership Boards to have oversight of progress, address any risks 
and issues to delivery, and provide a forum for requests to change in-
year.  

 

Conclusion 

20. The third iteration of the plan reflects an increasing maturity of the health 
and care system in County Durham to collaboratively plan, measure, and 
deliver integrated services, whilst tacking the health inequalities within 
the county, and addressing the legacy of Covid-19. 

 

Author 

Jon Quine     email:  jon.quine1@nhs.net  

 

Page 35

mailto:jon.quine1@nhs.net


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The plan sets out to deliver the requirements of the Children and Social Work 

Act 2017, Children and Families Act 2014, Care Act 2014, the NHS Long 

Term Plan and other relevant policy documents 

Finance 

The financial implications of the plan are not considered within the report. 

Consultation 

Consultation with Senior Clinical Leads, Commissioners, and Operational 

Managers within the County Durham health and care system. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The principles of equality and diversity are embedded within each chapter. 

Climate Change 

No impact. 

Human Rights 

The principles of human rights are embedded within each chapter within the 

plan.  

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable.  

Staffing 

The consideration of workforce outcomes supports the identification of service 

vulnerabilities due to workforce issues.  

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

All initiatives within the plan are designed to reduced risk of harm from ill-

health and improve outcomes and experience. 

Procurement 

Specific procurements are not outlined within the plan. 

Page 36



Appendix 2:  Chapter Leads 

 

Chapter  Chapter Leads  

Starting well  

1. Maternity  Kathleen Berry   

2. Children & Young People  Alison Ayres  

Living Well  

3. Cancer  Sarah Lee  

4. Cardiovascular Disease  Mathew Thomas  

5. Diabetes  Joanna Dunbar  

6. Drugs and Alcohol  Jane Sunter  

7. Respiratory    Helen Stoker  

8. Sexual Health   Michelle Baldwin  

9. Stroke  Rachel Rooney  

Aging Well    

10. Dementia  Lucile Blight  

11. Ageing Well  Jen Steel   

12. Palliative Care  Sarah Lee  

Whole life course  

13. Carers  Rachael Mawston  

14. Learning Disability & Autism  Claire Kerr  

15. Mental Health   Steven Bramwell  

16. Oral Health  Michelle Baldwin  

17. Primary Care Networks  Nicole Theobald  

18. Urgent and Emergency Care  Clair White  

Enablers  

19. Digital  Nicola Murray  

20. Personalised Care  Jon Quine  

21. Population Health and Prevention  Jon Quine  

22. Shorter waits  Kathryn Kirkby / Vicky Blunsdon   

 

 

  

Page 37



Appendix 3: Top three priorities September 2021 to March 2022 

 

Chapter Priority 1 Priority 2 Priority 3 

1. Maternity Deliver on the agreed plan for 
continuity of carer model 

Deliver the agreed actions in 
response to Ockenden 

As a system scope out the pre-birth and 
under one pathway of care and make 
recommendations for improvement 
including early help making 
recommendations back to Best Start in 
Life and the Strategic Delivery Group 
for Vulnerable Pre-Birth and under 1-
year olds in County Durham. 

2. Children and 
Young People 

Review the Education Health and 
Care opportunities for children and 
their families on the autistic 
spectrum and implement 
recommendations to improve 
outcomes  

Develop a transition pathway for 
young people with mental health 
issues including CYP with complex 
issues including autism and 
learning difficulties. 

All organisations to prioritise reducing 
tobacco dependency in pregnancy. 
Trusts to include as a clinical priority 
and all organisations to change the 
narrative to a one of addiction. 

3. Cancer Implement Survival Follow Up in 
prostate and one other tumour 
group 

Finalise Lynch testing pathway  Implement social marketing campaign 
in key tumour groups to target most at-
risk communities/cohorts 

4. 
Cardiovascular 
Disease 

Atrial Fibrillation Optimisation and 
Detection Programme 

Implementation of shared decision 
making within NHS Healthchecks 
to include patient activation, 
behaviour change and self-
management measures. 

Reduce variation of practice in the 
identification and management of high-
risk conditions and audit & clean-up 
registers to ensure people are coded 
properly. 

P
age 38



5. Diabetes Continue to deliver and evaluate the 
County Durham Integrated diabetes 
model of care programme to 
determine its impact on health 
benefits and outcomes for patients 
with type 2 diabetes.    

Continue the work to reduce 
variation in diabetes care (9 key 
care processes), outcomes and 
treatment targets across County 
Durham.  

Introduce a Multi-Dimensional Family 
Therapy & 7-day Diabetic Impatient 
Specialist Nurse service using the  
2020-24 NHS E Diabetes Treatment & 
Care programme funding to help 
reduce hospital length of stay and 
amputation rates for diabetes patients 
across County Durham. 

6. Drugs and 
Alcohol 

Drug crime and harm reduction funding 
to support a whole systems approach. 

Reduce prescribing rates of 
potentially addictive medication within 
primary care. 

Integrated approach to referring those 
identified with substance misuse into Drug 
and Alcohol Recovery Services. 

7. Respiratory  Spirometry: 
Development of a diagnostic 
spirometry service across County 
Durham, either to be delivered by 
CDDFT alone or with support from 
PCNs.  
 
Address the backlog of patients who 
are waiting for diagnostic spirometry 
testing for those without a confirmed 
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease (COPD) or Asthma 
diagnosis.  

Long Covid: 
Continue to meet the needs of 
people with Covid-19 through the 
integration of Personalised Care 
approaches are supporting people 
within the Post / Long Covid 
pathway. 

Covid Virtual Ward: 
Explore extending the covid virtual ward 
– need to address how to support 
patients out of hours and on weekends. 
Funding for More staffing resource 
required would be required. 

8. Sexual Health Develop and implement a 3-year 
Sexual Health Strategy which 
includes clear actions to deliver 
strategic recommendations 

Better understanding of the risk-
taking behaviour of high-risk 
groups which informs more 
impactful delivery 

Review the local multi-agency action 
plan for sexual health improvement to 
deliver age-appropriate relationship and 
sex education and reduce the 
conception rates in those under 18. P

age 39



9. Stroke Finalise plans to enhance hospital-
based specialist rehabilitation  

Review contract with stroke 
association to ensure a more 
integrated approach to the 
management of stroke 

Ensure integration of health and social 
care processes have a positive impact 
on patient outcomes i.e. discharge 
planning 

10. Dementia Countywide Dementia Advisor 
Service commissioned on a long-
term basis with sustainable funding 
in place 

Work in partnership to ensure the 
Dementia Advisor Service is fully 
integrated within Primary Care 
ensuring those with a diagnosis of 
dementia are supported from the 
onset 

People with dementia are supported to 
live at home for as long as possible, 
however those that require long term 
care in a community setting are cared 
for by appropriately skilled staff who 
have access to the required training. 
Technology, carer support and 
commissioner activity relating to care 
home staff all contribute effectively to 
this goal 

11. Ageing Well 
- Frailty  

Development of a community frailty 
model including Urgent Community 
Response and Same Day 
Emergency Care for frailty, to 
support the evolving Frailty Front of 
House and complex frailty unit for 
patients at Darlington Memorial 
Hospital, University Hospital North 
Durham & Bishop Ausckland 
General Hospital.  

Recommissioning of Community 
Hospital/Intermediate Care/ 
Designated Setting Discharge 
Beds to ensure care as close to 
home as possible as soon as this 
is appropriate.  

Ensure that crisis response whether 
this is predominantly a health, mental 
health or social care issue is 
coordinated in a timely personalised 
fashion being cognisant of the two hour 
response for health and four hours for 
mental health crisis. 

Priority 4 - Ensure the evolving IT 
systems within different 
organisation supporting older 
people are able to share key 
information to enable the person to 
tell their story once. 

Priority 5 - Embed integrated 
working between physical health, 
mental health and social care with 
mental health within the Teams 
Around Patients framework and 
wider community assets, including 
VCSE. 

Priority 6 - Improved working between 
hospital and community teams 
including developing a multi-disciplinary 
approach to the Discharge 
Management Team. 

 

P
age 40



Priority 7 -  
Development of integrated 
commissioning of nursing and 
residential care across health and 
social care; potential for new ways 
of commissioning care home 
services to ensure they are on a 
sustainable footing and able to 
deliver the quality needed within 
budgets for the longer term. 

  

12. Palliative 
Care 

On hold On hold On hold 

13. Carers Continue to provide and improve 
robust mental health support for 
carers, particularly in light of 
pandemic pressures. Increase the 
number of carers accessing carer 
breaks to prevent carer 
breakdowns.  

Increase the number of carers 
accessing employment support 
initiatives and raise awareness of 
the issues carers face in the 
workplace. Development of a 
working carers wellbeing app.  

Improve information for carers and the 
accessibility of the information. Focus 
on the digital skills of carers and 
training opportunities available to 
support with this.  

14. Learning 
Disability and 
Autism 

Roll out, as part of new PCN 
arrangements the STOMP-STAMP 
programmes. 

STOMP: Stop the over-medication 
of children and young people with a 
learning disability, autism or both 

STAMP: Supporting treatment and 
appropriate medication in 
paediatrics. 

Review data and identify service 
gaps to improve understanding of 
community support options 
available in County Durham to 
meet the needs of people with 
Learning Disabilities and their 
family/carers as they grow older 
including improved planning and 
end of life care. 

Increase the number of learning 
disability residential homes who are 
using Health Call technology to detect 
early signs of deteriorating health. 

P
age 41



15. Mental 
Health 

Start Well; Implement I-Thrive 
model 

Live Well:  Increase the number of 
people with severe mental illness 
receiving annual physical health 
checks. 

Age Well; Through a system-wide 
Ageing Well Strategy, reduce social 
isolation to prevent mental ill health and 
future frailty 

16. Oral Health Plain drinking water in public sector 
and community venues is the main 
drink available. 

Provide a choice of sugar free 
foods –including vending 
machines 

Inclusion of oral health promotion and 
guidance into the healthy schools’ 
framework for education settings. 

17. Primary 
Care Networks 
(PCNs) 

Utilisation of Population Health 
Management in conjunction with 
Public Health and other relevant 
partners to inform PCN’s 
understanding of population health 
needs. 

Maximise use of Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme  

Primary Care Workforce plan including 
training and development of expanded 
multi-disciplinary team working.  

18. Urgent and 
Emergency 
Care 

Continue to support all aspects of 
County Durham and Darlington 
Local A&E Delivery Board in time of 
escalation including; leading on 
elements of the Emergency 
Department (ED) recovery plan, 
improvement plan, implementing 
the winter plans and providing the 
continuous improvement role in  
ED. Continue to provide Integrated 
Care Provider link role. 

Develop and implement a Day 
Time Durham Urgent Care Service 
/ GP extended access service to 
support the unprecedented 
demand in ED. In addition, provide 
a GP front of house model. 

Develop an Urgent & Emergency Care 
strategy for CDDFT linked to this 
OGIM. 

19. Digital Improve the transfers of care 
process using functionality such as 
Fast Healthcare Interoperability 
Resource (FHIR) and Emergency 
Referral System (ERS). 

Develop and expand electronic 
systems to support signposting for 
patients away from emergency 
departments 

Work with Acute Trusts and 
neighbouring CCGs to develop the 
Little Orange Book App to support 
families with young children to access 
the most appropriate health care at the 
right time.  

P
age 42



20. 
Personalised 
Care 

Patient Activation Measures (PAM) 
to be incorporated into outpatient 
setting for a minimum of 5 clinical 
specialities with staff trained in the 
administration of PAM. 

Develop and implement a 
proactive NHS@home pathway for 
hypertension/blood pressure 
@home, pulse oximetry @home, 
and heart failure @home, ensuring 
personalised care is embedded 
within the pathway. 

Develop a process for approval of 
Personal Health Budgets for children 
and young people who have an 
Education, Health and Care Plan. 

21. Population 
Health and 
Prevention 

Development of the County Durham 
Outcomes Framework–a system-
wide performance framework that is 
based upon the Triple Aim of 1) 
Health Outcomes 2) Patient 
Experience 3) Workforce, with a 
RADIR dashboard and associated 
analytical reporting. 

Integration of the Durham 
Wellbeing Model in all system 
planning and operational delivery. 

To develop and implement the 
Population Health Management (PHM) 
approach for all PCNs building on the 
learning from the Wave 2 National 
programme and the local PCN PHM 
support. 

22. Shorter 
waits 

Recovery up to the nationally set 
thresholds. 

Development of Elective Plus 
Initiative to tackle backlogs at a 
system wide level - starting with 
the specialities Trauma & 
Orthopaedics and Ophthalmology. 

Develop Health Inequalities Dashboard 
for the Patient Treatment List to inform 
targeting of any work. 

 

 

 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Recipient Name:

Recipient Organisation:

Data Sources:

Report Description:

Period:

Coverage:

Various - see RAIDR

Criteria:

Produced by:

Production Date:

Checked by:

Check Date:

Version number:

File Path:

Request ID: 2109281105

Disclaimer:

\\ntpcts60.nntha.loc\shared_info\CSUs\NECS\Information Services\Analysis\Projects\County 

Durham Outcomes Framework

No part of this report should be reproduced or shared in any form or by any means without 

reference to NECS Information Services.

No attempt should be made to un-pseudonymise or disaggregate any of the information 

contained within this report with the intention of identifying individuals.

Various - see individual charts

Various - see individual charts

Paul Leake

Principal Intelligence Analyst

paul.leake@nhs.net

0191 374 2702

27/09/21

Alison Barber

Senior Information Analyst

28/09/21

v1.0

This report provides commentary on performance of County Durham CCG and associated PCNs 

/ practices against the County Durham Outcomes Framework.  This should be read alongside the 

RAIDR CDOF dashboard.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Sources and Definitions

This report should be shared with NECS and the relevant CCG personnel only. In order to be 

compliant with CCG data sharing agreements, any values between 1 and 5 MUST be 

suppressed if shared outside of NECS or the CCG.

Jon Quine

North of England Commissioning Support (for County Durham CCG)

Various - see RAIDR

Information Governance:

Page 45

file:///C:/Users/Reports/Ad-Hoc/South/Durham QIPP Pipeline/CCG benchmarking Jun18/
file:///C:/Users/Reports/Ad-Hoc/South/Durham QIPP Pipeline/CCG benchmarking Jun18/
mailto:paul.leake@nhs.net


Official Sensitive: Commercial

Mental Health Indicators - Commentary

Suicide rate per 100,000 population
 Age-standardised mortality rate from suicide and injury of undetermined intent per 100,000 population

Suicide rates for County Durham during 2018/19 were among the lowest in the North East - however the relatively low number of 

suicides completed mean that for many smaller authorities rates are best looked at over a three year aggregated period.  For 2017-

19, County Durham is significantly above the England average for suicide rate, male suicide rate and potential years of life lost.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Mental Health

Page 46



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Oral Health Indicators - Commentary

Access to NHS dental services - successfully obtained a dental appointment

Average rate of DMFT (decayed, missing or filled teeth) in five year olds

County Durham is broadly in line with the regional average.  

Mean severity of tooth decay in children aged five years based on the mean number of teeth per child sampled which were either 

actively decayed or had been filled or extracted decayed/missing/filled teeth

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Oral Health

Page 47



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Children & Young People Indicators - Commentary

Emergency admissions for asthma per 100,000 population

County Durham has a lower proportion of children achieving a good level of development at the end of reception than the regional average.
Achievement increased from 2012/13  to 2015/16 before levelling out.

Percentage of reception children very overweight

The general trend over time is towards a higher proportion of reception children being obese of very obese.

Number of children in Reception (aged 4-5 years) classified as obese (including severely obese) in the National Child Measurement 

Programme (NCMP) attending participating state maintained schools in England as a proportion of all children measured.

County Durham has a slightly lower proportion of obese children than the regional average.  The highest rates of reception class 

obesity are found in the Tees Valley.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Children & Young People

Page 48



Official Sensitive: Commercial

CVD Indicators - Commentary

Number of CVD Deaths per 1000 people with CVD

County Durham had the highest rate of CVD deaths in the North East for both 2019/20 and 2020/21.
Deaths increased between 2019/20 and 2020/21 in 10 of 13 County Durham PCNs.

CVD in Younger People (<35) per 1,000 Under 35s

There is variation in prevalence for under 35s at practice level, with the former DDES area having the higher recorded prevalence rates.

County Durham has one of the lowest recorded prevalences of CVD in the North East & North Cumbria region.  Further work will be necessary to 

establish whether this is because of low underlying prevalence or less effective identification of patients with CVD.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Cardiovascular Disease

Page 49



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Learning Disabilities and Autism Indicators - Commentary

Acute admission rate for patients with comorbidity of LD and / or autism

In common with all other North East and North Cumbria CCGs 2021/22 YTD has seen an increase in admissions.

Rates of admission at higest  in the Durham East, Wear Valley and Chester le Street PCNs.  Rates have risen since 2019/20 for almost all PCNs.

Adults with a learning disability who live in stable and appropriate accommodation
Working-age learning disabled clients who are living in their own home as a percentage of working-age learning disabled clients (aged 18-64)

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Learning Disabilities and Autism

Page 50



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Sexual Health Indicators - Commentary

Chlamydia detection rate per 100,000 population aged 15 to 24

Under 18 conception rate per 1,000 women aged 15 to 17

County Durham under 18 conception rate is broadly equivalent to the regional average - the highest rates can be found in Teesside.

HIV Late Diagnosis - Percentage of adults (aged 15 years or more) diagnosed with a CD4 cell count less than 350 cells per mm3 among all newly diagnosed adults with CD4 cell count

County Durham has the lowest chlamydia detection rate in the region among the 15 to 24 age group.  Further work would be necessary to establish 

whether  this represents a genuinely low prevalence or a less effective detection rate.

County Durham's conception rate has declined signifiantly since 1998, reaching its lowest point in 2016, followed by a slight increase.  

It should be noted that Covid measures, particularly lockdown is expected to have impacted upon this measure during 2020 and 

2021.

County Durham has a lower rate of late diagnosis for HIV than average for the region.  It should be noted that there are relatively low 

numbers of new HIV diagnoses, particularly in smaller authorities like Hartlepool and Darlington which means results may not be 

statistically significant.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Sexual Health

Page 51



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Drug and Alcohol Indicators - Commentary

Alcohol Related Admissions per 100,000 population

County Durham has one of the lowest rates of alcohol related admission of any North East local authority - however its rate (758) is 

still significantly above the England average (664 per 100,000).

The Local Alcohol Profile for England reports that County Durham is also above average in alcohol related mortality, alcohol specific 

mortality and alcohol related admissions for under 18s.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Drug and Alcohol

Page 52



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Stroke Indicators - Commentary

Emergency hospital admissions for stroke compared to expected admissions

100 = expected admissions

All age deaths from stroke compared to expected deaths

100 = expected deaths

County Durham has a death rate from stroke in excess of the regional average.

Proportion of stroke patients who receive a six month follow-up

County Durham has one of the lower rates of stroke follow up in the North East.  Sunderland and South Tyneside figures dropped so 

significantly going into 2019/20 that this suggests that the low proportion may reflect data issues rather than underlying practice.

County Durham has improved its proportion of patients receiving a six month follow up during recent years. Numbers in the old 

North Durham CCG area are much lower than DDES, suggesting differences at provider / site level may be an issue.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Stroke

Page 53



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Cancer Indicators - Commentary

New cancer cases (Crude incidence rate: new cases per 100,000 population)

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Cancer

Crude incidence of cancer has generally increased over the past 10 years.  County Durham's incidence is below the regional average.  This should be read alongside the 

Page 54



Percentage of cancers diagnosed at stage 1 and 2 (%)

Proportion of suspected cancer referrals achieving 2ww standard

Most CCGs in the North East have broadly similar early detection rates, and as at 2018/19 neither County Durham CCGs were outliers within the region.  Improving this 

proportion should lead to better clinical outcomes and more appropriate treatment.

None of the NE CCGs has achieved the national target for 2ww referrals over the past year.  County Durham is average within the North East.  Performance for County Durham was 

already below target  prior to the spring 2020 Covid disruption but this (in common with other CCGs) dropped sharply.  County Durham is likely to need significant system change to 

consistently achieve target in future.

Page 55



Proportion of suspected cancer referrals meeting the new 28 Day Faster Diagnosis Standard

Proportion of patients able to self-manage their condition

Achievement of the 28 Day Faster Diagnosis Standard varies significantly by provider.  Of County Durham's main providers, CDDFT and NTHFT have achieved this target for all of M1-3 

2021/22

The (then) two County Durham CCGs had a lower than average proportion of patients reporting they were able to self manage their condition - an issue shared across 

the South ICP.

Page 56



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Respiratory Indicators - Commentary

Emergency admissions for asthma per 100,000 population

Asthma admissions have been on a general declining trend for County Durham over the past ten years. Based on SUS data and in common with the rest of England admissions for 

asthma dropped significantly during 2020/21 following the introduction of Covid-related lockdowns.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Respiratory

County Durham has a rate of asthma admission below that of the regional average.  Further examination may show provider level differences, with admission rates at 

CDDFT and NTHFT significantly lower than some peers.

Page 57



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Diabetes Indicators - Commentary

Emergency Admissions for Hypoglycaemia / Hyperglycaemia

Diabetic Amputations

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Diabetes

There is significant differences in admission rates between PCNs within the county.  Most of County Durham's PCNs are below the 

regional average, but all three Easington PCNs are above average.  These PCNs use different main providers so this is unlikely to 

represent differences in hospital admission methods.

Numbers of amputations are low at PCN level, with few PCNs with more than 10 amputations in a year - making it difficult to identify 

statistically significance at single PCN level - however it is worth noting that the majority of County Durham PCNs have a lower 

amputation rate than the regional average.  All three Easington PCNs have above average amputation rates.

Page 58



Recorded involvement of diabetes on death certificates

Reduction in diabetes prevalence

163 deaths in County Durham recorded diabetes as a cause of death in 2019.  Most County Durham PCNs fall within the worst 

quartile for rates of diabetes related deaths.  Further work should be carried out to assess potential factors which are outside the 

control of the PCN e.g. age, deprivation, prevalence and those that can be impacted upon by PCNs, e.g. disease management in 

primary care, community care and hospitals.

Recorded prevalence of diabetes has increased in all County Durham PCNs, with two PCNs with increases in recorded prevalence of 

10% or higher over two years. Easington District and North Easington are not shown as further work is required to account for 

practice mergers.

Page 59



Average Length of Stay for Diabetes Hospital Admissions

Durham PCNs have largely average lengths of stay compared to other PCNs in the region.  Teesdale PCN has a higher length of stay - 

in line with many rural PCNs in the region.

Page 60



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Maternity Indicators - Commentary

Rates of stillbirths per 1,000 births
Rate of stillbirths (foetal deaths occurring after 24 weeks of gestation) for all maternal ages occurring in the respective calendar years per 1,000 births

Smoking at time of delivery

County Durham has the second highest rate of mothers smoking at time of delivery, with only the Tees Valley higher.

Proportion of infants partly or wholly breastfed at 6-8 weeks

County Durham's rate for breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks is below the regional average.

% Staff Turnover Rate in Maternity Services

Sickness absence rates in maternity services

There is significant fluctuation from month to month in staff turnover.  As of May 2021 NTHFT was the only one of County Durham's 

main acute providers to have a staff turnover higher than 2%.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Maternity

Page 61



There is significant fluctuation in sickness absence from month to month.  As of April 2021 CDDFT was the only of County Durham's 

main providers to have a staff sickness rate of more than 5%.

Page 62



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Ageing Well Indicators - Commentary

Proportion of adult social care user aged 65+ years who have as much social contact as they would like

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Ageing Well

Page 63



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Dementia Indicators - Commentary

Recorded dementia prevalence (QOF)

Dementia prevalence rose significantly between 2010 an 2015 due to improved case finding and national priorities around diagnosis.
County Durham has a prevalence rate broadly in line with the regional average.

Rate of acute admissions for falls per 1,000 patients on dementia register

Acute admissions for falls of dementia patients have increased each year since 2019 for County Durham.  Rates for County Durham are marginally below the regional average.

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Dementia

Page 64



Official Sensitive: Commercial

Date of 

Change
Produced by Checked by

Version 

number

27/09/21 Paul Leake Alison Barber v1.0

Change

Original Production

NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit

Business Information Services Department

County Durham Outcome Framework Commentary Sep 2021
Version Control

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

The County Durham Commissioning 

and Delivery Plan 2020-2025 – 3rd 

edition, Autumn 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 67



1. Introduction 

This third edition of the County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-

2025 ("the plan") sets out the health and care commissioning and delivery intentions 

across the life course from Starting Well, through Living Well, to Ageing Well, for the 

people of County Durham. 

The plan is the health and care component of how the strategic aims within the 

County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy will be delivered up to 2025, 

which in turn supports the delivery of the County Durham Vision 2035 ambitions of 

 More and better jobs 

 People live long and independent lives 

 Connected Communities.  

The plan needs to be considered together with both strategic documents and 

therefore does not set out the case for change detailed within these. 

This is a whole-system plan that encompasses health and care commissioning 

intentions from NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group and Durham 

County Council, and the delivery aims of the County's health and care providers, be 

that statutory organisations (NHS Foundation Trusts), independent sector providers 

of health and care services (independent hospitals, nursing and care homes, 

supported living, day care, and domiciliary care providers), and the Voluntary and 

Community Sector. This County-wide approach to working collaboratively across 

health and care, commissioning and delivery, is formalised through the County 

Durham Care Partnership, and owned, governed and assured through the County 

Durham Care Partnership Executive.  

Whilst it is recognised that individual organisations within the partnership continue to 

require separate operational plans due to distinct local, regional, and national 

policies, politics, regulators, and stakeholders, these all impact on the same people 

and communities in County Durham. Through collaborative planning it is envisaged 

that opportunities to address the health and care needs, and tackle the health 

inequalities experienced by our communities, will be enhanced. 

This edition of the plan continues with the same format as before, highlighting cross 

cutting themes, whilst demonstrating an increasing maturity of integrated working 

between partners. 

 

2. Alignment with the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  

The County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) forms part of the 

delivery mechanism for the County Durham Vision, with the objectives contained 

under the vision ambition "People live long and independent lives" being the 

Page 68



responsibility of the Health and Wellbeing Board. This plan therefore forms the 

health and care component of meeting the aims within the JHWS, recognising that 

achieving the vision and JHWS aims is influenced by multiple factors, known as the 

wider determinants of health. Whilst most of the wider determinants of health are 

influenced by other strategic partnerships and strategies, including the Economic 

Partnership and the Environment and Climate Change Partnership, this plan sets out 

the health and care commissioning and delivery intentions to meet the following Joint 

Health and Wellbeing Strategic Objectives. 

 To improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within County Durham 
and between County Durham and England 

 We will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our residents not 
smoking and an ambition that pregnant women and mothers will not smoke  

 Over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children aged 10-11 
years are of a healthy weight  

 Improved mental health and wellbeing evidenced by increased self-reported 
wellbeing scores and reduced suicide rates 

 

3. Covid-19 Pandemic 

The impact of the pandemic has touched all our lives, our communities, and affected 

the delivery of our health and care services. Whilst sadly significant in terms of lives 

lost, families bereaved, and the emerging legacy of long-Covid and the direct/indirect 

consequences of lockdown, this period has seen health and care partners working 

collaboratively and dynamically across organisational and sectoral boundaries to 

meet the challenges bestowed by the pandemic. The plan reflects within each 

chapter how service provision has been impacted, and how we will recover through 

partnership working to become stronger, more resilient, and address the health 

inequalities that the pandemic has further exposed. Our health and care system 

continues to adapt to the changing nature of the pandemic, including responding at 

pace to changes in guidance and in restoring services, whilst keeping our 

communities safe.  

The pandemic has enhanced collaborative working across the health and care 

system, from data sharing between health and social care to identify those at risk of 

untoward consequences of lockdown, through the successful roll out of the 

vaccination programme, to how we will support those experiencing longer waits for 

planned care. It is through this time of adversity that the strength of our partnerships 

has been shown to be founded in a common understanding that we work best for our 

communities when we plan, deliver, and align our efforts together as a single health 

and care system. Whilst there remain more opportunities to further integrate our 

teams, services and organisations, significant progress over this period has 

demonstrated that willingness to continue to do so. 

 

Page 69



4. Health Inequalities, Population Health, and Health Behaviours 

Health inequalities within County Durham are known and documented within the 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, the summary of which is detailed within the 

JHWS. This plan sets out the steps required within each chapter to further our 

understanding of how these inequalities are experienced in our communities; be that 

in access to health and care, the experience of health and care, or in outcomes 

having been in receipt of health and care services. Increasingly our use of place-

based data enables this understanding to improve, and through approaches defined 

by Population Health we will continue to identify where our resources are best placed 

to reduce the inequalities experienced.  

Population Health is an approach that aims to improve physical and mental health 

outcomes, promote wellbeing, and reduce health inequalities across an entire 

population. It is founded upon 4 pillars. 

 The wider determinants of health are the most important driver of health. In 
addition to income and wealth, these determinants include education, 
housing, transport, and leisure. 

 Our health behaviours and lifestyles are the second most important driver 
of health. They include smoking, alcohol consumption, diet, and physical 
activity. 

 Places and communities play a vital role in our health. For example, our 
local environment is an important influence on our health behaviours, while 
there is strong evidence of the impact of social relationships and community 
networks, including on mental health. 

 Developing an integrated health and care system. This reflects the growing 
number of patients with multiple long-term conditions and the need to 
integrate health and care services around their needs rather than within 
organisational silos. 

Each chapter within the plan details how health inequalities are to be identified and 

addressed, and what health behaviours influence the outcomes experienced. 

Through separating health inequalities and health behaviours in this iteration of the 

plan there is a recognition of the importance that these play in achieving the aims of 

the JHWS.  

 

5. The County Durham Outcomes Framework 

To support the work of the County Durham Care Partnership Executive an outcomes 

framework has been developed, based upon the Triple Aim of 

 Improving the experience of health and care services 

 Improving the outcomes of health and care services 

 Ensuring a sustainable and resilient workforce 

Page 70



The framework marks a departure from traditional activity and organisational 

performance metrics, with each of the outcomes within the framework dependent 

upon whole system working. The framework continues to evolve as outcomes are 

identified that will support the work of the Executive, with a recognition that data 

does not currently exist for some of the outcomes. It will be for the Executive to 

agree which outcomes provide value in their decision making, and which do not. The 

framework provides bench-marking between County Durham and national indicators, 

and within the County between Primary Care Networks to identify health inequalities 

at a locality level.  

The framework has been developed within RADIR, with the Executive to receive a 6-

monthly analytical report that will highlight areas of both good and poor system 

performance.  

 

6. The Approach to Wellbeing, Engagement and Co-production 

In the second iteration of the plan each chapter detailed specific initiatives that were 

to align with the principles of the Approach to Wellbeing, however there is a 

recognition that this did not adequately reflect the model. The approach remains an 

important tool to ensure that the plan has people and places at its heart, recognises 

the importance of supporting systems, and uses an evidence based approach to 

what we know works. Through undertaking the self-assessment framework of the 

model, we know our plan requires further work in engaging our communities on its 

content, the identification of community assets and needs, and in continuing to 

identify those at greatest need.  

The plan is however a good reflection of how we are working better together through 

aligning our strategies, our planning, and our governance. The plan is also a positive 

reflection of using an evidence base across all chapters, not least as a result of 

extensive participation of senior clinical and operational leaders from across the 

health and care system in developing each of these chapters. 

The work on Population Health Management is one means by which the plan will 

progress on the principles of placing people and places at the heart of what we do. 

The plan will also be made available on the County Durham Care Partnership 

website in an accessible format, which will include the ability of interested third 

parties to engage with chapter leads on its content. The website will be promoted 

through working with Durham Community Action and other partners, to ensure that 

future iterations of the plan take into consideration those conversations that support 

co-production of how we plan and deliver our services with our communities.  

  

Page 71



7. Integration 

Whilst progress continues to be made on integration of the system though planning, 

delivery and governance, integration also refers to ensuring that silo working within 

chapters is minimised. For example, children and young people, and people with 

mental health and learning disability needs, also experience other health and care 

needs. Therefore, each chapter reflects how these communities' needs are 

considered, whilst also having specific chapters of their own.  

Each chapter also sets out how the integration agenda is being delivered on a 

subject specific basis, identifying opportunities where further integration of health 

and care can improve outcomes, experience and support our workforce.  

 

8. Personalised Care 

The Comprehensive Model of Personalised Care, as referenced within the NHS 

Long Term Plan, continues to be the framework within which the subject is 

considered within each chapter. The model establishes a whole-population approach 

to supporting people of all ages and their carers to manage physical and mental 

health and wellbeing, build community resilience, and make informed decisions and 

choices when their health changes. Using personalised care approaches provides a 

proactive and universal offer of support to people with long-term physical and mental 

health conditions to build knowledge, skills, and confidence and to live well with their 

health condition. The model brings together six, evidence-based components; 

 Shared decision making 

 Personalised care and support planning 

 Enabling choice, including legal rights to choice 

 Social prescribing and community-based support 

 Supported self-management 

 Personal health budgets and integrated personal budgets 

 
 

9. Next steps, future plans 

This third iteration of the plan is the second written during the pandemic and reflects 

the lessons learnt from our experience to date. Whilst the pandemic placed, and 

continues to place, significant strain on the delivery of health and care services, it 

also reflects that through working collaboratively between commissioners and 

providers our health and care system can and will recover. Moreover, the plan is 

ambitious in setting out our intent to continue to evolve our health and care system to 

meet future challenges, address health inequalities, and further develop our strong 

Page 72

https://www.england.nhs.uk/shared-decision-making/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patient-participation/patient-centred/planning/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patient-participation/health-decisions/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalised-health-and-care/social-prescribing/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patient-participation/self-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/personal-health-budgets/


and resilient workforce who are skilled in meeting the health and care needs of our 

communities.  

 

Plan Chapters (as PDF attachments) 

Starting well  

1. Maternity  

2. Children and Young People  

 

Living Well  

3. Cancer  

4. Cardiovascular Disease  

5. Diabetes  

6. Drugs and Alcohol  

7. Respiratory    

8. Sexual Health   

9. Stroke  

 

Aging Well  

10. Dementia  

11. Ageing Well  

12. Palliative Care  

 

Whole life course  

13. Carers  

14. Learning Disability and Autism  

15. Mental Health   

16. Oral Health  

17. Primary Care Networks  

18. Urgent and Emergency Care  

 

Enablers  

19. Digital  

20. Personalised Care  

21. Population Health and Prevention  

22. Shorter waits 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Maternity OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Why change is needed 

• Better Births (2016), report of the national maternity review found that despite the increase in the number of births and the increasing complexity of 
cases, the quality and outcomes of maternity services have improved significantly over the last decade.  However, the quality of clinical and 
emotional outcomes for pregnant people and their families in the UK continues to lag behind those seen in many other developed countries.  
 Stillbirths and / or neonatal deaths are less common than previously, but the need for further improvements to the quality of maternity care 

has been highlighted by studies showing that: 
 Deficiencies in care are present in at least half of term, singleton normally formed antepartum stillbirths.  
 76% of babies experiencing major adverse outcomes during labour at term might have had a different outcome with higher quality care 
 There is clear evidence of unwarranted variation in stillbirth rates across the country even when controlling for deprivation and other 

confounding factors 
 While perinatal and maternal mortality rates appear to have fallen over the last decade, the rates of improvement have ‘stalled’ over the last 

2-3 years 
• The population has significant widening health inequalities which have been highlighted in the Due North Health Inequality report (Whitehead, 

2014)).  Disadvantaged groups are disproportionately affected by health inequalities, with economically deprived and socially vulnerable groups 
being at higher risk. 7% of parents to be booking in pregnancy are recorded as having complex social circumstances, for example, the North East 
has a higher-than-average teenage pregnancy rate and has the highest rates of smoking in pregnancy (16.1% opposed to 10.7% in England) (PHE, 
2018). Pregnancy provides an excellent opportunity to support parents and their families to make and sustain better health choices which will 
positively impact on pregnancy outcome, and the current and future health of the parent. Currently in County Durham we have a disproportionate 
number of unborns and babies under 1 year of age who are subject to statutory services and who require a Child Protection Plan (CPP) and a 
disproportionate number of such children then becoming children looked after. 

• Breastfeeding is a major contributor to public health. It has an important role in the prevention of illness and reducing health inequalities. If sustained 
for the first six months of life, breastfeeding can make a major contribution to an infant’s health, wellbeing and development and is also associated 
with better health outcomes for the parent.  Improving breastfeeding rates forms part of key national drivers in child health and is highlighted in 
numerous government policy documents, supported by the evidence (UNICEF, 2018). Across the region 59% of women initiate breastfeeding 
following delivery compared to 74.5% in other parts of England. Breastfeeding rates reduce quickly up to 6 weeks post-delivery. Supporting women 
to Breastfeed for longer will have a positive impact on health and well-being across County Durham and Darlington.  

• The 2020 Donna Ockenden published her first report of the independent review into maternity services at the Shrewsbury and Telford Hospital NHS 
Trust which carried a number of "must do" actions for all Trusts around patient safety 
 

Objectives 

By end of 2021 

• Put in place the building blocks by March 2022 so that continuity of carer is the default model of care offered to all parents by March 2023, We will 
ensure parents are provided a choice of place of birth including a midwifery led unit / pathway. 

• We will implement the Ockenden (part 1) recommendations in full 
• We will work as a system to identify early interventions to support the public health agenda in the maternity pathway e.g. stopping smoking   
• We will build on the existing maternity voices partnership and other engagement avenues to drive a co - produced service.  
• We will continue to work to reduce health inequalities through supporting safe maternity care and the prevention work wrapped around this e.g. 

mapping under ones pathway 
• We will work as a system to identify vulnerable unborn babies and babies under 1 year at the earliest opportunity and provide the best possible 

coordinated help and support to parents to care for their babies safely. Where they are unable to a timely and robust safeguarding response is in place. 

By 2025 

• Continue to support Trusts to reduce still birth, neonatal and maternal death by 50% ensuring all elements of Saving Babies Lives Care Bundle version 
2 are in place. 

• We will continue to address new health inequalities and transformation challenges as the present to maximise the service for our local families.  
 

Page 75



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Goals 
 

Implementing the Better Births Vision, especially for vulnerable groups of parents in our region, will improve pregnancy outcomes.  Providers and 
commissioners operating as Local Maternity Systems, with the aim of ensuring that parents, babies, and families are able to access the services they 
need as close to home as possible, provides the opportunity to bridge the widening health inequality gap.   
 
The quality of care and clinical/emotional outcomes for parents and their families in County Durham and Darlington will be at least equivalent to, or even 
better than, those seen in the rest of the UK. The maternity service will collaborate with parents and their families to continuously improve maternity 
services by supporting and further developing the voice of parents via the Maternity Voices Partnership (MVP). 

The maternity service will deliver a robust governance framework including working closely with the clinical networks to allow for shared learning following 
serious incidents, working closely with HSIB, and striving to improve clinical outcomes from acute and community care. Key performance indicators will be 
met in all areas including screening and child health to ensure quality assurance. The maternity service will support, develop, and empower a workforce; 
that is in readiness for a safe, quality, objective and proactive service of the future.  

As the provider and commissioners of the maternity service we will work collaboratively to deliver the maternity transformation programme including 
striving to book the majority of parents onto a Continuity of Carer pathway which will allow parents and their families to establish a trusting relationship 
with their healthcare professional who will have effective oversight of their care. This will improve safety, clinical outcomes as well as better experience of 
their pregnancy journey. In addition to the drive for continuity of carer the organisation will meet the majority of the digital challenges by procuring and 
empowering staff and users to utilise an electronic end to end patient record.  

Better Births recognise that care in the postnatal period is equally important as during pregnancy and birth and we improve this service to ensure a 
personalised plan for parents which transfers smoothly between other disciplines. It is important to ensure that the return to physical health is supported 
appropriately and that clear pathways for referral are in place if follow up is required. By 2024 postnatal physiotherapy will be offered to all parents if 
physical complications because of birth are experienced within County Durham and Darlington. 

• The maternity system has pledged to improve the health, wellbeing and safety of the population by setting the following public health ambitions for 
parents and their babies of County Durham.  

• Reduce tobacco dependency in pregnancy. 
• Increase vaccination uptake in pregnancy. 
• Improve perinatal mental health; including mental health assessment, recognition of antenatal anxieties, fulminating deterioration and acute events 

and in collaboration with the region present pathways to support all levels of mental health needs. 
• Reduce alcohol consumption in pregnancy. 
• Increase breastfeeding at initiation and at 6-8 weeks, have an accredited Infant feeding strategy (Baby Friendly Initiative).  
• Improve management of obesity and promote healthy weight in pregnancy. 
• Increase in Making Every Contact Count. 

COVID - 19 

• The five nationally mandated Healthy Child Programme contacts for Health Visiting have been consistently delivered throughout Covid and 
continue to be delivered, with the use of virtual contact where risk assessment indicates this is appropriate. From 1st June 2021, the 0-25 Family 
Health Service team commenced the local plan to return to Business As Usual (BAU) from 1st September 2021 

• In relation to Maternity all services have moved back to pre-COVID status, other than visiting – which is permitted on the basis of a negative Covid 
result. The same applies with partner attendance at scans.  

• The only other minor disruption is parentcraft classes, which remain online due to social distancing requirements. This will be reviewed summer 
2021 

• Local maternity service is supporting covid vaccination programme to pregnant people, alongside existing flu , during antenatal visits  

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Rate of stillbirth reduced % Recommending based on friends and family test 
feedback increased 

Satisfaction scores from maternity services up 

Rate of unplanned neonatal admissions reduced 

 

% of people delivering in preferred place up Staff turnover rate in maternity services down 

% of people smoking at point of delivery reduced 

Breastfeeding rates at 6-8 weeks post-
partum increased 

 

% of people with same midwife throughout 
pregnancy, delivery and post-natal care up 

Sickness absence rates in maternity services down 

 

Page 76



 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Implement an enhanced and targeted continuity of carer model, ensuring that by 2024, 75% of 
pregnant people from County Durham will receive continuity of care.  

      

Increase breastfeeding rates to achieve greater or equivalent to rest of England by 2025.       

Implement the five elements of the Saving Babies’ Lives care bundle.       

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Less than 5% of pregnant people smoking by 2025 - Make new NHS smoke free pregnancy 
pathways available for up to 40% of maternal smokers by March 2022. 

      

Less than 5% of pregnant people drinking alcohol by 2025.       
100% of pregnant people with a BMI 30 or greater are supported by using NICE guidance 
recommendations by 2025. 

      

3. Personalised Care  
Put in place the building blocks by March 2022 so that continuity of carer is the default model of care 
offered to all people by March 2024 

      

Ensure every person is offered a Personalised Care and Support Plan, underpinned by a risk 
assessment and in line with national guidance, by March 2022. 

      

Embed the offer to all pregnant people with type 1 diabetes of continuous glucose monitoring fully 
during 2021/22. 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Continued implementation of the NENC ICS maternal mental health service fast follower service pilot 
in South Tyneside and Sunderland - Support to localities / ICPs to develop their MMHS services to 
start from 2022/23. 

      

66,000 people across the UK with moderate to severe perinatal mental health difficulties will have 
access to specialist community care from preconception up to 2 years after birth. 

      

5. Children  
As a system scope out the pre-birth and under ones pathway of care and make recommendations for 
improvement including early help making recommendations back to Best Start in Life and the 
Strategic Delivery Group for Vulnerable Pre-Birth and under 1-year olds in County Durham. 

      

6. Digital  
All pregnant people can access their electronic maternity personal health record by 2024.       
Maternity, Neonatal and Perinatal mental health workforce can access the information that they need 
to provide safe and high-quality care through the Health Information Exchange of the Great North 
Care Record by 2024. 

      

7. Finance  
Work as part of the ICP to look at where training can be shared across the system and areas where 
staff can be upskilled closer to the patient especially around core competency framework 
implementation as per Ockenden. 

      

Work with LMS to access any central funding in a targeted manner.        

8. Integration  
Continue to work across the system on the prevention agenda looking at where organisations can 
work together to deliver the same messages with regards breastfeeding, obesity and smoking at time 
of delivery and where we can benefit from working together on an improvement project. 

      

9. Cultural Change  
All maternity units to be accredited at UNICEF level 3 by 2025.       

Implement in full the recommendation of the Ockenden report (part 1).       

 

Initiatives 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Objectives 

• To embed an integrated, child and family centred approach to the delivery of high-quality services which delivers optimal outcomes, reduces health 
inequalities and is responsive and reflective to changes. 

 

Children & Young People OGIM - 2021 

Goals 

Best Start in Life 

• Ensure that every child has the best start in life: 
 Increasing Breastfeeding Rates and deliver targeted community approaches to increase both breast feeding initiation and continuation to 

reduce the gap between County Durham and England breast feeding rates and reduce inequality 
 For our youngest children to have a significant and sustained reduction of A&E attendances and hospital admissions caused by 

unintentional Injuries by embedding the unintentional injuries framework for County Durham  
• Improving Speech and Language and Communication through the provision of evidence based assessment (Early Language Identification Measure), 

early intervention and therapies and the development of integrated pathways  
• To embed the “Think Family approach” into all relevant assessment processes for children and families and apply professional curiosity that 

considers life through the eyes and voice of the child as well as taking a trauma informed approach to the impact of adverse childhood experiences. 

Prevention and Early Intervention 

• All Children and Young People, regardless of their need or vulnerability, will be able to access high quality, age appropriate, support, advice and 
care that meets their physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing needs (right practitioner, right place, right time).  

• To provide innovative access to support and deliver services through the enhancement of a digital offer to reflect learning from new approaches 
during Covid. 

• To actively reduce inequality of access to health services impacted by wider social determinants  
• Ensure Children, Young People and vulnerable adults are safeguarded and protected from harm 
• Ensure Children and Young People, their families and their carers are engaged in the development and co-production of services. 

Transitions through Education and to Adulthood 

• Children and Young People will be supported throughout their transition process into adulthood 
• Pathways will support young people to have a planned, informed, coordinated and safe transition into adult services 

Why change is needed 

We recognise that variations in health and wellbeing outcomes can be significantly impacted by the cross-cutting nature of vulnerability and the conditions and 
family circumstances into which children are born, grow, learn and develop. 

Best Start in Life 

• We need to ensure that children have the best start in life and prevent ill health wherever possible, reducing health inequalities by prioritising protective 
factors and providing the appropriate level of help and support as early as possible.   
 

Prevention and Early Help 

• The current healthcare system for children and young people can often feel disjointed.  
• The CYP Workforce across the wider system needs to review training and development approaches to be intelligence led, remove organisational 

barriers, avoid duplication, and provide efficient and sustainable integrated multi-disciplinary approaches. 
• To embed a trauma informed” Think Family” approach to ensure services consider the impact of adverse childhood experiences on the health and 

wellbeing outcomes of CYP. 
• Reduce levels of risk and build on protective factors using a strength-based approach to mental health and emotional wellbeing in County Durham.  

 

Integration 

• To provide a sustainable integrated approach to service support and delivery which involves communities, voluntary organisations and the wider health 
and care system which will support Children and Young people and families from birth and as they move into adulthood.  
 

Transitions through Education and to Adulthood 

• Children and Young people and their families have outlined that they need better transition planning at all transition points with more integrated 
pathways and approaches to their care that prioritises continuity. 

Page 79



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COVID – 19 

• In the short-term services have made changes to delivery where required to use appropriate virtual technology to deliver services safely. 
• Face to face visits maintained where clinically indicated and to safeguard CYP 
• Services have interpreted national and local guidance to deliver services in a safe and appropriate manner 
• In accordance with the above point this has involved the use of RAG ratings on individual cases where appropriate in some services. 
• Closer working across organisational boundaries, such as mental health and social care 
• The relaxation of the data sharing GDPR regulations allowed for considerably improved co-ordination and system-wide working so that services 

could support each other. 
 

• In the Medium-Term services will seek to apply face to face meetings where it is safe and appropriate to do so with National Guidance.  It is 
recognised that not all services need to be delivered in that way and accordingly service reviews will seek to apply the most appropriate delivery 
methods on a service-by-service basis. 

• Service reviews (including the use of Covid High Impact Assessments) will seek to ensure that any changes to service delivery will deliver equity of 
access to all children and their families, and to ensure any moves towards a more virtual approach do not lead to a lack of provision for those children 
and families who do not have access to the requisite technology or for whom such an approach is not appropriate. 

• Services will work in an integrated and joined up way and for those services who are able to provide face to face delivery a “Make Every Contact 
Count “approach will ensure that appropriate sharing of information with other services is undertaken. 

• All services will continue to work in an integrated way as potential Covid related disruption to services (local lockdown or school closures) occurs. 

• The long-term plan will be to have full-service provision, as per pre Covid-19, but elements may be delivered differently when the learnings from the 
short and medium term have taken place.  It is recognised, for example, that as a result of services having more limited access to children in the last 
year issues around safeguarding have arisen, 

• Services will deliver a co-produced approach to as well as ensuring equity of access through robust service reviews and data analysis.  In this way we 
will deliver services that are child and family centred. 

 

 
 
 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

1. Best Start in Life 

Reduction in the number of children who are very 
overweight through the delivery of a system wide 
approach focusing on achieving a Healthy weight for 
Children and Young People by Reception 

1. Best Start in Life 

Reduction in the number of very young children 
coming into the care of the Local Authority. 

1. Best Start in Life 

Training all relevant multi-agency staff in the 
delivery of Trauma informed care 

2.  Prevention and Early Intervention 

Children who have speech language and 
communication needs are identified at the earliest 
opportunity and supported appropriately to promote 
school readiness and a good level of development 
(GLD) as they enter Key Stage 1 and beyond. 

2. Prevention and Early Intervention Empowering 
and increasing confidence and resilience for 
parents and carers to support their children’s 
health and wellbeing including managing 
childhood illnesses and mental health and 
emotional wellbeing needs 

2. Prevention and Early Intervention 

Upskilling all staff and Skills Matrix in the Making 
Every Contact Count Agenda 

3. Transition to Adulthood 

Children with vulnerabilities including children 
who are looked after, care leavers and those 
children with special educational needs have 
continuity of care that meets their needs. 

 

3. Transition to Adulthood 
Transition pathways are co-produced and co-
designed with young people in accordance with 
their needs. 

 

3. Integration 

To illustrate a consistent and measurable 
improvement in self- evaluated monitoring of 
integration withing the Commissioning team. 

 

Page 80



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Initiatives   

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Reduce unwarranted variation in the uptake of the Childhood Immunisation 
Programme 

      

Review and redesign CYP pathways to consider a whole system approach to meet 
the CYP needs. 

      

Ensure shared decision making that involves CYP in the design and development of 
services that recognise the different needs of geographical communities  

      

Communication and engagement strategies are established that reflect the needs of 
CYP including those up to the age of 25 years old in line with the NHS plan 

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
All organisations to prioritise reducing tobacco dependency in pregnancy. Trusts to 
include as a clinical priority and all organisations to change the narrative to a one of 
addiction. 

      

Changing the social norm of breastfeeding by implementing the call to action. 
Including County Durham to become BF friendly. 

      

Increase breast feeding rates (up to 64.8%) in mothers initiating breast feeding & 
sustaining at 6-8 week by 2020/21 

      

Deliver a whole system unintentional injuries strategy to reduce accidents in the 
home and to see a significant and sustained reduction in the hospital admission rate 
for injuries in children 0-14  

      

Implement the whole system approach to obesity as laid out in the County Durham 
healthy weight framework 

      

3. Personalised Care  
Working with families and young people to deliver appropriate and timely person 
centred approaches to meet individual needs and considers a think family and 
trauma informed approach  

      

Ensure young people have choice, control and freedom over their lives and their 
voice is heard and reflected in their education health care plan where appropriate 
(SEND)  

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Review the Education Health and Care opportunities for children and their families 
on the autistic spectrum and implement recommendations to improve outcomes   

      

Develop a transition pathway for young people with mental health issues including 
CYP with complex issues including autism and learning difficulties. 

     PP 

Increase resilience of young people by promoting protective factors for MHEWB as 
reflected in the CYP local transformation plan and mental health OGIM 

      

5. Children  
That Children and Young Peoples Voice / through the eyes of the child is included in 
all service KPIs  

      

There are sufficient support and accommodation options to ensure that the 
placement of all children looked after are the most appropriate available to meet the 
child’s needs  

      

6. Digital  
Review service provision to provide a menu of digital options to access services that 
meets the needs of CYP (consider learning from Covid business continuity) 

      

Ensure high quality data and intelligence is shared across Education, Health and 
Care to inform and improve services with joint KPIs where appropriate   

      

7. Finance  
Work as part of the integrated care partnership to scope shared resources to 
improve quality, efficiencies and better outcomes for CYP 

      

8. Integration  
Identify opportunities to further strengthen and integrate children’s therapies 
services across the County and implement those opportunities 

      

Review children's equipment processes to improve current pathways and review the 
potential of joint commissioning/pooled budgets for children’s equipment 

      

Develop and implement the early help and think family place-based approach to 
better connect community and public resources. 

      

Embed and maintain a joint commissioning cycle that improves access to integrated 
support in Education, Health and Care (SEND) 

      

Scoping exercise to be carried out to clarify cohorts, review transitions arrangements 
and build a multi-agency offer (Transitions)  

      

9. Cultural Change  
Improve engagement with children and young people, parents and carers to inform 
policy and service quality of all services including SEND. 

      

All services encouraged to empower communities to improve their own health and 
wellbeing through the application of the County Durham approach to wellbeing 
principles 

      

 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 Cancer OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Early Diagnosis: The proportion (%) of cancers 
diagnosed at Stage I and II. 

Proportion of patients giving a high score to 
patient involvement question in the Five for Five 
(or CPES). 

Vacancy rates in radiology, oncology and CNS. 

Rapid Diagnosis: the proportion (%) of 
suspected cancer referrals meeting the new 28 
Day Faster Diagnosis Standard. 

Proportion of suspected cancer referrals 
achieving the 2ww standard. 

Staff satisfaction scores in the Five for Five 
Survey. 

The rates of cancer incidence across the Durham 
population. 

Proportion of patients able to self-manage their 
condition. 

 

 

 

Objectives 

• By 2028, the proportion of cancers diagnosed at stages I and II will rise from around half now to three-quarters of cancer patients – early diagnosis improves patient 
outcomes, survivorship, and quality of life. 

• By 2024 all main tumour group treatment pathways will adhere to the Rapid Diagnostic Centre (RDC) model by meeting the seven principles of RDC, including adopting 
Personalised Care and other quality measures. 

• By 2024, stratified follow-up (SFU) will be in place for all clinically appropriate cancers, empowering patients to live well and manage ongoing surveillance post-treatment. 
 

Why change is needed 

Despite significant progress in cancer survivorship over recent decades, detecting cancer earlier remains a top priority in the NHS Long Term Plan. Patients diagnosed 
early, at stages I and II, have the best chance of curative treatment and long-term survival. In County Durham, existing health inequalities result in poorer outcomes for 
cancer patients when compared to the England average, and also when comparing communities within the county. Health inequalities also impede access to screening and 
prevention services. Performance within treatment pathways and in quality measures varies geographically and by tumour group and is impacted by staffing capacity 
pressures in key clinical areas such as specialist nursing, oncology, and radiology. 

Goals 
 

• Increase uptake across Primary Care of the new Serious Non-Specific Symptoms (SNSS) pathway, which was launched in Autumn 2020, and is the first phase of a 
four-year transformation programme to embed Rapid Diagnostic Centre (RDC) principles in all main tumour groups. 

• Progress RDC across all main tumour groups, embedding the seven principles of RDC to improve patient outcomes and quality of care. 
• Commence a lung case finding pilot to proactively detect lung cancers earlier in at-risk communities and reduce late/emergency presentations which are prolific in this 

complex tumour group. 
• Raise greater awareness of symptoms of cancer to increase referral rates via primary care and diagnose cancer earlier, with focused efforts in the most vulnerable and 

at-risk communities and targeted, tumour specific messages such as three-week cough for lung cancer. 
• Maximise the number of cancers that are identified through screening, with focused action to increase uptake in deprived, hard-to-reach and at-risk communities. 
• Collaborate with key partners to maximise cancer prevention activities such as smoking cessation, healthy lifestyle promotion and reduce alcohol harm. 
• Closer working with all partners and patients, carers, and families to support delivery of quality cancer care and aim to increase cancer survival levels to match or 

exceed that of England average. 
• Collaborate with Primary Care Networks and strengthen existing links with Public Health partners to reduce health inequalities, improve diagnosis and treatment 

outcomes and deliver the best possible patient experience. 
• Where appropriate, ensure every person diagnosed with cancer will have access to Personalised Care, including needs assessment, a care plan and health and 

wellbeing information and support. 
• Embed and develop the new Faster Diagnosis Standard for cancer so that patients receive a definitive diagnosis or ruling out of cancer within 28 days 
• Focus on quality of life, not just length of life. 
• Continue to pilot innovation such as colon capsule endoscopy, use of the cytosponge tests and contribute to regional transformational programmes such as 

Community Diagnostic Hubs. 
 

COVID - 19 

Although cancer patients have been prioritised where possible throughout the pandemic, and services have continued to operate, the impact of Covid-19 on screening, 
diagnosis and treatment pathways is significant. Far fewer patients have presented to their GP with symptoms, resulting in fewer suspected cancer referrals and the 
opportunity to diagnose cancers earlier. Some tumour groups have recovered quicker than others, with lung, urology and head & neck cancers particularly affected 
regionally and locally. Nationally, some 50,000 cancers are estimated to be undiagnosed. The subsequent impact on stage shift and treatment outcomes is yet to be 
determined, but likely to be significant. Social distancing measures and staffing pressures reduced capacity in clinic/theatre at the height of the pandemic, creating 
backlogs and delays particularly in endoscopy and diagnostic imaging. Despite the challenges faced, there is progress to commend.  
 
During 2020/21, clinical and operational teams in Durham implemented a new SNSS pathway, collaborated with neighbouring trusts on surgical hubs, delivered virtual 
appointments and rolled out a new postal FIT (faecal immunochemical test) service and triage process for symptomatic patients. Public awareness campaigns have 
begun to facilitate the restoral of referrals. Colon capsule endoscopy is being trialled by CDDFT clinicians. From 2021/22, this progress will be built upon by the initiates 
set out below and a sustained focus on tackling health inequalities and supporting the most vulnerable at-risk communities to access cancer services as early as 
possible.  

Page 83



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Develop and implement a lung case finding pilot, starting with the most at-risk cohorts in high 
deprivation/smoking/COPD communities, to identify lung cancer earlier (contributes to RDC). 

      

Continue to develop practice Cancer Champions and other key workers, further training around signs and 
symptoms & local campaigns targeting the most vulnerable at-risk communities including BAME and GRT. 

      

Monitor impact of FIT (faecal immunochemical test) and roll out local joint commissioning.       
Complete audits previously started to explore survivorship, emergency presentations and more.       
Utilise Care Navigator resource to support patients through the complexities of medical appointments and ensure 
target timescales are met across the pathway, including transfers of care between providers. 

      

Restore referral rates via 2WW/Primary Care to pre-pandemic levels, with focused action on hard-to-reach 
communities. 

      

Restore 62-day treatment target achievement to pre-pandemic levels.       
Contribute to regional transformation: Breast Service Managed Clinical Network; Oncology Review etc.       

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Target prevention, awareness and screening activities in most deprived communities and adapt to specific needs 
of those communities and vulnerable groups e.g. offenders, care leavers, drug/alcohol users, BAME, GRT, 
people with LD and MH conditions etc. Includes roll out of extended age groups in bowel screening. 

      

Ensure robust links with secondary care prevention and pre-habilitation.       
Fund and implement services and initiatives around the modifiable risk factors of cancer including tobacco 
control, healthy weight, alcohol harm and sexual health. 

      

Collaborate with PCNs, Cancer Champions, Cancer Awareness Workers, CRUK Facilitators, Social Prescribers 
and other colleagues to increase cancer screening uptake with a focus on vulnerable at-risk communities. 

      

Finalise Lynch Testing pathway to identify at-risk family members and implement surveillance.       
3. Personalised Care  
Embed End of Treatment Summaries key tumour groups and share content with patients and other care 
providers (initially breast and colorectal with all others to follow). 

      

Increase access to information and support for people affected by cancer across all settings.       
Completion of Cancer Care Reviews within 6 months of diagnosis.       
Continually improve patient/family/carer experience by acting upon feedback from surveys and continue to 
engage service users in service re-design and improvement across whole pathway including primary care. 

      

Implementation of co-ordinated personalised stratified follow up (PSFU) pathways in three additional cancer 
types (at least one by March 2022), in addition to breast, prostate and colorectal cancer and continue to support 
practices and secondary care to ensure patients post-treatment are safety-netted and supported to self-manage 
where appropriate. 

      

Work with relevant charities, voluntary and community sector organisations to establish support groups in areas 
or around cancer types where there are currently gaps. 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Train IAPT services and ensure pathways are developed to ensure people with cancer have access to 
knowledgeable and empathetic mental health services. 

      

Target prevention, awareness and screening activities in most deprived communities and adapt to specific needs 
of those communities and vulnerable groups e.g. people with learning disabilities. 

      

Ensure all awareness campaign literature and other patient-facing letters/materials are available in easy-read 
format and engage with LD networks when designing new pathways as appropriate. 

      

5. Children  
Continue to provide specialist cancer care for teenagers and young adults aged 16 to 24 years and children aged 
0-15 (paediatric oncology), to improve cancer treatment outcomes, reduce morbidity arising from treatment and 
support the patient and family throughout their cancer journey and beyond (including transition from paediatric to 
adults services). NB these services are commissioned by NHS Specialist Commissioning. HPV vaccine uptake in 
children will be covered in screening planning.  

      

6. Digital  
Quality requirement within Practice funding schemes to use approved Cancer Care Review templates and 
introduction of treatment summaries to inform the Cancer Care Review. 

      

Develop the use of digital technology and remote monitoring solutions to enhance patient experience, including 
roll out of My Wellbeing Space app. 

      

7. Finance  
Northern Cancer Alliance (NCA) have announced an indicative 4-year budget for transformational initiatives, and 
this will be begin to be allocated from April 2020. 

      

Collaborate with partner organisations from Sunderland and South Tyneside to deliver shared objectives as an 
ICP Cancer Working Group and co-ordinate funding bids allocated to the Central ICP. 

      

Ensure long-term sustainability of programmes funded under transformational monies.       
8. Integration  
Continue to develop Joining the Dots, delivering Holistic Needs Assessments, Support Plans and Follow-up 
support and develop a new Macmillan Primary Care Nursing Service that is fully integrated into the wider cancer 
health and social care system. 

      

Further develop partnership working with PCNs, Public Health, Macmillan and CRUK to support schemes aimed 
at earlier diagnosis, quality of referrals and improved patient experience – such as QOF, PCN DES. 

      

Develop further integration of wider cancer health and care system via Right By You funding from Macmillan, 
ensuring that patient experience and outcomes are paramount. 

      

9. Cultural Change  
Ensure that prevention, patient experience and addressing health inequalities are prioritised in the cancer 
strategy, not just the constitutional diagnosis and treatment targets. 

      

Work collaboratively with neighbouring cancer localities (commissioners, providers, and public health) in new 
ways and across all boundaries to address universal challenges such as capacity and workforce. 

      

 

Initiatives 

Page 84



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cardiovascular Disease – OGIM - 2021 
Why change is needed 

• Prevention, early detection, and treatment of CVD can help patients live longer, healthier lives. Too many people are still living with undetected, high-risk conditions such 
as high blood pressure, raised cholesterol, and atrial fibrillation (AF). We must utilise all opportunities to work with partners to ensure that people are able to access 
services that will allow them to prevent and detect health conditions, and upon diagnosis ensure that conditions are managed and optimised effectively. In primary care 
networks we will support all clinical staff including pharmacists to case find and manage people with the 3 key high-risk conditions described above (AF, Inadequately 
Controlled Hypertension, and Inadequately Controlled Lipids). In tackling the CVD agenda, there is an ambition to prevent 150,000 heart attacks and strokes.   

• Behavioural risk factors such as poor diet, smoking and low physical activity, along with high blood pressure, high body mass index and high cholesterol are the main risk 
factors for cardiovascular disease. A large proportion of premature deaths in County Durham from CVD are preventable. An awareness raising of the impact public health 
interventions can have on CVD is important; whilst people are living longer, they are not necessarily living well and living with CVD contributes to this. 

Objectives 

• Atrial Fibrillation (AF) 
 30% reduction in No. of patients who have not been anticoagulated (where indicated).  
 80% reduction in No. of patients who have not been risk assessed. 
 50% reduction in No. of patients who are inadequately anti-coagulated when required. 

• Hypertension 
 Increase in the number of patients detected with hypertension and to increase the number treated to bring blood pressure within recommended parameters. 

• Inadequately Controlled Lipids 
 Improve the proportion of people who are likely to benefit from lipid modification who have been offered lipid modification. 

Goals 

• Continue to work closely with Public Health Partners on the CVD prevention agenda (smoking, obesity and healthy living) and implementation of effective and equitable 
NHS Health Checks. 

• Continue to work with partners to detect and medically optimise patients with AF to prevent stroke. 
• Continue to work with partners to detect and medically optimise patients with hypertension to prevent CVD events. 
• Continue to work with partners to detect and manage Inadequately Controlled Lipids, and to undertake cascade testing of family members to identify and medically 

optimise those with Familial Hypercholesterolemia. 
• Improved systems to identify and manage patients with Heart Failure (access to echocardiograph / rehabilitation services). 

 

COVID - 19 

Short Term 
The pandemic has meant that projects have been paused and anticipated end points have now been extended. Projects that were due to yield results in 20/21 will now likely 
only see results in 21/22 at the earliest. It is hopeful that projects that required data cleansing as their primary goal may still be achieved in year, but this will be dependent on 
whether or not there is a second wave, and its impact, therefore could be subject to change. The negative impact on cardiovascular health as a side effect of lockdown, and the 
substantially worse prognosis of a person that contracts COVID-19 that has CVD as a comorbidity, puts greater importance on the need for these lists to be cleansed and 
correct to enable targeted intervention. People remain concerned about utilisation of NHS resources and work will be required with people to ensure they know it is safe to go to 
the doctors for preventative purposes (engagement with VCSE could help here). People who may have had CVD episode during COVID may have been concerned about 
seeking treatment and therefore there may be additional morbidity.   

Medium Term 
As described above the plan for the medium term is to complete projects that were put on hold during the initial grip of the pandemic and aim to get back on track. To 
accommodate this, dates for completion for several projects have been put back to 2021/22 for completion. 

Long Term 

The long-term goal for recovery is to get back on track to achieve the goals of the NHS Long Term Plan. This is outlined within the cardiovascular disease section of the 
document. The projects outlined in the Gantt Chart are specifically designed to meet these aims and objectives and is anticipated they can be achieved in the long term.  

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

1. Reduction in the number of AF related stroke 
admissions. 

1. Number of patients referred to cardiac rehabilitation. 1. Number of primary care pharmacists (per 100 000 
population).  

2. Increase in the number of patients treated to have 
BP within safe parameters therefore reducing 
admission for CVD conditions. 

2. Waiting time for Cardiology.   2. Increased self-management activity (e.g. know your 
numbers, BP home check etc.) by patients which will 
increase availability of staff for other work. 

3. Increase detected Familial Hypercholesterolemia to 
reduce prevalence of CVD particularly in younger adult 
age groups. 

 3. Health and wellbeing score from Cardiology staff in 
the NHS staff survey for CDDFT. 

  

Page 85



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Initiatives   

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  
CCG league tables for hypertension – level/ treated/ untreated.       
Reduce variation of practice in the identification and management of high-risk conditions and 
audit & clean-up registers to ensure people are coded properly. Root cause analysis. 

      

Bespoke Data packs with updated info showing current recent position. Healthy Hearts 
website to promote prevention in local areas. 

      

AF Optimisation and Detection Programme – Pharmacist delivered project across all GP 
practices in the Southern Collaborative to include identification of patients from clinical 
systems, Pharmacist led appointment to risk assess, educate, and prescribe optimal 
medication, and an educational programme for Primary and Secondary care clinicians.  
CVDPREVENT audit will also be used in 2020. AliveCor rolled out to 12 practices. 

      

NHS Health checks - targeted at people with estimated high CVD risk.       
NEW: Develop a program to address CVD outside of people that attend primary care.       
Hypertension Detection and Optimisation Programme – Data analysis, audit and education 
programme. Although slightly different versions, this will be replicated across the Southern 
Collaborative. 

      

Hypercholesterolemia Programme – Data analysis and communication plan with all Primary 
Care to ensure patients are detected and are referred into a specialist Lipids clinic if found to 
have a cholesterol of 7.5mmol or more. These patients will be risk assessed and cascade 
testing offered to ensure this is prevented in future generations. This will be replicated across 
the Southern Collaborative 

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Review of Cardiac Rehabilitation services and aim to increase referral and uptake of cardiac 
rehabilitation during 2021/22.  

      

In 2023/24, funding for wider roll out will be included in fair shares allocations to systems. 
This links to community for longer term rehabilitation following on from specialist services. 

      

NHS Health checks check for hypercholesterolemia.       
Prevention programmes and health checks commissioned by DCC, plus the public health 
stop smoking service, wellbeing for life and ways to wellbeing services all contribute to the 
prevention agenda and will reduce admissions. 

      

Public and health care professional awareness work re: BP/Pulse/NHS health checks/ 
Wellbeing for Life/ Ways to Wellbeing/ Specialist Stop Smoking Service/ Whole System 
Approach to Obesity/ CVD Prevention Self-Assessment with work done on links to 
employment, housing, pollution, and poverty. 

      

Recognition and understanding of wider determinants of CVD including protecting people 
from traumatic events, increasing physical activity, improving diet/nutrition, access to green 
spaces, reducing air pollution and working as a system to address these risk factors.  

      

3. Personalised Care  
Further development and utilisation of referral pathways for people at risk of CVD to Ways to 
Wellbeing / Wellbeing for Life Services commissioned by Public Health link with PCNs. 

      

NEW: Implementation of referral pathways with Smokefree County Durham for people who 
are identified in general practice and secondary care as smokers. 

      

NEW: Implementation of shared decision making within NHS Healthchecks to include patent 
activation, behaviour change and self-management measures. 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
NEW: Ensure educational materials around CVD prevention and risk are developed with and 
for people with learning disabilities.  

      

Lester Tool 2014 wider uptake for mental health services.       
5. Children  
Preventative measures for C&YP to address ACE's by utilising trauma informed care.       
NEW: Active 30, Healthy Weight Alliance, Quality Standards Framework in Schools (potential 
to link to poverty agenda). 

      

6. Digital  
AliveCor has been nationally supported to help local partners identify AF. Investigation is 
ongoing to potentially roll this out further. Other schemes such as including a ‘suspected AF’ 
box on the diabetic podiatry screening sheet are being investigated. Use of a digital tool for 
the AF Optimisation and Detection Programme for patient stratification and identification. 

      

Promotion of Heart Age Tool.       
7. Finance  
We will detect and medically optimise patients with AF to prevent stroke leading to savings 
via fewer AF related admissions and stroke episodes which can be re-invested into stroke 
and CVD services. 

      

8. Integration  
Pilot extended in pharmacies and re-modelled with formal GP feedback. Primary care 
led/paid for pulse checks to detect people with hypertension. 

      

9. Cultural Change  
Implementation of Making Every Contact Count across the health care system by health care 
professionals. 

      

 

Page 86



   
 

   
 

Diabetes OGIM 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Why change is needed 
We recognise that change is needed because: 

• There is variation in the care that people with diabetes receive 

• There is still some reliance on hospital- based care 

• There is variation in the number of referrals and uptake to diabetes structured education and opportunities for patients to self- manage their condition.  

• Diabetes prevalence continues to rise, so further focus is needed on prevention and diabetes remission    

 

Objectives 
Our objectives will be to: 

• Ensure equity of access to services and a reduction in variation in diabetes care across all local healthcare settings  

• Support people living with diabetes to manage their own health through an enhanced support offer.  

• Identify people at high risk of Type 2 diabetes and offer them support to prevent them from going on to develop the condition in the future.     

 

Goals 
Our goals are to ensure that:   

 

• Patient outcomes are improved and there is a reduction in the variation of achievement of diabetes treatment targets 

• Amputation rates, hospital length of stay and readmission rates for diabetes related issues are reduced.   

• All patients have access to diabetes structured education and digital self-management tools. 

• All eligible patients have access to flash glucose monitoring devices in line with local prescribing protocols  

• There is increased identification and improved management for patients at high risk of developing type 2 diabetes and all have access to the NHS Diabetes Prevention 

Programme (NDPP) 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Diabetes Group 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

1. Reduction in diabetes prevalence   

Measure: Local diabetes prevalence rates. 

1. Shorter waiting times for patients referred to the 
NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP)  
 Measure: Local NDPP waiting times 

1. More robust primary and secondary care 
diabetes workforce 
Measure: % of staff recruited and retained   

       in primary and secondary care. 

2. Reduction in number of hypo and hyper admissions  

Measure: Number of hypo and hyper admissions per 1000 

people with diabetes. 

2 Reduced length of stay for diabetes admissions 

Measure: Average length of stay for diabetes 

admissions 

2 More skilled primary care workforce  

Measure: % of GPs, nurses and HCAs with 

diabetes training needs that have  

completed related training. 

 

3. Reduction in Amputation and Retinopathy rates Measures:  

- Number of amputations due to diabetic foot disease  

- Proportion of patients with reduction of significant 

retinopathy rates 

3 Increase in Flash Glucose meter access and use 

Measure: % of patients using flash glucose meters 

3 A happy and fulfilled primary and  

secondary care workforce 

Measure: Staff survey 

 

COVID - 19 

Recovery & post pandemic impact  

             The Integrated Diabetes Model of Care Programme has been scaled back up following the COVID pandemic. The Diabetes Governance Board is  
             meeting every two months and the Diabetes Clinical Advisory Group meetings have restarted. Consultant and DSN practice- based clinics are being  
             held virtually or face to face depending on the patients/practice's request/needs. Diabetes Locality Group meetings are being held bi-monthly where  
            delivery of the diabetes care levels and variation in diabetes indicator performance is discussed/addressed. Diabetes training & education sessions for  
            practices continue to be organised and co-ordinated by the GP Federations as per their contract with the CCG and practice/locality MDT meetings to  
            discuss complex patient cases are being held.  
 

The pandemic has had an impact as seen from the performance on the diabetes dashboard report but results are starting to improve as more patients are 
being seen for their reviews in general practice. Patients referred for type 2 diabetes structured education are currently being offered virtual sessions (MS 
Teams) or the NHS E Healthy living digital app until face- to- face sessions can be restarted (expected July/Aug 2021). The CDDFT structured education 
team (D.I.E.T) are currently working through a backlog of referrals of patients who requested to wait for face-to-face sessions and are getting  them 
booked onto courses. Online booking for structured education courses has also recently been made available to patients. Referrals to the NHS Diabetes 
Prevention Programme continue to rise steadily. WW are offering virtual courses and their digital app, until face-to-face sessions can restart (currently 
undertaking COVID risk assessments at local venues).   

Page 87



   
 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Should 

this be 

remove

d ?  

Initiatives 
Initiatives 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 

1. Health Inequalities  

We will increase our use of primary care data to identify and target patients who are at risk of diabetes 
and work with them to participate in the NDPP or any locally developed programmes, considering any 
barriers to participation  

      

We will continue work to reduce variation in care (9 key care processes), outcomes and treatment 
targets across County Durham including variation in outcomes by age (older people are achieving the 
best outcomes re: NICE treatment targets currently)  
 

      

We plan to undertake a health needs assessment for diabetes to identify if there are sections of the 
population where outcomes are not improving in line with the general population. We will use the HNA 
to identify if we need to target or adapt our diabetes offer for prevention, education or treatment  

      

We will use the 2020-24 NHS E Diabetes Treatment & Care programme funding to deliver the MDFT & 
7-day DISN services to help reduce hospital length of stay and amputation rates for diabetes patients 
across County Durham.  

      

We will work to identify any barriers to accessing diabetes structured education and identify how we 
can address this 

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  

We will continue to promote and use the NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) wherever 
possible, but we recognise that we need to offer a range of programmes/ interventions to support 
people to stay healthy  

      

We will ensure that the PCN social prescribing link workers have a focus on supporting patients who 
are at risk of developing diabetes  

      

We will promote the use of low-calorie diet and weight management programmes for patients who are 
obese and who have Diabetes where they are clinically appropriate.    

      

We will engage with community pharmacies to understand the role they could play in diabetes 
management –  

      

We will continue to use the Wellbeing for Life service to support people to improve their health, 
wellbeing and quality of life.  

      

3. Personalised Care  

We will use Patient Activation Measures to identify those who are able to self-manage their own 
condition with fast track access back into primary and secondary care services where required. 

      

We will ensure that patients are involved in decisions concerning the management of their care and are 
offered a copy of their care plan  

      

We will continue to work to improve management of blood glucose but will also expand our focus to a 
broader range of targets such as lipids, hypertension, diabetic renal disease and micro albuminuria. We 
will work to increase the areas that we focus on incrementally.  

      

We will continue to offer a single point of contact for diabetes structured education with a range of 
packages available  

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities 
    links to the Start Well, Live Well & Age Well objectives in the Mental Health OGIM   

 

We will ensure that there is a focus on people with Severe Mental Illness or people with a Learning 
Disability as part of the Health Needs Assessment focussing on prevention, education and treatment  

      

We will review the bespoke education package for patients with Learning Disability that has been 
developed in North Tyneside to consider implementation in County Durham  

      

We will ensure that eligible patients with learning disabilities and diabetes are offered and have access 
to Continuous Glucose Monitoring in line with local prescribing protocols  

      

5. Children  

We will work with schools and families to increase exercise, healthy behaviours to help reduce 
childhood obesity and the number of children diagnosed with type 2 diabetes – links to Children & Young 

Peoples OGIM  

      

We will improve outcomes for children with type 1 diabetes and ensure compliance with the best 
practice pathway for paediatric diabetes – linking with the NENC Children & Young Peoples Diabetes 

Network  

      

6. Digital  

We will continue to offer a menu of options for diabetes structured education including a digital app.        

We will look to make available a type 2 diabetes structured education digital app for patients whose first 
language is not English  

      

We will ensure that eligible patients with diabetes (including pregnant women and those with LD) are 
offered and have access to Continuous Glucose Monitoring devices in accordance with local 
prescribing protocols, reviewing processes so that we have safe and effective systems for managing 
patients who use these devices.  

      

7. Finance  

We will reduce admissions for complications of diabetes & amputation rates for diabetic foot disease & 
reinvest funding in prevention and the rising cost of diabetes related drugs.  

      

We will review Insulin prescribing with the aim of switching suitable Type 2 diabetes patients from 
analogue to human Insulin, releasing prescribing cost savings.  

      

8. Integration  

We will continue to have an integrated diabetes model of care programme for County Durham which 
includes primary, community and secondary care, overseen by a Diabetes Governance Board that 
includes the voluntary sector (Diabetes UK)   

      

We will evaluate the County Durham Integrated diabetes model of care programme to determine its 
impact on health benefits and outcomes for patients with type 2 diabetes.    

      

Our consultant and Diabetes Specialist Nurses will continue to work in our GP practices training & 
upskilling primary care staff  

      

9. Cultural Change  

We will work with clinicians to increase awareness of the wellbeing approach and of the alternatives to 
medical treatment for diabetes. 

      

 

Page 88



   
 

   
 

 

 

 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Drug and Alcohol OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Why change is needed 

• To reduce the burden of disease and inequality caused by alcohol and drug harms by addressing the physical, mental, and social impact of addiction on individuals, 
families, and local communities. Substance misuse disproportionally affects those adults and families from disadvantaged groups and areas of social deprivation 
widening health inequalities.  

• Provisional Office for National Statistics data for England and Wales show there were 7,342 deaths related to alcohol-specific causes registered in 2020. A 19.6% 
increase compare to 2019. 

• The alcohol specific death rated for Quarter 2 2020 in the North East reached 22.8 per 100,000 people – the highest rate on record since data collection began. The 
alcohol specific death rate for the North East was the highest of any English region and 55% higher than the English average during 2020. 

• The North East had a statistically significantly higher rate of drug related deaths than all other English regions (95.0 deaths per million people 2019). This needs to be 
reduced. Whilst County Durham has the highest number of drug related deaths in the region (155 (2019), the rate per 100,000 head of population indicates progress is 
being made with the County having the lowest number of deaths when considering its population size. Older, more vulnerable drug users require further support with their 
long-term conditions.  

• To stop the intergenerational cycle of substance misuse.  

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Reduction in hospital admissions related to alcohol Increase opportunities for prevention and early 
intervention 

Access to training for prevention and early intervention 
(IBA) 

Reduction in Substance Misuse Related Deaths (SMRD) Ease of access into recovery services based within local 
communities  

Accessibility for discreet and confidential access for any 
members of the system workforce into DARS 

Numbers in treatment and Successful Completions Client satisfaction with the service Ensure a recognised standard DARS workforce, trained to 
deliver within a quality standard framework 

 

COVID – 19 

In the North East death rates from alcohol rose from 16.6 per 100,000 people in 2019 to 20.0 per 100,000 people in 2020 – a rise of around 20.5%. Alcohol specific deaths rose 
quickly from April 2020 as the pandemic resulted in the first national lockdown. 

Other reports continue to show drinking at probable dependent levels – more than 50 units a week – rose from 19 per cent to 28 per cent over this period. With the number 
drinking four or more times a week increasing from 30 per cent to 39 per cent. 

Most deaths were related to long-term drinking problems and dependency – with alcoholic liver disease making up 80 per cent of cases. Men living in the most deprived areas 
were four times more likely to die from alcohol than men living in the most affluent areas. 

Numbers in DARS remained relatively stable during COVID with the service providing a blended approach to delivery. All clinical requirements were met with prescriptions being 
dispensed on a longer-term basis. Clients reported this gave them a new sense of stability.  

 

Objectives 

• To improve upstream prevention initiatives for the reduction of harm caused by alcohol and drugs. 
• To optimise the care setting of drug and alcohol services to reduce the impact of substance misuse for adults, families and local communities.  
• To manage long-term conditions for those in treatment. 

Goals 
 

Maintain the delivery of the County Durham Alcohol and Drug Harm Reduction Strategy (2017-2025) and Action Plan (refreshed in 2021-22) 
 

• Primary prevention – Provide ongoing support for Minimum unit pricing (MUP). Provide a systematic approach for Audit C screening for alcohol within a range of settings. 
Increase referrals rates from primary care, acute trusts, Health Checks and domestic abuse services into the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service (DARS) based on 
Identification and Brief Advice (IBA) for alcohol. Reduce primary care prescribing rates for prescription medication. Maintenance of harm reduction services including 
screening for blood borne viruses and overdose prevention. Improve pathways from criminal justice partners into DARS for first offenders. Maintain harm reduction 
initiative for Alcohol Licensing, Alcohol Seizures – under 18’s and test purchasing.  

• Secondary Prevention – delivery of comprehensive DARS providing an optimal care package for young people, adults and families suffering with substance misuse. 
Develop integrated care pathways to build recovery capital, including clinical interventions, trauma-informed care, mental health and wellbeing, criminal justice, social 
care, housing, poverty reduction, domestic abuse and smoking cessation.   

• Tertiary Prevention – target the aging population of substance misusers to address long term conditions including respiratory care, cardiovascular disease (CVD), 
complex needs. 

Page 91



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Develop integrated care pathways for substance misusers with long term conditions including respiratory 
health and CVD. 

      

Provision of women-only services.       
Maintain primary prevention initiatives including IBA and extended IBA in primary care.       
Increased bespoke support to engage and maintain rough sleepers in DARS.       
Targeting under-represented groups as part of the COVID -19 vaccination programme inc. DARS clients, 
rough sleepers.  

      

Drug crime and harm reduction funding to support a whole systems approach.        

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Increase systematic referrals from Partners.        
Reduce prescribing rates of potentially addictive medication within primary care.       
Develop Alcohol Care Teams based in secondary care.       
Develop optimal care pathways from secondary care into Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service.       
Alcohol and drug education for secondary care staff to support identification, IBA and onward referral.       
Provision of holistic Alcohol and Drug Recovery Services utilising a life course approach to address the 
needs of individuals, families and local communities (Potential re-commission). 

      

Administer COVID-19. influenza and pneumococcal vaccinations within drug and alcohol services.       
Consider opportunities to develop addiction services to include problematic gambling.       

3. Personalised Care  
n/a       

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Further develop and imbed provision of pathways for patients with co-occurring mental health and 
alcohol/drug use conditions.   

      

The DARS is recruiting a mental health nurse to support DARS clients by addressing dual needs.       
The provisional rough sleeper bid includes 1 mental health nurses to address dual needs within at 
population.  

      

5. Children  
Provision of DARS for CYP and families (Potential re-commission).       

6. Digital  
Improve data collation in A&E for regular attenders and cross reference with criminal justice partners, 
primary care and Drug and Alcohol Recovery Services. 

      

Blended working approach within the DARS- including virtual groups, video calls and online applications.        

7. Finance  
Local Authority Budget to be reviewed and agreed with potential re-procurement.        

8. Integration  
Improve recovery capital in individuals by working with partners to address need including clinical 
interventions, trauma-informed care, mental health and wellbeing, criminal justice, social care, housing, 
poverty reduction, domestic abuse and smoking cessation. 

      

Support attrition between services by ensuring plans are put in place to prevent patients dropping out of the 
pathway. 

      

Co-production Board to be established to ensure on-going service user input to delivery of DARS.        

9. Cultural Change  
Integrated approach to referring those identified with substance misuse into DARS.       

 

Initiatives 

Page 92



Respiratory OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Why change is needed 

• Respiratory disease affects one in five people and is the third biggest cause of death in England (after cancer and cardiovascular disease). Lung cancer, 
pneumonia and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) are the biggest causes of death. 

• Hospital admissions for lung disease have risen over the past seven years at three times the rate of all admissions generally.  
• Respiratory diseases are a major factor in winter pressures faced by the NHS, most respiratory admissions are non-elective and during the winter period 

these double in number.  
• The annual economic burden of asthma and COPD on the NHS in the UK is estimated as £3 billion and £1.9 billion respectively. In total, all lung 

conditions (including lung cancer) directly cos the NHS in the UK £11 billion annually.  
• Incidence and mortality rates from respiratory disease are higher in disadvantaged groups and areas of social deprivation, with the gap widening and 

leading to worse health outcomes. The most deprived communities have a higher incidence of smoking rates, exposure to higher levels of air pollution, 
poor housing conditions and exposure to occupational hazards.  

From:https://nhs.sharepoint.com/sites/msteams_431e61CountyDurhamPlanningGroup/Shared%20Documents/County%20Durham%20Planning%20Group/OGI
M%202021%20%20NEW/Respiratory/OGIM%20Respiratory%202021.docx 

Objectives 

• Improved services and outcomes for respiratory disease.  
• Provide an integrated approach to delivery which involves communities, voluntary organisations and the health and care system.  
• Focus on prevention, early detection and diagnosis and optimal treatment options, concentrating interventions initially on populations at greater risk. 
• Implementing population health management and personalised care approaches to improve health outcomes and address health inequalities. 

Goals 
 

• Enable early and accurate diagnosis of respiratory diseases, by supporting the training of staff to deliver tests such as spirometry. 
• Expand pulmonary rehabilitation services across the country so that patients who would benefit complete treatment in a good quality service.  
• Improve appropriate prescribing of medicines and the way they are reviewed, and support patients to use their inhalers properly.  
• Design and develop tools and programmes that will support patients to manage their condition themselves and receive personalised care. 
• Impro the treatment and care of people who present with community acquired pneumonia.  

Page 93

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/lung-cancer/
https://www.nhs.uk/search?collection=nhs-meta&query=pneumonia
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-copd/
https://nhs.sharepoint.com/sites/msteams_431e61CountyDurhamPlanningGroup/Shared%20Documents/County%20Durham%20Planning%20Group/OGIM%202021%20%20NEW/Respiratory/OGIM%20Respiratory%202021.docx
https://nhs.sharepoint.com/sites/msteams_431e61CountyDurhamPlanningGroup/Shared%20Documents/County%20Durham%20Planning%20Group/OGIM%202021%20%20NEW/Respiratory/OGIM%20Respiratory%202021.docx
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/spirometry/
https://www.blf.org.uk/support-for-you/keep-active/pulmonary-rehabilitation


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

1. Number of annual COPD health checks in primary 
care 

 

1.Patient hospital attends resulting in a non-elective 
admission 

1. Number of nurses trained and competent in 
delivering diagnostic spirometry treatment 

   

   

 

COVID - 19 

• A new cohort of patients affected by COVID-19; who have a plethora of physical and psychological symptoms that require an integrated 
approach (including respiratory) 

• Our existing patient groups, many who have multi-comorbidities (including respiratory); they may also have now suffered an episode of COVID-
19 

• Develop working groups across the Health and Care System – involving public health, DCC and voluntary services to develop community 
pathways for respiratory, pulmonary, cardiac and other LTCs. 

• Support our workforce to work differently, ensuring they have the skills required (understand the training needs) Develop new roles to support 
innovative pathways. 

• Continue to prioritise and implement the "Living Well With" Strategy (using Living Well With COVID-19 to influence the processes, pathways and 
MDT approach). 

• Home blood pressure monitoring (HBPM) was identified as a priority for CVD management during and after the COVID-19 pandemic to ensure 
that patients who are vulnerable to becoming seriously ill, can manage their hypertension well and remotely, without the need to attend hospital 
or GP Practice appointments.  

• The COVID Oximetry @ Home Service is to enable enhanced self-management by patients discharged from a hospital setting, presenting at 
practice or notification from 111 with likely or confirmed COVID, who are clinically stable at presentation, but remain at risk of deterioration 
because of their age, co-morbidities or other concerns identified at the initial clinical assessment. Enhanced self-management support, including 
the use of oximetry, will enable early identification of deterioration, in particular silent hypoxia, so that appropriate action can be initiated as 
quickly as possible. 

 

Focus on the four key points to ensure interventions are evidence based, integrated and community focused. 

I. Redesigned evidence based trans-diagnostic pathways 
a. Current single diagnostic pathways will not adequately meet the physical, psychological and social needs of patients.  
b. A trans-diagnostic pathway would enable allow a wider cohort of people to access appropriate rehabilitation. This is of particularly 

important during the current pandemic due to anticipated escalating rehabilitation demands with multiple presenting symptoms. 
II. the development of integrated and cross-organisational roles  

a. to address patient specific trans-diagnostic needs including. 
b. Redesigning current roles for qualified clinicians (e.g. nurses, physiotherapists). 
c. Working with Public Health and County Council (e.g. Wellbeing for Life).  
d. Working with Mental Health Organisations (TEWV). 

III. the use of the Patient Activation Measures (PAMs) 1  
a. Targeting appropriate people/ care. 
b. Shared decision making. 
c. enablement to self-management approach. 

IV. A programme of training for upskilling the current and future workforce for psychologically informed care.  
a. CBT training already embedded within Respiratory Team. 
b. Workshops and training which could enhance PAMs. 

 

 

Page 94



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 

1. Health Inequalities  

Respiratory Clinical Advisory Group reviewing national and local guidelines and ensuring these are embedded in 
our services and pathways. 

      

Ensure adequate provision of Pulmonary Rehabilitation is commissioned and funded by CCGs, and that 
pathways into community physical activity provision ensure this element is sustained. 

      

Increasing flu vaccine uptake for adults and children. (Children’s Public Health Flu campaign this year is 
"Protectorsaurus" dinosaur themed). 

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Development of a diagnostic spirometry service across County Durham, either to be delivered by CDDFT alone 
or with support from PCNs.  Need to rationalise who does this. Must be ARTP trained to carryout test.  Needs to 
have clear screening guidelines/referral criteria into the service and consideration of staffing required/skill mix. 

      

Address the backlog of patients who are waiting for diagnostic spirometry testing for those without a confirmed 
COPD or Asthma diagnosis. (The backlog is due to there being no service provision in the community during the 
COVID pandemic. 

      

To implement a FeNO service for newly diagnosed asthmatics (adults and paediatrics).       
Reduce the prevalence of harm caused by smoking through tobacco control measures and redesigning the stop 
smoking service to improve the services to tackle tobacco-related ill health 

      

Increase the use of active travel to encourage physical activity (including cycling and walking) to reduce traffic 
emissions related respiratory illness and carbon emissions  

      

3. Personalised Care  
Continue to meet the needs of people with Covid-19 through the integration of Personalised Care approaches 
are supporting people within the Post / Long Covid pathway. 

      

Education plan for patients at point of diagnosis, including education on correct inhaler techniques.       
Implement Blood Pressure monitoring@home with a focus on shared decision making.        
Continue to deliver COVID Oximetry@Home, an enhanced self-management pathway giving power to the patient 
to manage their own care. 

      

Help people to manage their own long-term conditions including diabetes and respiratory conditions through self-
management programmes through a range of methods, including digitally, to access advice, self-help in minor 
illnesses and health (including mental health) promotion  

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Access to CBT for patients with breathlessness with history, examination & investigation to be completed prior to 
referral. 

      

Continue to provide MDT support (including Mental Health Support) for people suffering with Long COVID 
through the Long COVID Clinic.  

      

Ensuring people with respiratory problems whose emotional wellbeing has suffered as a direct impact of COVID 
(including those who have not actually suffered an episode of COVID) are signposted to the Durham COVID 
Resilience Team (CRT) for additional psychological support. 

      

5. Children  
Encourage the use of the Little Orange Book app for parents when launched in September 2021.       
Promote the Little Orange Book to parents – given to all pregnant people at “booking appointment” by the 
midwife, electronic version sent out via Badgernet (maternity app). Promoted by Health Visitors, nurseries and 
schools. 

      

Invest in training and equipment for Primary Care accurately measure oxygen saturation in babies and those 
aged under 2 to enable care at home when clinically appropriate preventing secondary care admission or A&E 
attendance for RSV related illness. 

      

Primary Care and Secondary Care clinicians working in collaboration to set up a direct advice telephone line for 
GPs who have a young baby in practice presenting with an RSV related illness to offer advice. 

      

Primary Care and Secondary Care clinicians working in collaboration to identify and help practices target families 
frequently walking into A&E for their children.  Assertive outreach and targeted education. 

      

James Carlton and Godfrey Nyamugunduru to produce a 5 minute online refresher/training video for GPs and 
Secondary Care Clinicians in relation to RSV illness in patients aged 2 and under, so everyone in the system is 
giving the same consistent message and are aware of what each other are doing. 

      

Communications and education to our voluntary and community sector (VCS) providers on infection prevention 
and control for respiratory hygiene and where families should be signposted to have their needs met 
appropriately within the health system - County Durham - Jo Laverick from Durham Community Action. 

      

6. Digital       
Consider alternatives for current Pulmonary Rehabilitation classes, such as myCOPD App/videos at home, days 
& times of sessions and venues.  Engagement with patients. 

      

Implement the use of Health Call in the Long Covid service to support data collection and evaluation.       
Continue the use of Health Call in the COVID Virtual Ward service to support data collection and evaluation.       
Continue the use of AccuRx to support BP@Home.       
7. Finance  
Review/intervention of over/under use of patient's inhaler prescriptions - Work with Meds Ops and Local 
Pharmacy committee. 

      

Invest in Diagnostic Spirometry Service to ensure sustainable and safe service delivery.       
8. Integration  
Increased use of community resources for people who are unable to commit to the intensity of pulmonary 
rehabilitation, or because of days & times of sessions and venues.  

      

Continue integrated approach to deliver Long Covid service and use this approach as a basis to deliver the 
Living Well With Strategy for other Long Term Conditions. 

      

9. Cultural Change  
Increase focus on preventing respiratory ill health including smoking cessation or switching to vaping.       
Focus on changing inhalers to those that are CSE friendly in line with the green strategy.       

 

Initiatives 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Sexual Health OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Under 18 Conception Rate Percentage of women who have access to urgent 
contraceptive advice and services (including 
emergency contraception) within 12 hours of 

contacting the sexual health service 

    Increased number of schools accessing RSE 
training / support  

Chlamydia proportion aged 15 to 24 screened 
 

Percentage of people offered an appointment, or 
walk-in, within 48 hours of contacting the sexual 

health service 

Increased LARC training – primary care nurses 

Percentage of LARCs prescribed as a 
proportion of all contraceptives by age 
(excluding condoms) of new or change of 
method female patients 

 
 

Percentage of clients from most deprived areas 
(using postcode of residence) using sexual health 

services 

Increased LGBTQ+ awareness training  

 

Why change is needed 

• Sexual and reproductive health is fundamental to health and wellbeing. It is a national priority and matters to both individuals and communities. Sexual 
health needs vary according to factors such as age, gender and gender identity, sexuality and ethnicity, and some groups are particularly at risk of poor 
sexual health. Achieving good sexual health is complex and there are variations in need for services and interventions for different individuals and groups. 
It is essential that there is collaboration and integration between a broad range of organisations, in order to achieve desired outcomes. 

• Unplanned teenage pregnancy is a cause and consequence of education and health inequality for young parents and their children. Despite significant 
progress over the last 18 years, with a reduction of almost 65% in the under-18 conception rate, a continued focus is needed as this remains significantly 
higher than the national average with some areas of the county being persistently higher than both the England and County Durham average.  

• The statutory requirement for educational setting to provide age-appropriate Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education, and health 
education (RSHE) 

• Sexual health services need to be adaptable to provide a flexible and diverse service that delivers a graded offer of support and services for all ages that 
includes prevention through to health intervention. 

Objectives 

• All residents of County Durham have access to high quality integrated sexual health services, information advice and guidance that is supported by a local 
sexual health strategy 

• Children and young people have access to appropriate RSHE, that includes relationships, sex, sexuality, gender identity and sexual health (including 
reproductive health and sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and health education that addresses inequalities. 

• To reduce unplanned teenage pregnancies in areas of the County with persistently high rates through targeted intervention 
• Service providers have an increased understanding of lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, trans, questing, queer + (LGBTQ+) and gender identity issues and have a 

flexible service offer to meet everyone’s needs  
 

Goals 
 

• Improvement in chlamydia screening rates aged 15-24  
• Improvement in HIV late diagnosis rate 
• Reduction of under 18 conception rate 
• Service delivery is informed, developed and implemented with service users  
• High quality age appropriate Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education, and health education (RSHE) is delivered to children and young 

people.  
• Service level data is used to inform service planning to improve outcomes and tackle inequalities  
• Improved access to Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) based upon informed choice.  
• Have a clear understanding of the needs of the population, and respond accordingly including vulnerable groups (eg young people who are looked after / 

care leavers, LGBTQ+ community, those with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 
• Improve the whole system digital offer that is based on identified need 
• Ensure HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) is embedded into the sexual health service offer. 

COVID - 19 

The local authority have needed to prioritise the Covid pandemic response leading to a delay of the development of a County Durham sexual health strategy. 
During this time, the current national strategy will continue to be delivered where possible until the impact of the pandemic is reviewed, and a new strategy 
developed. 

Due to the reduction in available face to face appointments this had a significant impact on waiting times. The service delivery model was temporarily reviewed to 
increase online availability for sexual health screening.  

The ability to provide LARCs was also significantly impacted requiring additional contraception plans / options. 

The RSE delivery within primary and secondary schools has varied significantly, with many sessions being impacted due to school closures, pupil / staff self-
isolation and online leaning. 

 

Page 97



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Reduce inequalities in sexual health and under 18 conceptions through the integrated sexual 
health service providing both universal and targeted services provision and support 

      

Continue to sustain low STI rates locally and reduced inequalities       

Ensure that people with SEND, learning disabilities and other vulnerable groups are supported 
to make appropriate choices regarding their sexual health and relationships 

      

Develop and implement a 3-year Sexual Health Strategy which includes clear actions to deliver 
strategic recommendations   

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Better understanding of the risk-taking behaviour of high-risk groups which informs more 
impactful delivery 

      

3. Personalised Care  
Ensure that Personalised Care approaches are embedded within service delivery, including the 
use of shared decision making and choice are included within the offer 

      

Review service provision and care pathways to ensure they meet the needs of our transgender 
population 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Ensure the new County Durham sexual health strategy considers the specific needs of people 
with SEND and mental health needs.  

      

5. Children (and young people)  
Review the local multi-agency action plan for sexual health improvement to deliver age-
appropriate relationship and sex education and reduce the conception rates in those under 18 

      

6. Digital  
As part of the development of the strategy to ensure that the digital offer supports the sexual 
wellbeing of the people of County Durham, including advice and guidance, and signposting 

      

7. Finance  
Through the development of the strategy ensure a whole system approach to financial 
management is undertaken   

      

8. Integration  
To support the further development of integrated services across pathways of care as part of 
the strategy, including Primary Care Networks, and the Voluntary and Community Sector 

      

9. Cultural Change  
To ensure staff across the health and care systems receive appropriate training understand the 
sexual health and wellbeing needs of people who identify as LGBTQ+ and support the cultural 
change that will ensure positive experience and outcomes for the people of County Durham. 

      

 

 

Initiatives 

Page 98



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stroke OGIM - 2021 

Why change is needed 

• Due to changing demographics, the number of people having a stroke will increase by almost half, and the number of stroke survivors living with disability 
will increase by a third by 2035. 

• Advances in treatment are not universally available. 
• Changes to the hyperacute elements of the pathway have improved patient outcomes however these gains are not being realised due to the fact that 

rehabilitation is not standardised for all patients across County Durham.  
• Although investment has been made for community-based therapy, there is still more to do to achieve standards of early supported discharge as well as 

sustained therapy within an acute setting. 
• Therapy provision could be enhanced to ensure a more consistent approach across acute and community settings.  
• Inequality exists within the current model of care, accessibility into services is disparate and requires bolstering mainly inpatient based therapy provision. 

 

Objectives 

• To provide high quality specialist care to all patients, improving quality of life following a stroke. 
• Ensure that supported discharge and high quality, consistent rehabilitation is embedded into pathways. 
• To ensure a sustainable, multi-professional specialist workforce across the service.  

 

Goals 

• All patients who can benefit from mechanical thrombectomy and thrombolysis receive it. 
• Services are configured to ensure that high quality specialist care is the norm for all patients. 
• The stroke workforce are well equipped to deliver specialist interventions and high quality rehabilitation.  
• To develop a person-centred model of care that delivers care closer to home. 
• To minimise variation, reduce inequalities and maximise the health outcomes of our local population. 
• To develop a service which retains and attracts an excellent workforce. 
• To ensure care is accessible and responsive to people’s needs. 

 

COVID - 19 

COVID-19 has had a significant impact on specialist stroke services across the County.  During 2020 there were fewer stroke admissions, however 
activity is now back to pre-COVID levels and the challenges of managing the pandemic as well as delivering high quality stroke services is challenging.  
There are impacts on models of care due to managing COVID vs non-COVID patients whilst already challenged staffing levels are further impacted by 
the pandemic.   

• Short Term – emergency stroke services maintained in light of COVID to ensure resilience.  Services have adapted pathways to ensure patient 
needs are met whilst also following latest Government guidelines. Remote technology has been used particularly in relation to ongoing review 
appointments and where appropriate will continue to do so.  

• Medium Term – ensuring ongoing delivery of acute and community-based specialist stroke services whilst managing broader demands on the 
overall health and care system   

• Long Term – ensuring all future plans for service transformation are quality assured in line with COVID guidance and good practice is maintained 
throughout. 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 
1. Admissions for stroke. 
 

1. Percentage offered a 6-month review. 
 

1.Percentage of consultant vacancies TBC. 

2. Rates of aspiration pneumonia post stroke. 
 

2. Length of stay across inpatient stroke units. 
 

2.Percentage of satisfaction at work – staff survey 
TBC. 

3. Death rate from stroke. 3. Time to thrombolysis waiting time. 3.Percentage of nursing and therapy vacancies 
TBC. 

 

Page 99



 

Initiatives 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Ensure standardised model of care is rolled out across CDD for Atrial Fibrillation.       

To utilise existing commissioned services focussed on prevention across NHS, social care and 
voluntary sector organisations to identify opportunities for AF screening 

      

To review equity of access to stroke services following potential change in model of care.       

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Continue to actively use the SSNAP data to review any service improvements and best practice. 
Active stroke consultant recruitment. 

      

Finalise plans to enhance hospital-based specialist rehabilitation.       
Implement community-based stroke service and measure improvements against baseline 
information as part of 12-month review of service. 

      

Review model of care for inpatient rehabilitation against baseline measures.       

3. Personalised Care  
To review the utilisation of the shared decision-making model throughout the pathway.       

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
To review and continue to develop acute and community-based stroke rehabilitation to include 
access to psychological therapies as per NICE guidance.  

      

To ensure there are reasonable adjustments made to ensure equity of access as part of the 
pathway.  

      

5. Children  
Ensuring that families and children who are affected by stroke are communicated with effectively       

6. Digital  
To ensure all clinical and performance systems interact with one another, particularly in relation to 
the Stroke Association and their delivery of the 6-month review service. 

      

To continue implementing the Trust Electronic Patient Record System as part of overall pathway.        

7. Finance  
To review appropriate use of resources ensuring that any savings are reinvested in workforce and 
additional investment in community services realises benefits.   

      

8. Integration  
Review contracts with stroke association as an integrated approach.        
Ensure integration of health and social care processes have a positive impact on patient outcomes 
i.e. ensure discharge planning and implementation is done holistically.  

      

9. Cultural Change  
To review effectiveness of increased investment in community stroke services and change in 
culture of working practice by comparing quality and performance against baseline. In particular to 
assess average length of stay to ensure a more seamless pathway and early discharge. 

      

To work with teams across acute and community as well as social care to create a culture of “one 
team” to ensure seamless transitions for patients and their families.  

      

 

Page 100



Dementia OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Number of falls recorded in secondary care with a 
comorbidity of dementia 

 

Number of carer breaks for carers looking after 
people with dementia 

 

Number of dementia advisors in the county 

Dementia prevalence rates Number of carers and people with dementia who felt 
their needs were understood 

Number of personal assistants training/trained with 
the Care Academy 

 Number of people with dementia and their carers 
accessing support 

 

Number of social prescribing link workers, employed 
by Primary Care Networks 

 

Goals 
 

• People with dementia are supported to live at home for as long as possible, however those that require long term care in a community setting are cared 
for by appropriately skilled staff who have access to the required training. Technology, carer support and commissioner activity relating to care home staff 
all contribute effectively to this goal 

• Countywide Dementia Advisor Service commissioned on a long-term basis with sustainable funding in place 
• Work in partnership to ensure the Dementia Advisor Service is fully integrated within Primary Care ensuring those with a diagnosis of dementia are 

supported from the onset  
• Dementia Advisors working across prisons in County Durham supporting prisoners with dementia and assisting rollout of dementia friends training in 

prisons 
• Ensure appropriate, specialised services are in place to support those with dementia including early onset dementia 
• Market dementia services and ensure, simple, effective communication to those living with dementia and their carers 
• Continue to Support the development of Dementia Friendly Communities across the County, including dementia friendly organisations, providers, 

employers and services 
• Recognise that dementia is a life-limiting condition and individuals with dementia need to be supported to make advance care plans as early as possible 

 

Why change is needed 

• To ensure people living with dementia and their carers are supported and receive a high quality, consistent level of service. Appropriate support, services 
and signposting are in place to ensure that people can live well in their own homes and in the community for long as possible with dementia.  

Objectives 

• People with dementia are supported to live in their own home / community for as long as possible 
• Appropriate support, signposting and services are available to people with dementia and their carers 
• Communities, public services and providers are supported to achieve dementia friendly status 

 

COVID - 19 

As with other services throughout the Pandemic, support and the availability of some services for people with dementia and their carers has changed, with the 
focus being on more virtual or digital provision being provided, this has resulted in a recognition that dementia services may continue to change both in terms 
of strategic direction, desired outcomes and methods of service delivery.  New ways of working, experienced throughout the pandemic, may lead to invest to 
save initiatives and improved future outcomes for some individuals. 

Integrated working across primary care and increased partnership working with the voluntary and independent sector has become more prevalent due to the 
pandemic, which may lead to system changes and opportunities for initiatives to be brought forward. 

The focus of providing services for people with dementia and their carers more safely will continue to remain paramount both for those receiving and those 
providing the service.  

 

 

Page 101



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Support communities to offer services for people with dementia and their carers across the County.        
Identify and address gaps in service provision around early onset dementia (under 65).        
Designated Dementia Support to work with the Prison Community.       

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Continue to promote the benefits of living a healthy lifestyle in helping to reduce the risk of developing 
dementia later in life. 

      

Continue to promote the benefits of a NHS health check, which helps identify the risk factors in 
getting certain types of dementia. 

      

3. Personalised Care  
Increase the dementia training offer for people working with dementia and their carers.        
Increase the availability of personal assistants through the Care Academy for people with dementia 
and their carers.  

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Improve service availability for people with learning disabilities and dementia, identified as an 
increasing national trend. Through both access to existing OP services, where suitable, and possible 
new / specific services. 

      

5. Children  
Support the introduction of dementia friends training in schools and colleges.       

6. Digital  
Embed Dementia Support Services within County Durham.       
Investigate possible digital initiatives that could help those living with dementia and their carers.        

7. Finance  
Identification of long-term integrated funding sources for the Dementia Advisor Service’s contract 
including sustainable funding sources for any initiatives. 

      

8. Integration  
Improve services / support for people with dementia / carers including the integration of the Dementia 
Advisor Service with primary care. 

      

Working with health, all voluntary and third sector organisations across the County to align priorities 
to achieve best outcomes for people with dementia and their carers and identify gaps in service 
provision.   

      

Embed the dementia leaflet across primary care to ensure information is given at the point of 
diagnosis. 

      

9. Cultural Change  
Potential funding to be sourced for Dementia Friendly Co-ordinator to support communities across the 
County in becoming dementia friendly. 

      

 

Initiatives 

Page 102



Ageing Well OGIM - 2021 

  

Objectives 

To work across all parts of the health and social care system to support care of the older person in order to: 

• To promote initiatives designed to enable older people to remain active and access suitable housing, transport links, community connections, 
volunteering, and employment opportunities. 

• Proactively identify those who are at risk of or who are living with frailty. 

• Promote a personalised approach to anticipatory care planning including support paid care staff and unpaid carers.  

• Promote preventative, short-term approaches and a progression approach to care delivery.  

• Ensure appropriate services, signposting and VCS resources are available to service users and/ carers, with potential opportunities to co-produce such 
services explored.  

• Achieve an invest to save solution to delivery, promoting reablement and independence and avoiding as far as possible costly long-term care.  

• Changing culture to ensure that all involved in delivering care focus on maximising a personalised approach to wellbeing, independence and quality of life 
pertinent to the individual.  

Goals 
 

To keep people happy, healthy, upright and at home for as long as possible, with a focus on wellbeing. Where an admission to hospital is needed there is a 
personalised and focused approach to interventions, returning to their usual place of residence as soon as they are medically optimised to do so. Utilise 
the FrailtyICARE toolkit I-Care (frailtyicare.org.uk) as a framework for system delivery Consistent identification of those who would benefit from anticipatory 
care planning, focusing on a ‘what matters to me’ approach  

For those in crisis a co-ordinated response is delivered to meet the persons needs at home where possible.  

• To work with community assets to promote prevention and early intervention initiatives to reduce requirements for a crisis response. 

• Short-term, preventative and rehab / reablement services are the first option for care delivery addressing physical and mental health needs. People 
are able to live at home / in the local community for as long as possible. VCS and provider markets are able to support this goal. Where long-term 
care is required, stakeholders retain a progression approach to ensure that service users are enabled to maintain independence and develop skills, 
rather than being ‘maintained’ in terms of care. This may include the development of further extra care housing in the County as a community 
alternative for those with medium and higher levels of need, and where demand supports need for this type of service. 

• Technology / digital solutions, carer support and environmental factors including suitable housing are able to contribute effectively to this goal.  

• Reablement and intermediate care / hospital discharge services continue to deliver high quality outcomes and sustain or where necessary increase 
(IC Beds) capacity across the Durham geographical footprint.  

• Equipment advice and provision and adaptions are available to support reablement and sustainable outcomes, including the provision of community 
equipment in care homes in line with the agreed policy.  

• Domiciliary care availability, coverage and quality is maintained and able to deliver a supportive approach through appropriate workforce 
development ensuring consistent staffing with appropriate skills and knowledge, with opportunities for career progression and flexibility.  The 
County Durham Care Academy to continue to focus on this area of work. 

• Day and outreach services are commissioned for all specialisms and function appropriate to the needs of the user groups  

• Integration between adult social care and community health services delivers improvements in quality and outcomes for older people and their 
carers which in turn will deliver efficiencies. A Multidisciplinary Discharge Team coordinates the personalised approach for complex discharges 
reducing errors and improving patient and carer experience embracing shared decision making at all points of the pathway. Teams Around Patients 
and Locality Teams work closely together to ensure wholistic and seamless support for patients.  

• There is a coordinated approach to the provision of training and support to care home and domiciliary care provider staff from the range of 
community health and Local Authority services that supports the quality of their care, with the County Durham Care Academy supporting this 
coordination of partner training.   

• Older People with a learning disability and/or autism are supported to live safe and healthy lives in their community.  

• Older People with a learning disability and/or autism are not subject to health inequalities.   

• Have a positive impact on pre-frailty indicators through reducing social isolation and mental ill health.  

• Enhance pathways to ensure that older people with co-existing mental and physical ill health can access evidence based care quickly.  

 

Why change is needed 

People are now living far longer, but extra years of life are not always spent in good health. They are more likely to live with multiple long-term conditions, or live 
into old age with frailty or dementia, so that on average older men now spend 2.4 years and women spend three years with ‘substantial’ care needs. To ensure 
older people are able to live happy, healthy and connected lives and are upright at home for as long as possible. To support the Ageing Well agenda so people are 
able to equitably access high quality, consistent levels of service we need to take a preventative population approach to care, utilising early recognition and 
intervention with short-term support, and signposting in delivery models to ensure an enabling approach, positive individual outcomes with a focus on wellbeing 
and sustainable budgets.  

 

Page 103

http://frailtyicare.org.uk/


 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Falls - Patients aged 65 years and over with 

moderate or severe frailty who are recorded as 

having had a fall in the preceding 12 months. 

Proportion of over 65s in care homes - Long term 
support needs of 65+ met by admission to residential 
and nursing care including mental health provision. 
 

Vacancy rates in community nursing and therapy     

Key health and care workforce vacancy rates across 

the Durham Care Partnership 

Loneliness - The proportion of people [aged 65+ 

years] who use services who reported that they had 

as much social contact as they would like. 

Hospital Admissions - Emergency hospital 

admission and readmission rates for patients aged 

65 and over including MH admissions 

Morale in community services - Morale rating for 

key health can care workforce across the Durham 

Care Partnership.  

Depression - Proportion age 65+ who have frailty 
diagnosis with a diagnosis of depression on the GP 
Record. 

Long hospital stays - Proportion of stranded 

patients in hospital (including MH hospitals): length 

of stay 7+ and 21+ days.  

GPs per capita - Number of GPs per capita of 

population 

 

COVID – 19 

Short Term  

• Ensure that critical services, including reablement and domiciliary care, are robust in terms of service delivery and able to function during the winter 

period and / or during an increase in COVID 19 cases. Contingency planning and system support in place, including continued focus by the County 

Durham Care Academy opportunities for people not in employment who may be willing to change career and work in care 

• Work with patients, carers, families and HCP to recognise where post covid syndrome may be impacting on an older person and ensure appropriate 

interventions are available.  

• Maintain close working relationships with provider to ensure a smooth and timely access to services.  

• Work with system partners to address the social isolation and loneliness experienced by older people as a result of lockdown.  

Medium Term  

• Increased urgency to test new ways of working and, in particular, reablement approaches in wider services, given the need to improve outcomes but 

also increase the pace of invest to save initiatives, given funding pressures. 

• Focus on wider system change such as improved discharge pathways and opportunities to bring forward initiatives at a time when increased 

partnership working with the voluntary and independent sector has become more prevalent due to the pandemic.  

• Recognition that demand is higher as a consequence of Covid19 at least in the shorter term and that investment is likely to be required – not just 

invest to save approaches.  

• Explore new digital solutions and technology enabled care opportunities to support service delivery and improve outcomes.  

Long Term  

• Recognition that services may change in the longer term, both in terms of strategic aims, desired outcomes and methods of service delivery, 

including a focus on the wider community assets as part of a population-based level approach. 

• Increased focus on digital services and service delivery in post-pandemic environment and acknowledgement of increase in funding pressures and 

greater urgency to transform services.  

• Careful monitoring of OGIM and associated action plans as live documents and ability to change focus to address emerging or changing pressures. 

Whilst digital and remote working can be used it is more difficult to really establish a benefit realisation of this. 

 

Page 104



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 

1. Health Inequalities  

Through a system-wide Ageing Well Strategy, reduce social isolation to prevent mental ill health 
and future frailty.  

      

Continued investment in VCS infrastructure and services to enable preventative approaches. 
Includes Public Health and mental health commissioning and interventions. 

      

Enhancing falls services to support falls prevention. Pilot new falls prevention approaches, 
potentially using extra care services initially 

      

Changes to commissioning models / specifications to ensure a focus on outcomes and wellbeing.       

Embed reablement and outcome focussed intervention approaches across the system       

Identify sustainable funding for reablement service, to ensure reablement can be offered to all 
with potential to benefit. 

      

Development of a community frailty model including Urgent Community Response and Same Day 
Emergency Care for frailty, to support the evolving Frailty FoH and complex frailty unit for patients 
at DMH, UHND & BAGH.  

      

Ensure the Acute and Complex Frailty offer is seamless with the wider community frailty work in 
community hospitals, care homes and peoples own homes  

      

Developing an in-reach model to support discharge from hospital and supporting the Home First 
community collaborative including Discharge to Assess and community virtual ward as well as 
specific clinical interventions and rehabilitation previously only available on acute sites; for 
example, but not exclusively OPAT, IV diuretics, stroke rehabilitation    

      

Recommissioning of Community Hospital/Intermediate Care/ Designated Setting Discharge Beds 
to ensure care as close to home as possible as soon as this is appropriate.  

      

Continue to develop the offer to care homes through the Enhanced Health in Care Home 
(EHiCH), Enhanced Service and also the County Durham Care Academy / supporting the 
Provider Market agenda.  

      

Support the further development of specialised palliative care services and End of Life care both 
at home and within care homes. 

      

Review housing / specialist accommodation offer the local older population, with a view to 
improving support and accommodation pathways. 

      

Review of Allied Health profession provision for example but not exclusively SALT, dietetics, 
cardiac rehabilitation, ISC Catheter, lymphoedema and osteoporosis services to support 
improved patient outcomes linked with the Primary Care Network Additional Role Reimbursement 
Scheme (ARRS). 
 

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  

Preventing loneliness and social isolation pilot – looking at indicators of pre-frailty and possible 
interventions to prevent progression including links into other community assets e.g., VCSE.  

      

Increasing participation in exercise in older people including building strength and balance. Focus 
on improving ‘activity’ provision in care homes and wider community wellbeing and leisure 
facilities, as part of the County Durham Care Academy work. 

      

Using new opportunities from the CMHF to better integrate physical and mental health care, 
increase the number of older people who are able to access community resources to improve 
their general health. 

      

3. Personalised Care  

Embed a personalised care and support approach in all aspects of provision including palliative 
care and end of life both at home at in care homes 

      

Development of a co-produced comprehensive model of personalised Anticipatory Care which 
promotes a reablement/rehabilitation approach 

      

Continue to embed social prescribing to support a bio-psycho-social model of personalised care 
and support and wider community connections. 

      

Further develop and implement the use of personal health budgets (PHBs)          

Increased uptake of PHBs for continuing healthcare patients       

Improve the support available to carers, both for their own emotional wellbeing and to help them 
in their role caring for people with mental health problems.  

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities – for further details please refer to the 
MH OGIM. 

 

As work takes place to reduce the gap in life expectancy for people with a learning disability we 
will review the community models of care and support to enable people with a learning disability 
to age well.  

      

We will continue to develop flagging systems for both SMI and LD annual health checks to 

ensure adjustments are made and appropriate interventions are in place for those people who 

have a learning disability and/or Autism and are at risk of frailty 

      

Implement improved crisis and urgent mental health care for older people.        

Ensure that crisis response whether this is predominantly a health, mental health or social care 

issue is coordinated in a timely personalised fashion being cognisant of the two hour response for 

health and four hours for mental health crisis. 

      

Embed MHSOP in the EHiCH MDT to ensure parity of care for both mental and physical health        

5. Children   

 

Initiatives 

Page 105



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart Continued  20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 

6. Digital  

Ensure the evolving IT systems within different organisation supporting older people are able to 
share key information to enable the person to tell their story once. 

      

Implementation of digital technology in care homes to support better patient care and outcomes, 
including Health Call, NHS mail roll out, electronic care plan sharing and other digital initiatives / 
opportunities through the Supporting the Provider Market agenda. 

      

Improvement and electronic sharing of Emergency Health Care Plans        

Development of Local Directory of Service functionality to ensure that all involved in care 
provision are aware of local services that are available 

      

Re-launch of mobile working for NHS community teams including smartphone rollout        

Review technology offer through strategic system groups, including review of care connect 
service and potential new delivery models 

      

Work with partners to support strategy to improve digital inclusion.       

7. Finance        

Ensure that there is continual review regarding system wide resources and mechanisms for 
prioritisation of resource allocation, focussing on areas of the highest need.   

      

Review of the Community Equipment Service provision ensuring a multi-disciplinary approach 
across all stakeholders, including a review of the care home equipment policy. 

      

Review and consider options for future commissioning of domiciliary care in terms of basing 
delivery / payment on tasks / outcomes with the improved integrated working of Health and Social 
care.  

      

Review and consider options for day services including opportunities for remodelling with a 
strengths based approach and to promote employment, volunteering, training as an alternative to 
traditional day service delivery, with a potential Invest to Save model; outcome focussed provider 
interventions including a reablement type approach to access specific employment and/or 
training. 

      

Use of new funding opportunities (including Community MH Transformation, crisis transformation, 
ARRS) to support social prescribing, mental health nurses and other roles to increase workforce 
capacity.  

      

8. Integration  

Embed integrated working between physical health, mental health and social care with mental 
health within the Teams Around Patients framework and wider community assets, including 
VCSE. 

      

Improved working between hospital and community teams including developing a multi-
disciplinary approach to the Discharge Management Team 

      

Development of integrated commissioning of nursing and residential care across health and 
social care; potential for new ways of commissioning care home services to ensure they are on a 
sustainable footing and able to deliver the quality needed within budgets for the longer term  

      

Agree and deliver plan for implantation of the Community Mental Health Framework for older 
adults with SMI. 

      

9. Cultural Change  

Recruitment and Training support to community providers (particularly domiciliary care / 
reablement, VCSE?) through Supporting the Provider Market agenda and related County Durham 
Care Academy. 

      

Aim to increase / sustain capacity and quality and enable workforce is able to shift to progression 

/ outcomes based model, including through Supporting the Provider Market agenda and related 

County Durham Care Academy. 

      

Developing understanding of the services available in the community and their ability to manage 
patients safely and effectively.  
This is vitally important for both relationships between acute and community clinicians and also 

between H&SC staff, VCSE and the public 

      

 

Page 106



 Carers OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

,,,, 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

1. Reduce instances of carer breakdown leading to a 
range of emergency service provision being required 

 

1. No of carers applying for / accessing carer breaks 1. No of carers accessing employment support 
initiatives 

2. Carers outcomes reported in the national Survey 
of Adult Carers remain above NE and England 
averages 

 

2. No of carers assisted to claim / retain benefits 2. Development of carers self-assessment tool/RAS, 
incorporating personal budgets for both health and 
social care 

3. Robust mental health support is available for 
carers, particularly in light of pandemic pressures 

 

3. Parent carer services to be consolidated and long-
term funding identified 

3. Successful re-launch of carers card / carers 
discount schemes including no of carers issued with 
this support 

 

Why change is needed 

• To ensure unpaid carers are recognised across the system and receive appropriate support, services and signposting to ensure they can manage their own 
wellbeing and maintain their caring role 
 

Objectives 

• Carers are supported in their caring role. 
• Carers are able to maintain their own health & wellbeing. 
• Carers are able to maintain unpaid care, to support the health and social care system (invest to save basis). 

 

Goals 
 

• Unpaid carers across all sectors and specialisms are able to self-identify and recognise that they have a caring role and may require support, including 
young carers / BME groups. All carers to access a carers assessment to assess their needs. Carers receive a consistent quality of service, no matter the 
care needs of the person they care for and whether they are an adult or child (acknowledging that the focus of young carer services is to protect from 
inappropriate caring and give YC’s similar opportunities to their peers, whereas adult carers is focused on maintaining their caring role). Young Carers are 
also supported in an effective transition to adult carer support services.  

 
• Carers continue to be able to access appropriate practical and emotional support to maintain their caring role and own wellbeing and are recognised and 

valued by all parts of the system; with professionals having knowledge of carer services and where to signpost, as well as knowledge of adjustments 
required for carers and how to recognise their knowledge / experience. 

 
• Health & Social Care system is able to manage increase in volume of carers, including investment in services and potential new ways of working / new 

technology to mitigate demand on resources. Increased complexity of caring roles is recognised and supported, e.g. services for ‘sandwich carers’ who 
are dealing with often competing caring roles for individuals of different generations. 

 
• Carers are able to maintain employment and are supported to do so, including engagement with employers across work sectors. Carers are no longer 

discontinuing their employment in order to care, affecting their own wellbeing, financial status and the local economy. Closer / stronger working with 
employers, Job Centre Plus, Adult Learning & Skills service etc.   

 

COVID – 19  

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on unpaid carers. Factors such as shielding, not being able to access face to face GP 
appointments, disruption to day care and respite services and an increase in caring responsibilities, all contributed to a decline in physical and 
mental health and exacerbated feelings of isolation. Specific responses have been developed to address this and funding has been provided to 
the Carer Support Services.  “Keeping in Touch with Carers” project has been set up to maintain contact and offer support to unpaid carers 
affected by the pandemic in the most high-risk groups.  
 
As we work towards recovery there will be an increased focus on carers accessing carer breaks as well as employment support for carers 
concerned about returning to the workplace and adjusting to a potentially new caring role. Supporting carers into employment is a significant 
outcome focus for Durham. This contributes to several of our strategic aims in terms of wellbeing, financial security, and cultural change. We are 
aware that this work will need to be adapted, considering the effects of the pandemic both in terms of the overall economy and the potentially 
increased demand on carers as a result of COVID-19. This could potentially result in longer timescales and changes to approaches.   
 
Carer services are also working with employers under DCC’s umbrella membership of Employers for Carers to raise awareness of issues faced 
by carers in the workplace. It is evident that methods of service delivery need to adapt and whilst some pre-pandemic face to face services will 
resume, opportunities remain for digital services to develop further and for services to help carers digitally upskill. We will also promote the 
services delivered by the COVID-19 Resilience Team County Durham. 

Page 107



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities   
County Durham continuing to improve outcomes and operate at higher standard than both north 
east and national targets in the Survey of Adult Carers in England (based on baseline from 18-19 
survey) 
 

      

Development of plan for further employment support with event for employers (including health 
and social care and SME’s) in Q2 of 2021. Revisit the possibility of additional funding for the 
Carers in Employment Coordinator.  
 

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Continued training / development of carers through Durham County Council’s Supporting the 
Provider Market Care Academy project. 
 

      

Promote the benefits of an NHS Carer health check, which helps carers look after their own health 
and recognising the risk factors associated with caring. (Such as depression, stress, high blood 
pressure and back pain). 
 

      

3. Personalised Care  
Revisit and explore the possibility of a carer’s self-assessment tool and resource allocation system 
leading to carers receiving their own personal budget.  NB:  Would involve consideration of 
services delivered under current contracts.  Explore use of carers personal health budgets. 
 

      

Promote carers involvement in personalised care and support planning.       

Continue to deliver personalised carer breaks to prevent carer breakdown.       

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Evaluate the dedicated ‘Carer Leads’ role currently working within Lanchester Road and West 
Park Hospital with a view to assessing what this means in the longer term and explore any funding 
implications or opportunities to provide this support not only in acute settings but also in 
Community Hubs.  
 

      

Evaluate the capacity of the inhouse DCCS counselling service to establish if waiting times for 
carers accessing this support can be reduced. Explore the possibility of expanding the MH 
Development and Support Worker across other parts of County Durham.   
 

      

Continue to deliver the ‘Managing Mental Health’ training for carers through the DCC Supporting 
the Provider Market project as well as continuing the various Mental Health training courses 
delivered by DCCS. 
 

      

5. Children  
Continue to work with CYPS to identify hidden young carers and to ensure delivery of the right 
services to this carer group (including carer breaks). Particular focus on school’s post pandemic.  
 

      

Monitor the services provided to Parent Carers currently delivered from adults non-recurrent 
funding as a short-term solution.  Carer services provider to continue to seek more longer-term 
funding for this group of carers with specific needs; commissioners to also consider funding 
options if required.  
 

      

6. Digital  
Continue to improve information for carers and the accessibility of the information.  Increased 
importance to delivery of information, services, and support virtually in pandemic and post 
pandemic environment. 
 

      

Improve services for carers on a practical level – marketing approaches; improved recognition; 
signposting to services such as Wellbeing for Life; support for carers in hospitals; investigation and 
adoption of new ways of working and new technology solutions. 
 

      

Develop a ‘Digital Working Carers’ app to allow carers to complete a self-assessment tool, 
providing appropriate support and signposting.  

      

7. Finance  
Carer breaks funding built into contracts for Adult and Young Carers.        
Identification of long-term integrated funding sources for the continuation of the Connecting Carers 
project including sustainable funding sources for any initiatives. 
 

      

8. Integration  
Carer provider, Durham County Carers Support (DCCS) working with employers to offer 
assistance and support to carers and employers. 
 

      

Re-launch Carers Discount scheme and carers card initiatives – including marketing and joint 
working with retail and services sector through DCCS.  
 

      

Improve services/support for carers through increased signposting and referrals to Carer Providers 
from GPs, hospitals and social services.  
 

      

9. Cultural Change  
To continue to reverse the national trend of decreasing satisfaction of carers – this is not being 
seen in Co Durham. 
 

      

 

Initiatives 

Page 108



Learning Disability and Autism OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Objectives 

There are several plans in place to improve the lives of people with learning disability and autistic people living in County Durham. The overarching aims set out in the 
County Durham Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities currently cover 5 key areas: 

• Joint Commissioning. 

• Improve understanding of needs to commission appropriate services and facilitate partnership working. 

• Improve understanding of service provision and develop the market to better meet needs. 

• Improve outcomes and quality of life. 

• Deliver Transforming care. 

The Think Autism in County Durham Strategy has six overarching aims: 

• The needs of autistic people are known and understood. 

• The workforce understands and meets the needs of autistic people. 

• Autistic people have good physical and mental health. 

• Autistic people and their families receive the right amount of support at the right time. 

• Autistic people to participate equally within their community. 

• Autistic people access aspirational employment, volunteering or learning opportunities. 

For more information, please see: Joint Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities and Durham insight Learning Disability Factsheet 

Think Autism in County Durham Strategy. 

The objective of this OGIM is to provide an overarching framework under which the various learning disability and autism workstreams in the County can align their 
activities.   

Our high level objectives for learning disabilities and autism, therefore are: 

 People can lead fulfilling lives and more people with a learning disability will have a greater say and be able to decide for themselves the way they live their 
lives and choose how they are supported. 

 Young people and their families will be supported and prepared effectively to move into adulthood. 

 More people with a learning disability and autistic people will have health concerns or unmet health needs identified early and treated effectively. 

 Autistic people can access mental health interventions that meet their needs in line with the Autism framework and Autism Act. 

 More people will be supported to live independently and safely within their own homes and community for as long as possible, having their own tenancies - or 
even have the opportunity to own a home.  

 We will also see a reduction in the number of people cared for ‘out of area’ and a reduction in the use of inpatient services and length of stay in hospital 
settings; ensuring that those with more complex needs are able to live, and be supported, locally. 

 A reduction in waiting times and a more holistic approach to the autism assessment. 

Why change is needed 

• National data suggests that 50% of people with a learning disability experience chronic loneliness. 
• County Durham has an historically low employment rate for adults with learning disabilities. 2017/18 data indicates 1.2% were in paid employment compared to 5.9% 

in the North East. 
• People with a learning disability are four times more likely than the general population to die of something which could have been prevented (Disability Rights 

Commission, 2006). 
• An estimated 8,500 (2%) of the population in County Durham have a learning disability. However only 3969 people are registered as having a learning disability with 

their GP practice. 
• Autistic people have a higher rate of mortality and of suicide than the general population does.  The average age of death for autistic people is 54 compared with 80 in 

the general UK population (Office for National Statistics). 
• People with a learning disability, often have poorer physical and mental health than other people. Research suggests that up to 70% of autistic adults have at least 

one mental health problem, with 40% having more than one. 
• Access to NHS services is often limited and people with a learning disability do not often receive the same quality service and screening opportunities as the rest of 

the population. 
• Autistic people often find it difficult to access mental health and other services due to a lack of understanding of the condition and lack of reasonably adjusted 

services.  
• The Autism Act, of 2009 aimed to ensure that autistic people had access to diagnostic assessment and equality of access to all health and community services yet in 

2020 autistic people still face inequity of access to services and unacceptable waits to obtain appropriate diagnostic assessment and treatment services within 
reasonable timescales. 

• Public Health England reports that every day about 30,000 to 35,000 adults with a learning disability are taking psychotropic medicines when they do not have the 
health conditions the medicines are for. Children and young people are also prescribed them.  

• Approximately a third of people with a learning disability, autism or both currently in hospital have been in an inpatient setting for five years or longer. 
• Only 15% of adults with a learning disability in England have a secure long-term tenancy or their own home (DH, 2016). 

Page 109

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/22062/Commissioning-Strategy-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities
https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/learning-disability/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21447/Think-Autism-in-County-Durham-Strategy


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Acute admission rates for people with a learning 
disability 

A measure of people with a learning disability being 
able to have a degree of independence 

A measure of staff vacancy rates within Learning 
Disability services 

 Patient satisfaction scores A measure of staff satisfaction 

 A measure of waiting times for assessment within 
the Learning Disability service 

A measure of the skill mix within the workforce 

 

Goals 
• Develop keyworkers for children and young people with the most complex needs and their carers/families.  
• Reduced numbers of people in specialist learning disability or autism inpatient settings.  
• The 7 keys of Citizenship are fully embedded increasing outcomes such as independence, wellbeing, choice, control and community resilience. 
• Increased focus on preventative support, early help and timely intervention, with the right information, advocacy, advice and support to help prevent/manage 

a crisis. 
• More people with a learning disability and/or autism living in their own homes receiving personalised care and support, which helps them make choices, 

maximise independence and reach their personal goals. 
• More people with a learning disability and/or, autism in paid employment as well as meaningful activity, education and training. 
• More children, young people and adults with a learning disability each year will have an annual health check and better access to health and social care. 
• To raise greater awareness of the appropriate use of psychotropic medication.  
• To reduce the number of people with a learning disability and /or autism who die prematurely unnecessarily. 
• Equity of access to community-based specialist mental health, learning disability and autism services, which includes the best care, the right accommodation 

and good provision of assistive technology and equipment. 
• To share the learning from LeDeR reviews with partners across health and social care to improve care. 

 
 

COVID - 19 

Short Term 

• Keeping people safe- people with learning disabilities are at higher risk from Covid 19 due to levels of respiratory related mortality); workforce being able to 
support people safely and practice infection control where people lack capacity, have increased anxiety/distress or have behaviours which challenge. 

• Keeping people connected and providing mental health support- increased vulnerability, loneliness & isolation during the pandemic emergency; post 
trauma among frontline staff (key workers).  

• Address backlog of clinical activity/health checks due to restrictions (e.g. health checks, autism assessments). 
• Focus targeted work on vulnerable and marginalised groups as part of COVID-19 recovery to reduce preventable inequalities. 

Medium Term 

• Respond to impact of Covid19 on mental health and wellbeing, continuity of care, bereavement, relationship management, financial resilience, changes to 
social conditions. 

• Impact on the most vulnerable communities and need to ensure equitable access to support and advice. 
 

Long Term 

• Long term impact of the socioeconomic consequences - Impact of unemployment, reduced finances, ‘austerity’, relationship breakdown. 
• Long term impact of the pandemic/lockdown/social distancing on mental health and behaviours, anxiety and fear, pressure on family carers and on the 

workforce. 
• Delays due to the pandemic in developing new services for people with learning disabilities and/or autism with complex needs; impact on the market, 

design of and financial impact on services to take into account infection control measures. 
 

Page 110



 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Improve the accuracy of people recorded on the GP LD register and increase numbers closer to estimated 2% 
population with a learning disability. 
 

      

Standardise quality and improve access to Learning Disability Annual Health Checks       
Roll out, as part of new PCN arrangements the STOMP-STAMP programmes.       
Ensure information from learning disability LeDeR reviews are analysed, learning is identified and track 
implementation of improvements to care. 
 

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Improve access to eye, hearing and dental examinations amongst children, young people and adults with 
learning disability. 
 

      

Improve access to universal services and improve services knowledge of reasonable adjustments. This includes 
health services, education, employment services, information and advice, advocacy, housing and leisure 
activities. 
 

      

3. Personalised Care  
Continue improving the personalisation of specifications for individual care packages so that they are person 
centred and provide support that is holistic. 
 

      

Scope and test Social Prescribers Link Workers involvement in offering a personalised health care plan to 
patients on the GP LD register. 
 

      

Review data and identify service gaps to improve understanding of community support options available in 
County Durham to meet the needs of people with Learning Disabilities and their family/carers as they grow older 
including improved planning and end of life care. 
 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Delivery of CTR/CETR, within timescales, to ensure adults and children and young people are supported and to 
prevent unnecessary admissions. 
 

      

Further development and implementation of the enhanced community model.       
Continue to promote and deliver Building the Right Support by reducing further the number of people in inpatient 
setting whose needs can be met in the community in their own homes. 
 

      

5. Children  
Implement increased and improved transitional support for vulnerable/complex young people to ensure they are 
fully supported during any stage of transition, including in education and health. 
 

      

Implementation of the Key Worker programme to improve care coordination and help services to communicate 
clearly with people with a learning disability and their family members and carers. 
 

      

Implementation of a needs-led neurological pathway for children and young people.       
6. Digital  
Work with Network partners to explore further developments to improve digital flagging and optimal use of 
assistive technology. 
 

      

Increase the number of learning disability residential homes who are using Health Call technology to detect early 
signs of deteriorating health 
 

      

7. Finance  
Work across our Integrated Health and Social Care system to further ensure value for money and cost effective 
commissioning frameworks in line with the Durham Joint Health and Social Care Learning Disability 
Commissioning Strategy and Autism Strategy. 
 

      

8. Integration  
Establish new supported accommodation services for people with the most complex needs.       
9. Cultural Change  
Implement and embed the 7 key principles of Citizenship; As part of the Transforming Care Delivery Network, 
Support the development of a coproduced focused programme of initiatives, which addresses: Housing, 
Employment, Personalised care and support and advocacy. 
 

      

More people with a learning disability and autistic people in paid employment as well as meaningful activity, 
education and training. 
 

      

 

 

 

 

Initiatives 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Mental Health OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Why change is needed 

ACROSS THE COUNTY 
• The North East has some of the highest rates of mental illness in England and demand is increasing, and we know that the level of mental health need is increasing 

as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown e.g. new COVID related demand, backlog of clinical activity, exacerbation and relapse of mental health 
conditions, long term impact of socio-economic consequences. We are already seeing these increases in every age group. Other factors like rise in domestic abuse 
and its impact on mental health, and increased levels of alcohol or drug misuse are also expected to rise. 

• Health inequalities exist, e.g. those with autism, or vulnerable groups such as LGBTQ+, BAME have some different needs to be supported.  Socio-economic factors 
also play a significant role in the population’s mental health and wellbeing 

• We need to make sure we can support the emotional wellbeing and resilience of key worker staff as we move out of COVID. 

• Mental health is complex, so being able to provide support in the right setting at the right time by the right person is critical to success. 

• The NHS Long Term Plan is a key driver of change, supporting development of better mental health services across the full life course.  

START WELL 
• Half of mental health problems are established by the age of 14, 75% by 24 years.   

• While the County has a good range of resources to support re know that not all systems are joint up meaning young people and their families don’t know where to 
first seek advice or support. 

LIVE WELL 
• 1 in 4 adults are diagnosed with mental ill health at some stage in their life.  

• Socio-economic factors are fundamental determinants of mental ill-health; pre-COVID, only 8% of people on Care Programme Approach (CPA) are in employment 
and predicted to rise as a result of economic downturn and increased deprivation.    

• Use of alcohol and prevalence of substance misuse is higher in those presenting with a mental health diagnosis and learning disability.   

 

Objectives 
 

There are several plans in place to improve the mental health and emotional wellbeing offer for everyone living or working in County Durham.  
The objectives set out by the Mental Health Strategic Partnership currently cover 5 key objective areas in keeping with the NHS Long Term Plan: 
 

1. Delivering the Children and young people’s Mental Health and Emotional Resilience Transformation Plan to make sure all young people and their families have 
the best start in life. 

2. Continuing to reduce the level of suicide through the Suicide Prevention Alliance. 
3. Improving crisis and urgent mental health care through the Crisis Care Concordat. 
4. Delivering the Durham Dementia Strategy.  
5. Supporting the Voluntary and Community Sector to develop and sustain resilient and connected communities that are rich in community assets.  

 
The Living Well Alliance has three key principles of: 
 

1. Recovery and staying well. 
2. Own choice. 
3. Participation. 

 
The Durham Heath Impact Assessment has additional, complementary key objective areas that promote using a system-wide approach to address: 
 

• Socio-economic factors linking to County Durham Poverty Reduction Strategy and Poverty Reduction Plan. 
• Improving mental health and emotional wellbeing via County Durham Mental Health Strategic Partnership and in line with the Approach to Wellbeing 

Framework. 
• Build resilience in community assets and community networks. 
• Promote inclusion for marginalised and vulnerable groups. 

 
Across all these areas, there is a range of cross cutting themes that will be important for us to get right to improve our mental health and emotional wellbeing offer for 
everyone living or working in County Durham.  These include. 
 

Workforce  Early Intervention and Prevention  Population based and place-based approaches  Carers and Families 
Reducing Stigma  No Wrong Door  Person Centred Care 

 
The objective of this OGIM is to provide an overarching framework under which the various mental health workstreams in the County can align their 
activities. More specific priorities for are addressed in subject-specific OGIMs, e.g. specific issues relating to the mental health needs of older people will 
be addressed in the ageing well and dementia OGIMs. 
 
Our high-level objectives for mental health, therefore, are:   
 

1. Create a system of support across the County which maximises opportunities for early intervention and prevention. 
2. Develop population and place-based approaches to provision which enable support to be tailored to community needs, and available as close to 

home as possible. 
3. Ensure those with the most complex needs, and those who are most vulnerable, get the right support at the right time. 
4. Deliver effective interventions to understand and address the wider determinants of mental ill health across the lifecourse. 
5. Have a skilled workforce across the County who are able to Make Every Contact Count and feel confident in talking to people about, and supporting 

them to get help for, their mental health problems.  
 Page 113



  

Goals 
 
Objective 1:  Create a system of support across the County which maximises opportunities for early intervention and prevention 

Start Well Goal: Transformation of children and young people’s services to improve mental health and physical wellbeing of children and families, in line with co-
produced plans developed in 2020/21. 

Live Well Goal: Reduce the premature mortality of people living with severe mental illness and autism in County Durham. 

Age Well Goal: Have a positive impact on pre-frailty indicators through reducing social isolation and mental ill health. 

Objective 2:  Develop population and place-based approaches to provision which enable support to be tailored to community needs, and available as close 
to home as possible 

Start Well Goal: Support population health management work across the County to understand specific population needs as they relate to the wider determinants of 
mental ill health. 

Live Well and Age Well Goal: Deliver a population health management approach to implementation of the Community Mental Health Framework. 

Objective 3:  Ensure those with the most complex needs, and those who are most vulnerable, get the right support at the right time, in keeping with the 
NHS Long Term Plan 

Start Well Goal: Improve availability of appropriate, evidence-based perinatal services.  

Live Well Goal: Enhance the full pathway for urgent and crisis mental health care so people can access the right care at the right time. 

Age Well Goal: Enhance pathways to ensure that older people with co-existing mental and physical ill health can access evidence-based care quickly. 

Objective 4:  Deliver effective interventions to understand and address the wider determinants of mental ill health across the lifecourse 

Start Well Goal: Increase the resilience of children, young people, and their families by promoting protective factors for mental health and emotional wellbeing as 
reflected in the CYP local transformation plan/County Durham CYP MH Plan Live Well Goal: Reduce health inequalities across County Durham as they relate to 
mental health and emotional wellbeing. 

Live Well Goal: Reduce health inequalities across County Durham as they relate to mental health and emotional wellbeing. 

Age Well Goal: Ensure an approach of 'what matters to you' is applied via all settings to support emotional wellbeing. 

Objective 5:  Have a skilled workforce across the County who are able to Make Every Contact Count and feel confident in talking to people about, and 
supporting them to get help for, their mental health problems. Ensuring workforce develops in line with the NHS Long Term Plan. 

Start Well Goal: Schools have a graded and robust offer to support children, young people and their families via a cross system response. This offer supports teachers 
and school-based staff. 

Live Well Goal: Empower the system workforce to feel confident in addressing mental health and wellbeing through MECC training, mental health first aid and suicide 
prevention training. Ensure the workforce supporting those with the most complex needs are appropriately trained in evidence-based approaches/interventions. 

Age Well Goal: Supporting a new MH workforce within primary care (all age) to address mental health, supported via the NHS Long Term Plan. 

 

COVID - 19 

COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the mental health and wellbeing of the population. An assessment of potential COVID-related demand in Durham showed that 
there were some key groups at higher risk of mental ill health as a result of the pandemic. These include: COVID-19 survivors and their families/friends, and bereaved 
families/friends; vulnerable groups impacted directly or indirectly by lockdown; frontline staff across all key worker groups; those who have had routine or other care 
delayed or cancelled; individuals and families affected by the short and longer term impact of socio-economic changes (such as changes to employment or change in 
financial circumstances); those with an existing mental health difficulty or history of trauma; people at risk of health inequalities (e.g. due to poverty, deprivation, BAME, 
access to technology or services); people with long term health conditions; people exposed to abuse/neglect/violence; those who are, or who are at risk of being, socially 
isolated (e.g. due to reduced access to education, day services, community supports, leisure, family/friends and work). 

Prevention at scale is a key theme that runs through short, medium, and long term. Ensuring support at a population level and ensuring that every contact counts is a 
key element to the COVID recovery plan for mental health and is described in more detail in the Health Impact Assessment. In summary, work has been undertaken to 
understand the immediate short-term challenges of the pandemic and work established such as identification of the most vulnerable and the establishment of resilience 
hubs accessible across the full population. While demand for specialist services initial reduced during the early stages of the pandemic, mental health demand across the 
Durham system is now back to, and in many cases exceeding, pre-COVID levels. A combination of new ways of working and new investment in the short term is helping 
to address this, and focused work is in place to manage work that could not be done remotely (e.g. autism assessments). Longer term, lessons from different ways of 
working through COVID will be built into plans for broader re-design and transformation. Specific focus has been given to the emotional wellbeing of key workers with 
Resilience Hubs and other support offers now in place.   

We must also recognise that COVID has changed some systems for the better, for example our online support offer has increased, and the pandemic has meant some 
services have come online quicker to support needs. Some of the flexible and non-stigmatising approaches developed through COVID to help people to access support 
will need to be built on in more sustainable ways through our longer term transformation and, recognising that the impact of COVID is not equal, maintaining a focus on 
supporting the most vulnerable communities will remain a key focus of this OGIM. 

 

Page 114



 

  

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 
START WELL 
• In the community I know where I can get 

support e.g. mental health and emotional 
wellbeing services for myself or my child via 
my school, local area, or where I can self-refer 
or access digital support like Kooth.  
 

• I will see suicide rates (zero ambition) and 
levels of depression in the County reduce. 

 
 

• People who support me help me to achieve 
what is important for me. They start by asking 
what’s important to me and building my plan 
around that care – this considers my 
parents/carers and others in my life such as 
teachers. 

• People who support me (workforce) help 
increase my access to low level early mental 
health support pathways within educational and 
community settings. They offer a graded 
response and trauma informed support. 
Consideration given for most vulnerable in my 
community such as LGBTQ+ and BAME. 

LIVE WELL 
• In the community I have knowledge and 

access to the right support to meet my needs. 
This means my levels of worry, anxiety and 
depression reduce as I know who to reach out 
too first. 
 

• I have the right support to make sure my 
physical health needs are met and to make 
sure that I can access appropriate screening 
programmes.  

 
 

• People who support me ensure that my needs 
are locally met in my community. This might be 
from a range of providers and supporting mine 
or local assets. 

  

• People who support me understand financial 
welfare support and the impact money worries 
can have on my health and wellbeing. 
 

• They have the necessary knowledge and skills 
to meet my needs and also understand any 
reasonable adjustments I may need (e.g. due to 
autism/sensory/communication and learning 
difficulties). 

AGE WELL 
• People who support me have been part of the 

age well strategy and are able to understand 
my support needs and give me better 
outcomes.  
 

• Staff will have access to training to understand 
this is important to me and why. All my plans 
take my personal needs into consideration. 

 

• People who support me consider all factors 
that impact on my life and ensure my health 
and social care needs are met. Helping to 
reducing loneliness and isolation supports my 
broader wellbeing. 

• People who support me in whichever setting, 
including my care home/care sector support my 
physical and mental health needs. They are 
trained and given support themselves (as key 
workers). 

 

Page 115



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INITIATIVES 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Start Well: Better understand what matters to children, young people and families to enable prioritised actions 
(relating to wider determinants) to be agreed. 

      

Live Well: Commission NECS to provide a population health management profile and shape new core MH offer 
around this. 

      

Age Well: Through a system-wide Ageing Well Strategy, reduce social isolation to prevent mental ill health and 
future frailty. 

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Start Well: Improve engagement with children and young people, parents, and carers to inform policy and service 
quality of all services including SEND. 

      

Live Well:  Increase the number of people with SMI receiving annual physical health checks.       
Age Well:  Using new opportunities from the CMHF to better integrate physical and mental health care, increase 
the number of older people who are able to access community resources to improve their general health. 

      

3. Personalised Care  

Start Well: Implement i-Thrive model.       
Live Well: Increase take up of personal health budgets.       
Age Well:  Improve the support available to carers, both for their own emotional wellbeing and to help them in 
their role caring for people with mental health problems. 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Start Well: Enhance existing perinatal service to meet 4% national target.       
Live Well: Increase access to/ capacity for evidence-based interventions for those with the most complex needs.       
Live Well:  Implement the Stamp it Out action plan to challenge stigma and discrimination.       
Age Well: Implement improved crisis and urgent mental health care for older people.       
Age Well:  new roles within primary care to support care closer to home and reduce referrals to secondary care.       
5. Children  
Start Well: Continue to increase CYP access to NHS-funded community services.       
Start Well/Live Well: Better understand the processes, systems and issues in necessary transitions, better 
understand the experiences of young people and their families and co-produce appropriate solutions for the 
system in County Durham.  

      

Live Well:  Develop a transition pathway for young people with MH issues, including CYP with complex issues 
including autism and learning difficulties. 

      

6. Digital  
Live Well: Ensure that people of all ages are part of the digital support offer, and that health inequalities include 
digital poverty. 

      

Age Well: Work with partners to support strategy to improve digital inclusion.       
7. Finance  
Start Well: The NHS Long Term Plan financial uplifts into Children and young people’s services give minimum 
spend criteria. 

      

Live Well/Age Well:  Use of new funding opportunities (including Community MH Transformation, crisis 
transformation, ARRS) to support social prescribing, mental health nurses and other roles to increase workforce 
capacity. 

      

8. Integration  
Start well:  Implement system transformation plan to improve mental health support for CYP and their 
families/carers. 

      

Start Well:  Embed and maintain a joint commissioning cycle that improves access to integrated support in 
education, health and care (SEND). 

      

Live Well: Agree and deliver plan for implementation of the CMHF for adults with SMI.       
Age Well: Agree and deliver plan for implementation of the CMHF for older adults with SMI.       
9. Cultural Change  
Start Well: Improve the connectedness of the system offer for 14–25-year-olds to maximise impact and ensure all 
young people are able to access the right support for their needs at the time. 
 

      

Live Well: Support those in crisis via a range of approaches, including community approaches and alternatives to 
NHS crisis services. 

      

Live Well:  Successfully implement new Alliance Contracting arrangements.       
Age Well:  Improve options for care closer to home for older people with mental health problems.       

 

Page 116



 Oral Health OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Reduction in the percentage of 5 year olds with 
experience of visually obvious dental decay. 

Number of early years and primary settings 
participating in the tooth brushing scheme. 

Early years providers in the 30% most deprived 
MSOAs are offered training and support as part of 

the tooth brushing scheme. 

Reduction in tooth extractions due to decay for 
children admitted as inpatients to hospital, aged 10 

years and under. 

Satisfaction with NHS dentistry. 

 

Healthy eating and oral health advice and support is 
available to all education settings via the healthy 

schools’ framework. 

Increased proportion of 12 year olds free from dental 
decay. 

Increased number of venues registered as 
breastfeeding friendly. 

Review professional skill mix in dentistry to meet the 
needs of the population (placehoder). 

 

Why change is needed 

Despite being largely preventable, tooth decay remains a significant health problem amongst young children in England; more than a quarter of 5-year-olds 
(26.8%) and 12% of 3-year-olds have experienced visually obvious tooth decay, and alongside the risks of pain and infection, this can have a wider impact on 
children’s nutrition, school-readiness, development and well-being.  

• People living in deprived communities consistently have poorer oral health. 
• Vulnerable groups are more likely to suffer from poor oral health.  
• Other risk factors include poor nutrition, high consumption of sugar and lack of access to fluoride. 
• There is an increasingly dentate older population. 

 

 

 Objectives 

• Improve the oral health of County Durham and reduce the population prevalence of dental disease.  
• Reduce inequalities in poor oral health and levels of dental decay in young children and vulnerable groups through population wide and targeted. 

approaches. This includes children who are looked after and dentate older people. 
• Help improve dietary habits, dental hygiene and use of dental services.  
• Continued increase in the proportion of 5-year-old children who are free from dental decay.  
• Undertake a review of the County Durham Oral health strategy.  

 

Goals 
 

• Promote a ‘whole school’ approach to oral health by ensuring the school environment promotes and protects oral health. 
• Continued increase in the proportion of 5-year-old children who are free from dental decay. 
• An increase in dental access and attendance for children aged 0-2 years. 
• A reduction in hospital-based tooth extraction for children, with associated economic benefits. 
• A reduction in restorative and emergency dental treatment for children attending NHS primary care dental services, with associated economic benefits. 
• A decrease in the number of missed school days associated with poor oral health, and a decrease in the number of days taken off work by parents or 

carers due to caring for children with poor oral health. 
• Increase breastfeeding initiation by 5%. 
• All Care homes to offer personal oral hygiene to clients and support them to access dental services. 

COVID - 19 

The local authority have needed to prioritise the Covid pandemic response leading to a delay of the County Durham oral health strategy review. During this 
time, the current 2015-2020 strategy will continue to be delivered where possible until the impact of the pandemic is reviewed, and a new strategy 
developed.  
The Covid pandemic has also resulted in a temporary pause in the delivery and expansion of the early years tooth brushing schemes due to infection 
control concern.  
The availability of dental appointments and increased clinic times due to essential infection prevention and control measures, has had an impact on waiting 
times.  

There has also been a pause in the progression of the County Durham community water fluoridation proposal. 

Page 117



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Increase in families accessing the dentist in 30% most deprived MSOAs.       

Increase breast feeding initiation by 5%.       

Increase breastfeeding at 6 – 8 weeks by 5%.       

Training on oral health promotion given to front line practitioners.       

Collaborate to deliver community water fluoridation and consider appropriate approaches to revenue 
costs.   

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Plain drinking water in public sector and community venues is the main drink available.       
Provide a choice of sugar free foods – including vending machines.       
Increase number of schools following national school food plan; ensure plain drinking water available 
and sugar free snacks. 

      

3. Personalised Care  
Continue to implementation of labelling dentures to reduce loss and cost of replacement. 
This is to include workforce services such as ‘extra care domiciliary providers’ (oral care plans). 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Ensure that the new County Durham Oral Health Strategy considers the specific needs of people with 
Learning Disabilities and those with Mental Health needs. 
 

      

To connect with workforce health and social work teams (e.g. social workers, integrated care teams, 
Macmillan/Palliative care services, Speech and Language Therapy teams, Harm Minimisation 
services). 

      

5. Children  
Targeted oral health promotion work for vulnerable groups; SEND and enhanced parent support 
pathway; training sessions delivered to special school support staff on oral hygiene and health 
promotion. 

      

Encourage schools to include oral health as part of the curriculum – PSHE resources easily available.       
School Nurses to promote dental access at parent sessions and to assist with dental practices 
regularly visiting schools to facilitate the uptake of dental care in targeted communities. 

      

Inclusion of oral health promotion and guidance into the healthy schools’ framework for education 
settings. 

      

Increase uptake of the healthy start voucher scheme by 15%.       

6. Digital  
Ensure that the new County Durham Oral Health Strategy considers opportunities to utilise digital 
approaches to support good oral health. 

      

7. Finance  
Include training and support in residential care homes on importance of oral hygiene and dual training 
on dementia care as part of contract. 

      

Review funding for expansion of the tooth brushing scheme to include primary schools / reception.       

8. Integration  
Align dental practices to children centre cluster areas in targeted communities, and dental practices to 
each residential care home to ensure a general dentist is available for advice/guidance. 

      

9. Cultural Change  
Breastfeeding friendly venues – UNICEF accreditation maintain status.       

Consider lobbying for national policy change, but also local implementation on tackling the promotion 
of less healthy food and drink by place and policy and introducing calorie labelling in the out of home 
sector. Consider extending the current soft drinks levy, with a local levy to the foods popular with 
children (and adults) that are high in sugar such as sugary drinks, breakfast cereals, biscuits, ice 
cream, chocolate confectionery, cakes, puddings, and sweet confectionery. 

      

 

Initiatives 

Page 118



Primary Care Networks OGIM 2021/22 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Objectives 

• PCNs to develop to full maturity 

• PCNs to deliver the Network Contract DES and associated service specifications (see below) 

• PCNs to go further than the requirements of the Network Contract DES, where possible, building upon the foundation built in County Durham, to ensure the effective co-

ordination of integrated services at 'Place'. 

• PCNs to work with partners to provide a fully integrated health and social care system without visible boundaries 

Why change is needed 

• It is estimated that around 90% of NHS contacts take place in primary care, with approximately 8,700 patient contacts per day (over 3 million per year) in general 

practices across County Durham. 

• In January 2019, NHS England published the NHS Long Term Plan setting out the overarching long-term goals for the NHS and specific changes for Primary Care 

through dissolving the divide between primary care and community-based health services.  Building on the ambitions set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View and 

The General Practice Forward View, the plan emphasises a shift of focus away from hospitals and towards community and primary care and acknowledges the 

challenges currently being faced in General Practice. 

• Primary Care Networks (PCNs) were formed in July 2019.  They are groups of GP practices, working together with community, mental health, social care, pharmacy, 

hospital and voluntary services in their local areas. 

• The expectation is that PCNs will be a key vehicle for delivering many of the commitments in the long-term plan and providing a wider range of services to patients. 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/primary-care-networks-explained  

• In February 2021, the Department of Health and Social Care published the White Paper Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and social care 

for all, which sets out legislative proposals for a health and care Bill.  Grouped around themes of working together and supporting integration; stripping out needless 

bureaucracy; enhancing public confidence and accountability; and additional proposals to support public health, social care, and quality and safety, these proposals 

represent a shift away from the focus on competition towards a new model of collaboration, partnership and integration. 

• The development and maturation of our PCNs is critical to the ambitions set by NHS England.  For our PCNs to effectively deliver their commitments it is essential that 

they flourish, with well-formed networks with strong and capable leadership, ensuring effective integration with their partners. 

Goals 
 

PCNs are the footprint around which integrated community-based teams are developed, with community and mental health services configuring their services around PCN 

boundaries.  These teams will provide services to people with more complex needs, providing proactive and anticipatory care. 

1. PCNs are required to deliver on the Network Contract DES.  This will eventually include a set of seven national service specifications:  Structured medication 

reviews, enhanced health in care homes, and supporting early cancer diagnosis are already live.  A further four will follow - anticipatory care (with community 

services), personalised care, cardiovascular disease case-finding, and locally agreed action to tackle inequalities.  To achieve delivery on these our networks will: 

a. Provide a wider range of primary care services to patients, involving a wider set of staff roles such as first contact physiotherapists, paramedics and social 

prescribers.  

b. Look at the wider health of their population, taking a proactive approach to managing population health and assessing the needs of their local population 

to identify people who would benefit from targeted, proactive support.  

c. Increase the scale of multi-agency integration to reduce health inequalities and improve our population health outcomes.  

d. Support better health through prevention and develop a culture that promotes self-care. 

e. Develop new models of proactive, co-ordinated and personalised care that promote shared decision making to ensure high quality care is delivered closer 

to home. This approach will ensure hospital stays are seen as part of a continuing relationship with care services and not an isolated episode.  

f. Ensure that patients will continue to have a named GP who is accountable for their care but may be supported and treated by another member of the 

extended multi-disciplinary team who can best meet their needs. 

g. Build on the success of their collaborative working during COVID and the COVID vaccination programme. 

2. Each PCN is being supported in their development with dedicated input from the CCG plus PCN Development funding.   

a. PCNs are utilising a Maturity Matrix, designed to support network leaders, working in collaboration with systems, places and other local leaders within 

neighbourhoods.  This will help them understand the development journey both for individual networks, and how groups of networks can collaborate 

across a place in the planning and delivery of care. 

b. The Maturity Matrix is organised in the following components: 

i. Leadership, planning and partnerships 

ii. Use of data and population health management 

iii. Integrating care 

iv. Managing resources 

v. Working in partnership with people and communities 

Page 119

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/primary-care-networks-explained


  

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Partnership Board - Primary, Community & Social Care Group 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

1. Proportion of people with a learning disability on the GP 

register receiving an annual health check 

1. National GP survey (annual) 1. Number of GPs employed by NHS (CCG level data) 

2. Increase uptake of screening programmes (breast, 

bowel and cervical) 

2. GP contract / Primary Care Network Patient 

reported access measure – measure to be confirmed* 

2. Number of FTEs, above baseline, in the Primary 

Care Network additional role reimbursement scheme 

3. Delivery of structured medication reviews 3. Patients whose care has been discussed as part of 

shared decision making 

3. Proportion of providers with an outstanding or good 

rating from the CQC for the “well led” domain 

 

COVID - 19 

SARS-CoV-2, better known as Coronavirus or COVID-19, is arguably one of the greatest public health challenges of our time – not least for general practice. Due to the 

pandemic, general practice had to change how it operates overnight. Over recent months primary care has shown an extraordinary resilience, capacity for innovation and 

ability to move quickly for our patients. We now face the double challenge of continuing to operate in a world with COVID-19 while also responding to the urgent non-COVID 

needs of our patients and their local communities.   

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted disproportionately on certain groups of our population, namely our older population; those with existing underlying health conditions 

such as diabetes and obesity; our BAME (black and minority ethnic) population and those living/working in more disadvantaged circumstances.  

COVID-19 has also had a significant impact on the way that health and care services are delivered to people in County Durham and it is likely that the impact will be ongoing 

for some time as long as COVID-19 remains a risk to health.  

As part of our response to COVID-19, we were required to mobilise some urgent system changes, based on advice from NHS England, to release clinical staff from primary 

care to work in other health settings and to support patients where needed, which included:.  

• a move to a ‘triage first’ model and greater use of online and video consultations 

• setting up COVID secure hubs, to ensure that patients with COVID could still access treatment, whilst safeguarding staff and patients 

• delivering a package of support to care homes ahead of the Network Contract Direct Enhanced Service (DES) requirements. 

To ensure that the positive transformative changes are not lost, we must take steps to lock-in these improvements moving forward. As part of our refreshed primary care 

strategy and COVID-19 recovery planning we will take into consideration the following dimensions: 

• Embedding COVID driven transformation 

• Managing the backlog of pre-COVID patients, whose treatments were delayed 

• Building resilience for future COVID waves 

• Reducing health inequalities 

• Long COVID 

Page 120



 

 

 

 

 

 

Initiatives 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 

1. Health Inequalities  

Implementation of DES service specification – Early Cancer Diagnosis         

Implementation of DES service specification – Structured Medication Review and Medicines 
Optimisation 

      

Flu and COVID 19 vaccination preparedness and addressing vaccine inequalities         

Utilisation of Population Health Management in conjunction with Public Health and other relevant 
partners to inform PCN’s understanding of population health needs 

      

Implementation of DES service specification – CVD diagnosis and prevention       

Implementation of DES service specification – Tackling health inequalities       

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  

Strengthen links between Primary Care and ICS Prevention Board and associated workstreams       

Encourage patient/public engagement to support co-production of health behaviour initiatives       

3. Personalised Care  

Full implementation of the Framework for Enhanced Health in Care Homes – seven care elements       

Primary Care input into system wide planning for recovery and preparing for future COVID waves       

Implementation of DES service specification – personalised care postponed by NHSE       

Implementation of DES service specification – anticipatory care postponed by NHSE       

Promote the ARRS Personalised Care roles, to increase uptake in PCNs, and support self-care       

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Deliver physical health checks for people with Serious Mental Illness (SMI)       

Improve accuracy of GP LD Registers for the identification and coding of patients       

Improve number of annual health checks with people living with learning disabilities       

Recruit to PCN workforce additional role – new Mental Health practitioners (adults and children & 
young people – where available) 

      

5. Children  

Support PCNs with any specific improvement projects       

Development of PCN Children's Health Visiting team       

6. Digital  

Virtual Consultation – embedding of digital solutions in line with the regional strategy       

7. Finance  

Maximise use of Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme       

Local Integration and Improvement Scheme (LIAISe) - refreshed annually to reflect local needs and 
national priorities 

      

IIF - Support primary care on implementation of work to support achievement against IIF indicators       

8. Integration  

Primary Care Workforce plan including training and development of expanded multi-disciplinary team 
working 

      

Ongoing PCN development as part of an integrated system approach, underpinned by PCN 
Development Funding 

      

Implementation of the DES service specification – Enhanced Health in Care Homes       

9. Cultural Change  

Embedding transformation post COVID, e.g. efficient and appropriate use of telephone triage and on-
line consultations 

      

Care Navigation – understand how this will fit with post COVID transformation       

Continue to support the cultural shift from separate primary, community and social care services 
towards integrated Primary Care Networks through the organisational development programme 

      

Engage with patients/public around ‘most appropriate health professional’ agenda       

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

COVID - 19 
• Short Term – through surge management and escalation continue to manage the ongoing Covid-19 demand via segregated emergency streams, both in the Emergency Department and the Acute 

Medical Units, use of isolation and cohering strategies when volumes surpass use of cubicles, as well as manage other emergency demand. 

• Medium Term – to develop and expand services to optimise capacity to cope with increasing levels of emergency demand (both Covid-19 and non Covid-19) as well sustain high levels of elective 

activity to continue to reduce backlogs and waiting times.  

• Long Term – to actively work across the system to put in place services that meet best practice standards and benchmark well nationally in terms of their environment, levels of service provision and 

staffing resource. 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 
Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Some measure of trauma outcomes See and treat within 4 hours % of units with Senior Decision Makers at the Front Door 

A&E - Percentage of Ambulance Handovers within 15 minutes Some measure of experience for frail patients Improve vacancy rate across all professions 

A&E - Time to Initial Assessment - percentage within 15 minutes Some measure of patients bouncing back Some measure of workforce happiness  

 A&E - Average (mean) time in Department - non-admitted patients  

 Hospital - Average (mean) time in Department - admitted patients  

Clinically Ready to Proceed - Could use this as a Patient Experience or Health Outcome measure, looking at the time between when they were CRtP 
and the time they were discharged or admitted onwards. Assume you would want to see the difference between these two, decrease over time. Again, 
would be at trust level using CDDFT as the County Durham trust and comparing to others in NENC. 

 

 

Why change is needed 
 
 
 

The Urgent and Emergency Care Network (UECN)has undertaken a review of the demand and capacity across the Urgent and Emergency Care Pathways to better inform winter planning for 2021/22. This has 
enabled the Commissioner and CDDFT to identify key areas to be considered to further develop and improve winter planning across the system improving flow and supporting delivery of the A&E.  
Analysis of the data has highlighted that the locality has a unique set of challenges around; - demand management, patient flow and capacity within health and social care services.  Further to this work County 
Durham CCG and CDDFT in partnership are developing a new UEC strategy – a condensed version, using this OGIM as the action plan to deliver their objectives. 
 
Prior to the pandemic which began in March 2020, the level of attendances has continued to grow to unprecedented volumes not seen before, along with ambulance attendances. 
To manage the flow of patients, those commissioning services need to ensure availability of the right quantity of specific type of services as well as understanding patient care needs at the point of discharge.  
 
The report suggests that health and care systems regularly review the impact of both intended and unintended outcomes, the best outcomes for patients are only likely to be achieved when health services and care 
services are working collaboratively to deliver the best outcomes for patients. In County Durham we work together as a system called County Durham LADB – this trust board has its own set of local initiatives to meet 
the standards. The LADB local board reports to the UECN which has its own overarching objectives working together as a system and across the ICP areas.  Country Durham is part of central ICP and includes South 
of Tyne and Sunderland CCGs and Trusts. 
 

Reviewing urgent and emergency care standards  
The Review proposed the replacement of the current 4-hour A&E waiting time standard with a new set of performance measures which better reflect the contribution of the whole urgent and emergency care system to 
A&E performance. They shift the focus onto whole system demand management; exit block” from A&E; ensuring the sickest and most urgent patients are given priority over patients approaching an arbitrary 4-
hour A&E deadline; measuring when an A&E patient is ‘clinically ready to proceed’ compared to when they actually leave A&E.   

 

Service Measure 

Pre-hospital 

Response times for ambulance 

Reducing avoidable trips (conveyance rates) to Emergency Departments by 999 ambulances 

Proportion of contacts via NHS 111 that receive clinical input 

A&E 

Percentage of Ambulance Handovers within 15 minutes 

Time to Initial Assessment - percentage within 15 minutes 

Average (mean) time in Department - non-admitted patients 

Hospital 
Average (mean) time in Department - admitted patients 

Clinically Ready to Proceed 

Whole System 
Patients spending more than 12 hours in A&E 

Critical Time Standards 
 

 

 
What has changed since March 2020? 

During the peak of the Covid-19 pandemic, the level of patients attending UEC reduced significantly, with approx. 30% less attendances that pre Covid-19, during this period, acute response performances were 
consistently over 95%. Following Wave 2 activity has consistently increased and is now at an all-time high with UHND activity up 18% (June 21 compared to June 19) and DMH is up 5% (same period). It is paramount 
that elective care continues throughout the year to deal with significant backlogs therefore there needs to be sufficient acute capacity to maintain both elective and non-elective pathways running simultaneously. Quite 
often elective activity is sacrificed for non-elective demand pressure during periods of surge and winter pressures. 

Objectives 
• To develop a condenses Urgent and Emergency Care strategy using this OGIM an action plan to delivery. 

• Implement the ICP winter plan initiatives  

• To achieve the right balance of UEC service provision; to meet growing demand; ensure fairness in equity in access; and is appropriately responsive. 

• To develop effective communications to help patients and public navigate UEC services to enable them to obtain the right service for their clinical need recognising there are a range of choices when it comes to 
UE&C services as there are multiple access points, our objective is to education to public around what to do if you are unwell and signpost patients to the most appropriate service for their health needs ensuring 
A&E is only used for those most in need of urgent /emergency services. 

• England will be covered by a 24/7 integrated urgent care service, accessible through NHS 111 or online.  

• All hospitals with a major A&E department will:  
o Provide same-day emergency care services at least 12 hours a day, 7 days a week. 
o Offer an acute frailty service for at least 70 hours a week, working towards achieving clinical frailty assessment within 30 minutes of arrival. 
o Aim to record 100% of patient activity in A&E, urgent treatment centres and same-day emergency care services through an emergency care data set. 
o Test and start implementing the new emergency and urgent care standards from the Clinical Standards Review.  
o Further reduce delayed transfer of care, in partnership with local authorities.  
o By 2023, the clinical assessment service will usually be the single point of access for patients, carers and health professionals for integrated urgent care and discharge from hospital care 

• Work with all tertiary service to improve patient pathways for example the Urology pathway. 

Goals 
 

To achieve safe and responsive 24/7 urgent and emergency care made up of a comprehensive range of services: 

• Urgent access to primary care illness and injury services in the community, effective triage, and signposting services (i.e., NHS 111 online, NHS 111 Clinical Assessment Service, Clinical Advice Lines in secondary 
care), timely emergency/crises response services including ambulance, community and mental health crises, robust acute emergency, and trauma care.  

• To have in place real-time and accurate intelligence and information datasets to inform surge responses, forecasts, and future planning. 

• Adults, children, and young people experiencing mental health crisis will be able to access the support they need – single point of access through NHS 111, access to crisis care 24/7 and intensive follow-on to reduce 
future use. 

• Ambulance services, to be at the heart of urgent and emergency care system, providing timely responses and patients treated at home or in more appropriate care settings outside of hospital.  Ambulance staff will also 
be trained and equipped to respond effectively to mental health crisis, including mental health transport, mental health nurses available for ambulance EOC, and mental health training for front-line crews. 

• Improved responsiveness of community health crisis response services to deliver the services within two hours of referral in line with NICE guidelines.  

• All parts of the country delivering reablement care within two days of referral. 

• Enhanced health in care homes – upgrade NHS support to all care home residents who would benefit by 2023/24. 

• Evaluate Primary care Extended Access Services and continue to integrate with secondary care.  

• All hospitals with a major A&E department are required to have enhanced models of Same Day Emergency Care for at least 12 hours a day, every day, in both medical and surgical specialties; and provide an acute 
frailty service for at least 70 hours a week achieving clinical frailty assessment within 30 minutes of arrival.  

• Implement the findings of the Clinical Standards Review to focus on patients with the most serious illness and injury. 

• Extending digital services beyond care homes to vulnerable patients in their own homes 

• Appropriate approaches to self-management to be considered by the Personalised Care Steering Group that may positively impact on UEC services 

Urgent and Emergency Care 

Page 123



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  
Continue to utilise local and national data to understand local variation in use of hospital-based services and 
access to treatment 

     

Increase the proportion of people that are treated and discharged on the same day by meeting the new national 
guidelines for same day emergency care 

     

There is an expectation that once the findings of the Clinical Standards review are finalised, any required 
changes to reporting and monitoring will be implemented. Shadow monitoring to be agreed and introduced. 

     

Work with Primary Care Networks to understand variation in their population’s use of health services      
Intelligent conveyancing      
2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  

      
3. Personalised Care  
Appropriate approaches to self-management to be considered by the Personalised Care Steering Group that 
may positively impact on UEC services 

     

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Continued delivery of Core 24 standard Liaison Psychiatry Service and build on offer to include High Intensity 
User and discharge support - liaison psychiatry KPI as one of the outcomes 

     

Continue to work together with TEWV, Mental Health partner on the Concordat delivery plan e.g., safe havens, 
development of children’s and OP crisis teams, establishment of MH Support line, and the MH NEAS car as 
alternatives to admission (either to MH wards or A&E attendance 

     

5. Children  
Orange Book: 
Work with Acute Trusts and neighbouring CCGs to develop the Little Orange Book App to support families with 
young children to access the most appropriate health care at the right time.  Delivery by March 2022.  On 
schedule. 

     

Evaluate Paediatric emergency department and urgent care model (look to have direct access to Paeds instead 
of via ED) 

     

Ensure the Paeds service meets the expected demand for increased RSV cases exploring opportunities to work 
closely with primary care in an integrated way. 

     

6. Digital  
Development and implementation of a solution to enable compliance with the Emergency Care Data Set 
database. Approval agreed to progress with IT solution during Quarter 3 to be in place for 2020/21 which will 
help the urgent and emergency care system to understand capacity and demand which will in turn improve 
patient care 

     

Support continues to implement the Little Orange Book App      
7. Finance  
Continue to focus on increasing planned care and decreasing use of unplanned care wherever possible to 
ensure most efficient use of resources 

     

8. Integration  
continue to embed the Clinical Advice Line to provide urgent advice to GPs      
Clinical Assessment Service support NHS111 to provide a clinically backed service which now includes GPs 
24/7. This works alongside GP out of hours services across all County Durham and Darlington with direct 
booking access is in place. 

     

Supporting streaming from A&E to primary care where appropriate to ensure people are seen in the most 
appropriate service to meet their needs - TBYW 

     

All TAPs and the overnight services together ensure that in a crisis response service is accessible for adults 
experiencing a sudden change in their physical health condition to prevent avoidable hospital admission. The 
service is accessed through a single point of access (C3) and includes patients presenting in the ED department 
at UHND.  This service is to be expanded to NEAS, starting in quarter 2 of 2020/21. 

     

NEAS pathfinder to be rolled out to County Durham utilising the single point of access. Requires ongoing 
training of staff within NEAS 

     

Review of UTC provision /models aligned to demand supporting integration with primary car e- implement 
Durham Day time urgent care service and GP support front of hour to stream patients away 

     

Work together with CD CCG to develop a Long-term model/ solution to patient transport      
Support the UECN to feed in place-based information to produce a regional analysis of ‘System Balance’ using 
the John Bolton approach and report the findings to the Operational Board. These findings will identify gaps / 
blockages in current pathways leading to reduced flow and recommend mitigating actions. 

     

Robust tertiary pathways – work with tertiary providers to ensure a simple patient onward referral pathway for 
example Urology 

     

Enhance SDEC implementation and evaluate - Identify what is going through ED which has SDEC potential and 
opportunity to expand existing pathways and explore new pathways – ensure SDEC profile via the DOS before 
winter surge 

     

Implement a Single point of access for all ED attendances and explore bringing the SPA and Discharge Teams 
together into a patient management hub managing all admissions and discharges 

     

Ensure effective surge and escalation processes are in place – surge capabilities assessment of all partners (in 
the ICP) – also linked to first one 

     

Ensure pathways are in place to provide a 2hr community response and a 2-day enablement service in line with 
guidance 

     

Support the implementation of Shotley Bridge UTC      
work together with PCN (super practice models) to integrate services and provide out of hospital services where 
appropriate 

     

Support the LA to spot purchase Designated beds (for COVID)      
9. Cultural Change  
Continued engagement with the public regarding accessing appropriate services suitable to meet needs, 
including use of 111 

     

HI dashboard creation and use of them to inform plans/ UEC design      
Continue to implement and evaluate the TBYW model – always streaming all non-emergency pts away from ED      
10. Additional  
Explore the value of social prescribing link workers to be based in A&E for those people who attend with social 
issues (non-medical)? 

     

Implement and monitor the New ED measure bundle and latest ECDS implementation      
Support the delivery of the Urgent Emergency care network delivery plan      
Support the restart 'The management of Long-Term Conditions in Primary Care'      
Support Primary Care to improve same day appointments in including F2F assessments where appropriate. 
Also develop overflow clinics in North Durham to level up with the rest of County Durham CCG 

     

 

Initiatives 

Page 124



Digital OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Why change is needed 

• Data: The NHS is made up of hundreds of separate but linked organisations, and the burden of managing complex interactions and data flows between 
trusts, systems and individuals is vastly time consuming. Investing in data interoperability gives the opportunity to release time and resources to focus on 
clinical care and health promotion. 

• Technology: is a significant part of our everyday lives improving the way we socialise, shop and work. It also has great potential to improve how the NHS 
delivers its services in a new and modern way; providing faster, safer and more convenient care. 

• Users of services frequently tell us they have to repeat their stories because our digital systems don’t talk to each other; professionals working within 
services frequently tell us that things would be better if they could access a full clinical record  

Objectives 

• To enable the delivery of high quality, easily accessible and efficient health and care services to local population through digital solutions. 
• To enable the local system to understand and measure system performance and impact of change/transformation 

 
 

Goals 
 

• Flow of data between provider and commissioning organisations for the provision of better patient care and population health management and to support 
research.  

• Shared data flows and information management systems to support new methods of performance management across systems, eg the new 4 week waiting 
time access standard for mental health services or measurement of the impact of transformation programmes 

• Providers must submit Emergency Care datasets on a daily basis (as currently mandated)  
• Secondary care provides will be fully digitised including clinical and operational process across all settings, locations and departments   
• Increase the digital maturity of all health and care organisations.  
• Digital solutions across the system (all parts of the NHS, Local Authority, VCSE, independent sector partners) are robust and adhere to core standards set 

across interoperability, accessibility, cyber security and key quality standards achieved in collaboration with our partners 
• Patients are empowered to manage their health, access services and view their clinical information using digital solutions. These solutions are provided in 

addition to the current methods of accessing health and care services.  
• Patients/service users no longer need to repeat their stories 
• Timely information to ensure seamless transfers of care for patients 
• Improve access to contemporaneous medical records at the point of care by providing mobile devices and digital services to clinicians  

 

COVID - 19 

• Provide and maintain digital equipment, software and connection for vaccination clinic 
• Promote and develop appointment booking systems for patients 
• The Health Impact Assessment of COVID in County Durham undertaken in the summer of 2020 highlighted a number of issues specific to the pandemic 

in relation to digital poverty/digital solutions.  This included: 
 With school closures, online learning environments usually required computers and a reliable internet connection – for children from low-income 
families or living in more rural areas where Wi-Fi connections are poor, this made home schooling challenging and for many impacted on the 
emotional wellbeing of the child and/or parents 
 The significant shift to online health consultations (through GPs, secondary care providers and others) led to challenges for people with learning 
disabilities in access to digital technology, consent and capacity, communication, digital exclusion etc, which in turn had a mental health impact on 
people with learning/intellectual difficulties and their families/carers 
 Digital mechanisms were used to engage people through the National Probation Service, but there was a risk this caused inequities in their ability 
to access health and social care support through lack of access to suitable equipment 
 Conversely, the rapid increase in use of digital technology and social media has helped people stay connected with loved ones and given the 
opportunity to retain contact with educational settings, NHS provision, support services and workplaces.  The ability to innovate and integrate 
approaches to the delivery of care through digital methods and shared practice has accelerated the pace of change for new ways of working which 
can be maximised to move system-wide approaches into the new normal 

Page 125



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Expand the rollout of telehealth solutions including Healthcall       

Delivery of the Veteran Health Armed Forces Directory. Expansion of social prescribers' remit to 
include a focused approach to veteran support and wellbeing including appointment of Armed Forces 
Social Prescriber Lead. 

      

Review of community directory information provision to ensure that people have access to robust 
advice/information to enable them to live healthy and independent live in their local community 

      

Live Well:  Resolve data sharing/interoperability issues in order to shape the new core mental health offer 
around  the  population health management profile commissioned from NECS  

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Introduce primary care referral process to community pharmacies to expand patient choice and local 
support available to the population 

      

3. Personalised Care  
Development of a digital shared care record through the implementation of a Health Information 
Exchange and Patient Engagement Platform 

      

Expansion and promotion of the NHS App, online consultations and GP Online services, which 
provide a secure way for citizens to access digital NHS services such as 111 and GP record, 
appointment booking and vaccination history. 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Expansion of the ERS system to include mental health referrals       
Live Well: Ensure that people of all ages are part of the digital support offer, and that health 
inequalities include digital poverty 

      

Age Well: Work with partners to support strategy to improve digital inclusion       
Develop and agree an approach to achieve data interoperability and robust information sharing 
across the system to support delivery of the community mental health framework and emerging 
system performance management requirements (eg the new mental health 4 week waiting time 
standard) 

      

5. Children  
Use digital functionality to improve the sharing of child protection information across health and care 
settings 

      

Work with Acute Trusts and neighbouring CCGs to develop the Little Orange Book App to support 
families with young children to access the most appropriate health care at the right time.  Delivery by 
March 2022.  On schedule. 
 

      

Long term national plan to extend the CPIS to cover all health care settings including GPs by 22/23       
Development of single point of access for early help activity for Durham Children to enable partners to 
share relevant work with children and families to help enable improved oversight, co-ordination of 
work and targeted interventions where required. 

      

Improved electronic information sharing for Looked After Children to include the enablement of 
electronic sharing of agreed data for individual children to support health assessments by CLA 
Nurses in CDDFT 

      

Development of systems to support improved electronic sharing of data for Education, Health and 
Care Plan processes and performance management. 
 

      

6. Digital  
Continued expansion of more efficient, electronic medication ordering for all care home residents       
Ensuring relevant clinical information is available to clinicians in nursing homes and hospices       
Mobile devices with remote access software installed will be available to primary care clinicians       
Ensure that the implementation of all digital solutions meet current standards and requirements with 
regards to interoperability 

      

7. Finance  
Working with Healthwatch and DFPC funding to support development to primary care websites which 
will improve accessibility and signposting for patients  

      

DFPC funding to support expansion and improvements in primary care telephone systems which will 
improve accessibility to patients 

      

ETTF funding to provide equipment to support remote/video consultations, offering patients choice 
and improve accessibility 

      

8. Integration  
Ensure that the implementation of all digital solutions meet current standards and requirements with 
regards to interoperability, accessibility and cyber security 

      

Improve the transfers of care process using functionality such as FHIR and ERS       

9. Cultural Change  
Develop a communications strategy to support the engagement of patients in the use of digital 
solutions 

      

Develop established relationships with digital teams across the ICS in primary care, social care and 
all provider trusts. 

      

Develop and expand electronic systems to support signposting for patients away from emergency 
departments 

      

 

Initiatives 

Page 126



Personalised Care OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Why change is needed 

• Whilst the health and care system has been changing, the population itself has also changed. People are living for longer with more complex health and care needs. The 
focus on hospital-based, disease-based and self-contained “silo” curative care models undermines the ability of health systems to provide universal, equitable, high-quality 
and financially sustainable care. People are often unable to make appropriate decisions about their own health and health care, or exercise control over decisions about their 
health and that of their communities. 

 

 

Objectives 

• People have choice and control over the way their care is planned and delivered, based on ‘what matters’ to them and their individual strengths, needs and preferences. 
This happens within a system that supports people to stay well for longer and makes the most of the expertise, capacity and potential of people, families, and communities 
in delivering better health and wellbeing outcomes and experiences. 

• Whole-population approaches to support people of all ages and their carers to manage their physical and mental health and wellbeing, build community resilience, and 
make informed decisions and choices when their health changes. 

• A proactive and universal offer of support to people with long-term physical and mental health conditions to build knowledge, skills, and confidence and to live well with their 
health conditions.  

• Intensive and integrated approaches to empowering people with more complex needs to have greater choice and control over the care they receive. 
• Personalised Care will benefit up to 2.5 million nationally people by 2024, giving them the same choice and control over their mental and physical health that they have 

come to expect in every other aspect of their life. 
 

 

 

Goals 
 

• Empowering people, integrating care, and reducing unplanned service use through proactive case finding using population health management approaches, personalised 
care and support planning through multidisciplinary teams, and personal health budgets and integrated personal budgets. 

• Supporting people to build knowledge, skills, and confidence to live well with their health conditions through proactive case finding and personalised care and support 
planning through General Practice. Also ensuring support to self-manage by increasing patient activation through access to health coaching, peer support and self-
management education. 

• Educating and inspiring health and care professionals to deliver universal personalised care that takes into account an individual’s strengths, needs and expectations, in 
order to deliver the right care for them. 

• Supporting people to stay well and building community resilience, enabling people to make informed decisions and choices when their health changes through 

1. Shared decision making. 
2. Personalised care and support planning. 
3. Enabling choice, including legal rights to choice.  
4. Social prescribing and community-based support. 
5. Supported self-management.  
6. Personal health budgets and integrated personal budgets.  
 

COVID – 19 

The role of personalised care within recovery from the pandemic is set out within the 21/22 Operational Planning Guidance and builds upon the expectations within both the 
NHS Long Term Plan and the Universal Model of Personalised Care. Specifically, the requirements for 21/22 are; 

• Implementation of personalised stratified follow up (PSFU) pathways in three additional cancer types (ensuring the implementation of at least one by March 2022), in 
addition to breast, prostate and colorectal cancer. 

• Implement the seven immediate and essential actions from the Ockenden report to make maternity care safer, more personalised, and more equitable. This also 
includes the requirement from the Long-Term Plan to provide every woman with a personalised care and support plan, implementing all elements of the Saving 
Babies' Lives care bundle. 

• Implement population health management and personalised care approaches to improve health outcomes and address health inequalities within primary care, 
utilising real-time data tools and techniques used during the vaccination programme. This also includes the use of person-centred segmentation and risk stratification 
to identify at-risk groups, those with the greatest health inequalities or the most complex needs, and those awaiting multiple appointments. This will be supported by 
recruitment to three additional roles funded through the ARRS: Social Prescribing Link Workers, Health and Wellbeing Coaches, and Care Coordinators.  

• Continue to meet the needs of people with Covid-19 through the integration of Personalised Care approaches and supporting people within the Post/Long Covid 
pathway. 

• Implement the personalised care learning from the Elective Recovery Accelerator Programme to support elective recovery, including within the 'wait-well' approach to 
enable people to be well prepared for their surgery and to maximise recovery, and supporting Outpatient transformation, including the implementation of Patient 
Initiated Follow Up (PIFU). 

• Embed social prescribing within mental health pathways to ensure people are connected to community assets for practical, social and emotional support for their 
mental health. 

• Embed whole model personalised care approaches within children and young people’s mental health services and utilise whole model personalised care approaches 
to support children and young people with learning disabilities and/or autism, who are at risk of institutionalised care to remain in their communities. 

• Develop and implement a Proactive Care @home pathway for one of more priority long-term conditions, which must include hypertension (Blood Pressure @home) 
and embed personalised care within the pathway. 

All of these requirements are reflected within the relevant OGIM or detailed here within the Gantt chart.  

 

 
Page 127



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Implement population health management and personalised care approaches to improve health 
outcomes and address health inequalities within primary care, utilising real-time data tools and 
techniques. 

      

Rolling out the ‘Ask 3 Questions’ or ‘BRAN’ across the health and care system within County Durham 
to support Shared Decision Making and reduce the risk of surgical regret. 

      

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Integration of Shared Decision Making approaches within the renewal of the NHS Health Check 
service, including use of evidenced based decision support tools to address unhealthy behaviours. 

      

3. Personalised Care  
12,000 people, including those with long term conditions and people at the end of life and pregnant 
people supported by personalised care and support planning by 2023/24. 

      

Full compliance with The NHS Choice Framework.       
Shared Decision Making embedded in 30 high-value clinical situations in primary and secondary care, 
and at the interface between these, by 2023/24. 

      

Patient Activation Measures (PAM) to be incorporated into outpatient setting for a minimum of 5 
clinical specialities with staff trained in the administration of PAM. 

      

Proactive and personalised care planning undertaken for everyone identified as being in their last 
year of life. 

      

By 2021, where appropriate every person diagnosed with cancer will have access to personalised 
care, including needs assessment, a care plan and health and wellbeing information and support. 

      

People who are off work for more than four weeks will receive personalised care plans to manage 
their condition in work, with reasonable adjustments where needed. 

      

Develop and implement a proactive NHS @home pathway for hypertension/blood pressure @home, 
pulse oximetry @home, and heart failure @home, ensuring personalised care is embedded within the 
pathway. 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
To ensure that all approaches to personalised care consider the needs of people with learning 
disabilities and mental health needs. 

      

Improved community capacity to enable more people to receive personalised care, closer to home, to 
reduce a reliance upon inpatient care. 

      

5. Children  
To ensure that appropriate use of personalised care approaches are applied in services for children 
and young people. 

      

To ensure that all children in receipt of Children's Continuing Care are offered a Personal Health 
Budget. 

      

Develop a process for approval of Personal Health Budgets for children and young people who have 
an Education, Health and Care Plan. 

      

6. Digital  
100% of elective referrals exercising choice through e-RS by 2023/24.       
Develop digital solutions to support the @home service.       

7. Finance  
1,600 Personal Health Budgets in place in County Durham by April 2021.       
All wheelchair provision to include a Personal Wheelchair Budget offer.       
All people receiving home-based Continuing Health Care by April 2020 will have a Personal Health 
Budget (approx.320). 

      

8. Integration  
Recruitment of Social Prescribing Link Workers in each Primary Care Network by April 2021.       
14,500 referrals to Social Prescribing by 2023/24.       

9. Cultural Change  
1,200 staff within the County Durham health and care system undertaken professional skills training 
in Personalised Care by 23/24. 

      

Train a minimum of 8 people with lived experience to become system leaders in conjunction with the 
Peer Leadership Academy by 2023/24. 

      

 

Initiatives 

Page 128



Population Health and Prevention OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Objectives 

• Development of an integrated local system with population health management capabilities, which support the design of new integrated care models for 
different patient groups, in alignment with the strategic priorities set out with the County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy of 

 Working with communities to develop targeted strategies to provide better support for vulnerable population groups, for example those with learning 
disabilities, autism, or BAME (including GRT) communities. 

• Improved incidence and prevalence of key protective factors including 
 smoke-free lungs and living environments. 
 promoting healthy behaviours including active living, limiting alcohol intake, and healthy diets. 
 effective and equitable uptake of screening and immunisations. 
 appropriate use of medicines. 

Goals 
 

• Strong Primary Care Networks and integrated teams with clear plans to deliver the service changes set out in the Long-Term Plan to; 
 Reduce inequalities and unwarranted variation in health outcomes through stronger action by the NHS working with Durham County Council and key 

stakeholders. 
 Developed system architecture, with clear arrangements for working effectively with all partners and involving communities, as well as strong system 

financial management and planning (including a way forward for streamlining commissioning, and clear plans to meet the agreed system control total 
moving towards system financial balance). 

 A move from reactive care towards a model of NHS and Social Care services that embody active population health management, through the Durham 
Wellbeing Model. 

 

COVID - 19 

In March 2020 at the early stages of the Covid 19 global pandemic, Durham Council partnered with NECS to adopt a Population Health Management 
(PHM) approach to support the Covid19 response. The challenge was to use PHM to: 

• Identify patient cohorts by level of vulnerability and risk of severe Covid19 disease and complications, as well as the indirect impacts of the social 
distancing and lock down measures. 

• Utilise insight and intelligence to target the most vulnerable with a range of care, welfare, and well-being support through the local community hub. 
 

The approach was supported by the North East & North Cumbria Integrated Care System (NENC ICS) Population Health Management steering group. 
The PHM approach combined medical and social vulnerability intelligence to identify patients and residents who had a greater risk of severe Covid19 
disease and ensure they were provided with the right support. The support arrangements included the implementation of the Government advice on social 
distancing, isolation and shielding.  

The County Durham and Darlington Health, Welfare and Communities Recovery Group initiated a rapid Health Impact Assessment (HIA) on health 
inequalities to provide a ‘snapshot’ insight into the impact of Covid lockdown during the recovery and restoration phase of the pandemic. An HIA is a 
combination of procedures, methods, and tools by which a policy, programme or project may be judged as to its potential effects on the health of the 
population and the distribution of those effects within the population. The Assessment’s recommendations support all sectors in ensuring community 
voices and assets are considered in organisational recovery plans. 

The PHM approach has enabled the Durham Health System to explore other opportunities where integrating data and developing deeper intelligence and 
insights into the population can support the development and delivery of integrated interventions. These include the following:  

a. Using the PHM approach and population stratification to inform reset of services as well as the development of the local Covid19 recovery plans 
across the system. 

b. Modelling of the mental health impact of Covid19 by applying planning scenarios to the different vulnerable populations (including recognising 
multiple vulnerabilities) and using this to inform the identification and delivery of targeted early intervention. 

c. Using PHM to understand the health and well-being issues for children and young people as part of the Growing Up In Durham programme.  
d. Exploring the use of PHM to help inform the NHS and wider health system operational reset and winter plans for the coming year.  
e. Using PHM to further understand the mortality profile for Covid19 and non-Covid19 deaths during the pandemic and using the information for future 

planning for subsequent waves of the pandemic. 
f. Using PHM approach to understand flu immunisation uptake and to inform plans for improving uptake for the coming winter as well as in the 

delivery of the covid19 vaccination programme. 

The development of the County Durham Outcomes Framework will provide the County Durham Care Partnership Executive with a suite of metrics framed 
within the Triple Aim that enables a greater understanding of system performance and the interdependence, which will support the targeting of investment 
to reduce health inequalities where these are identified either benchmarked nationally, or within County Durham between Primary Care Networks.  

 

Why change is needed 

• Delivering service transformation of the scale set out in the NHS Long Term Plan requires a well-developed system and effective underpinning 
infrastructures. Over the next five and ten years the NHS will progressively increase its focus on prevention and closing the gap in inequalities in health and 
unwarranted variation in care is at the centre of all our plans. 

• The approach to support this aim is Population Health which is aimed at improving the health of an entire population through the reduction in the occurrence 
of ill-health, including addressing wider determinants of health, and requires working with communities and partner agencies. 

• Population Health Management (PMH) improves population health by data driven planning and delivery to achieve maximum impact. It includes 
segmentation, stratification and impactability modelling to identify 'at risk' cohorts, and in turn, designing and targeting interventions to prevent ill-health and 
improve care and support for people with on-going health conditions, and reducing variations in outcomes.  

 

Page 129



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
PCNs provided with Health Analytics from NECS to identify unwanted variation at a locality level, 
drawing upon multiple data sources including NHS RightCare.  

      

To develop and implement the PHM approach for all PCNs building on the learning from the Wave 2 
National programme and the local PCN PHM support. 

      

Integration of the Durham Wellbeing Model in all system planning and operational delivery.       

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
To work with the Director of Public Health and their team to further develop and implement PHM approaches in 
County Durham to reflect on the local priorities, infrastructure, and existing work programmes. 

      

Implementation of the alcohol Identification and Brief Advice (IBA) scheme in Primary Care to support PCNs in 
a targeted PHM approach to the recording and implementation of the scheme. 

      

3. Personalised Care  
All initiatives identified as a result of addressing health inequalities to consider and implement 
appropriate Personalised Care strategies including population segmentation (patient activation) and 
shared decision making to address unhealthy behaviours and target interventions where most impact 
can be delivered. 

      

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
See MH & LD chapter.       

5. Children  
See Maternity and CYP chapter.       

6. Digital  
Development of the County Durham Outcomes Framework– a system-wide performance framework 
that is based upon the Triple Aim of 1) Health Outcomes 2) Patient Experience 3) Workforce, with a 
RADIR dashboard and associated analytical reporting.  

      

Integrated data flows between Primary and Secondary Care.       
Integrated data flows between primary, secondary, community and mental health care for direct 
patient care and care redesign.  

      

Full flows of data from all health and social care sources available for direct care and care planning, 
including demonstrable efforts to link patient level information on wider determinants (housing, 
unemployment, income etc).  

      

7. Finance  
Integrated Governance arrangements further developed to support integrated working across the 
system that supports strong system financial management and planning. 

      

8. Integration  
Single PCN / TAP operational plans and governance frameworks.       
Integrated Commissioning Team established between County Durham CCG and Durham County 
Council. 

      

9. Cultural Change  
Use of population health approaches to shift cultural thinking in health and social care provision from 
a reactive illness model of care to a proactive and targeted preventative model, through supporting 
the ICS workstreams to achieve their priorities through adopting a PMH lens.  

      

 

Initiatives 

Page 130



Shorter Waits OGIM - 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Triple Aim Outcome Measures 

Health Outcomes Patient Experience Outcomes Workforce Outcomes 

Waiting List Mortality. Reduction in 18 & 52 Week Waits for CDDFT / CCG. Consultancy Vacancy Rates / No of Fragile Services. 

Waiting List Morbidity. Advice & Guidance. Staff Competent & Confident Utilising A&G. 

Effective System of Patient Prioritisation. Patient Experience of Remote Consultation. Staff Competent & Confident in Digital Consultations. 

 

Objectives 

• Maximise available physical and workforce capacity across each system (including via the Independent Sector- IS), learning from other systems and taking into account 
the high-impact changes including –  

o adapting the ward environment to enhance flow. 
o physical segregation of patients, segregating elective care flow through the hospital. 
o developing service transformation initiatives to drive elective recovery.  

 
• Prioritise the clinically most urgent patients, e.g. for cancer and P1/P2 surgical treatments. 

 
• Incorporate clinically led, patient focused reviews and validation of the waiting list on an ongoing basis, to ensure effective prioritisation and manage clinical risk (drawing 

on both primary and secondary care).  
 

• Include actions to maintain effective communication with patients including proactively reaching out to those who are clinically vulnerable.  
 

• Address the longest waiters and ensure health inequalities are tackled throughout the plan, with a particular focus on analysis of waiting times by ethnicity and 
deprivation.  

 
• Safeguard the health and wellbeing of staff, taking account of the need for people to recover from what they have been through.  

Goals 
 

• All referrals triaged on receipt to identify the most appropriate pathway of treatment. 
 

• Achieving 92% Referral to Treatment Incomplete Pathway target. 
 

• Achieving waiting list requirements of the Long-Term Plan whereby waiting lists are below March 18 levels and no patient is waiting 52 weeks or more for treatment. 
 

• All patients waiting more than 6 months are offered an alternative provider through an agreed system in place. 
 

• All recommendations of the Clinical Standards Review are implemented. 
 

• A range of alternative pathways are developed as an alternative to face-to-face appointments (where appropriate). 

 
 

Why change is needed 

• Receiving timely care is important to patients when they are referred to hospital for treatment. 
• In some cases care could be provided differently rather than a face-to-face appointment which would improve patient experience and efficiency of care delivery. 
• The waiting list position has been deteriorating and the number of people waiting for treatment has increased. 
• There is a requirement to implement the recommendations of the Clinical Standards Review (2019) regarding patient access and choice. 
• There is no agreed system in place to offer all patients waiting more than 6 months an alternative provider. 

COVID – 19 - Assumptions 

• Recovery up to the nationally set thresholds.  

• Ability to retain segregated elective pathways. 

• Limited/ no relaxation of current IPC measures. 

• Overall optimisation of elective capacity but may 
see some swings between day cases and 
ordinary electives pending clinical priorities. 

• No surge in COVID activity impacting on loss of 
capacity including ITU capacity. 

 

COVID – 19 - Actions 

• Supporting workforce recovery.  

• Transfer of agreed activity to Independent Sector.  

• Minimise patient-initiated cancellations; continue to encourage attendance. 

• Change pre-op assessment protocol to facilitate shorter notice attendance. 

• Increase theatre capacity at Shotley Bridge (Plastics). 

• Development of Elective Plus initiative (starting with Trauma and Orthopaedics 
and Ophthalmology) to tackle backlogs at a system level. 

• Develop Health Inequalities Dashboard for the PTL to inform targeting of any 
work. 

• Ongoing PTL validation.  
 

 

Page 131



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Gantt Chart 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 BRAG 
1. Health Inequalities  
Continue to utilise local and national data to understand local variation in use of hospital-based 
services and access to treatment. 

      

Work with Primary Care Networks to understand variation in their population’s use of health services.        

Undertake respiratory health equity audit.        

2. Health Behaviours (Alcohol, Tobacco, Nutrition and Physical Activity)  
Increase the focus on wellness and prevention.        
Implementation of Clinical Review Standards – to be published Spring 2020.       

3. Personalised Care  
Develop a process to offer choice of an alternative provider where patients have been waiting more 
than 26 weeks for treatment. 

      

Consider implementation of a Patient Activation Measures (PAMs) approach across a number of 
specialties to support people to self-manage their condition where appropriate. 

      

Improving elective capacity at Bishop Auckland and choice of hospital for surgery.       

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  
Ensure that appropriate adjustments to pathways continue to be in place for patients with a Learning 
Disability and that their effectiveness is monitored. 

      

5. Children  
Implementation of a community-based level 2 and 3 continence service as an alternative to hospital-
based treatment. 

      

6. Digital  
Continue to implement a range of pathways as an alternative to face to face appointments building on 
the successful implementation of virtual fracture clinics and tele-dermatology. 

      

7. Finance  
On-going delivery of the Outpatient Transformation programme.        
Continuation of the MSK First Contact pilot to support evaluation and a decision on full roll out across 
the county. 

      

Introducing triage of referrals on receipt to ensure that people are booked into the most appropriate 
service. 

      

8. Integration  
Reduce Demand - Additional impact will be realised with ongoing focus on the joint OP Efficiency 
Programme to reduce secondary care demand e.g. Virtual fracture clinics and tele-dermatology. 

      

9. Cultural Change  
Communicate the benefits of alternative models for delivery of outpatient care.       

Develop partnerships between primary, community and acute care to support joined up service 
delivery and care close to home wherever possible. 

      

 

Initiatives 

Page 132



          

             

        

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

24 November 2021 

 Overview of the Domestic Abuse Act 

2021 and Whole System Approach to 

Domestic Abuse  

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide members of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) with an 
overview of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and outline key implications 
for the local authority and its partners. 

Executive summary 

2 It is estimated that over 2.4m people are affected by domestic abuse 
each year in England and Wales.  In order to tackle this the government 
has introduced The Domestic Abuse Act 2021. 

3 This act aims to support victims, including children and young people to 
live lives free from abuse, coercion, and control. 

4 The act, which received royal ascent on 29 April 2021, has introduced a 
range of legislative measures, as set out in detail in Appendix 2 and 
Appendix 3, to support victims of domestic abuse including their 
children. 

5 Key changes include an update to the statutory definition of domestic 
abuse which now includes children and young people as victims in their 
own right and recognises emotional and economic abuse.  It also places 
a statutory requirement on local authorities to provide residents of 
County Durham, and those who travel from different local authority 
areas, a range of safe accommodation options and broader wrap 
around support. 

6 Durham County Council (DCC) have received over £1.16m through the 
New Burdens Fund for financial year 2021/22 from the Department of 

Page 133

Agenda Item 7



Levelling Up, Communities and Housing (DLUCH) to ensure that the 
requirements of the act are successfully implemented. 

7 It is unclear at this point what future year’s funding allocations will 
amount to, making the commissioning of sustainable services more 
challenging; future funding allocation announcements are expected as 
part of the autumn spending review 2021. 

8 Following the completion of the Safe Accommodation Needs 
Assessment, a detailed commissioning plan will be developed and 
approved prior to spend commitment. 

9 In order to meet the requirements of the act, members of County 
Durham’s Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Executive Group 
(DASVEG) are acting as the Local Domestic Abuse Partnership and will 
provide oversight and governance for the work. 

10 Timelines for implementation of the legislative changes, as set out in 
paragraph 19 to paragraph 22, are challenging and will require multi 
agency support in order to be achieved.  

11 All work to meet the requirements of the act will be carried out in line 
with the outcomes of the wider system developments, set out in more 
detail in paragraphs 41 - 57: 

(a) Outcomes of the Budget Prioritisation  
(b) Findings of the Health Needs Assessment 
(c) Outcome of the Co-ordinated Community Response self-

evaluation 

Recommendation(s) 

12 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to: 

(a) Note the content of the report; 

(b) Acknowledge the statutory requirements placed on the local 
authority and its partners. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 134



 

Background 

13 Domestic abuse (DA) is a serious crime that cross cuts across all 
geographical and cultural groups.  It is a crime largely perpetuated in 
private, with few witnesses and as a consequence is under reported 
and under recorded.   

14 Despite this, it is estimated that DA effects over 2.4 million people each 
year in England and Wales; two thirds of these are women and more 
than one in ten offences reported to the Police are domestic abuse 
related. 

15 The impact of COVID 19, more specifically the stay at home order put in 
place to save lives and protect the NHS, is still unknown.  Nationally 
and locally there is emerging evidence that incidents of DA increased 
during this period due to the additional pressures placed on households 
and/or relationships.  

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021    

16 The current government’s response to tackling DA is based upon the 
introduction of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021; the key aims of the act 
are as follows: 

(a) Protect and support victims;  
(b) Transform the justice system; 
(c) Improve performance; and  
(d) Promote awareness  

17 In order to meet the aims outlined in paragraph 16, the act has 
introduced legislative changes that will strengthen support to victims 
and increase measures to tackle perpetrators; a full range of these are 
listed in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3. 

Statutory Accommodation Duty  

18 Durham County Council (DCC) is classified by government as a tier one 
local authority, meaning that the introduction of the act, places a 
number of requirements they must comply with under the new Safe 
Accommodation Duty; this includes: 

 The development of a Local Domestic Abuse Partnership 

 Completion of Department of Levelling Up, Communities and 
Housing (DLUCH) needs assessment 

 Overarching domestic abuse strategy 

 Safe accommodation strategy 

Page 135



 Annual performance reporting to national government  

 Commissioning plan/strategy 

19 The Local Partnership Boards will be central to ensuring that local 
authorities set out a robust strategy for tackling domestic abuse based 
on an assessment of the needs of all victims in their local area.   

20 The Local Partnership Boards will also be required to assess the need 
for accommodation-based domestic abuse support for all victims in their 
area, including those who require cross-border support.   

21 Tier one authorities will be required to deliver their strategy, and report 
back annually to Government. The annual reporting requirement will 
help the Government and others to monitor how the new duties on local 
authorities are working, understand where there may be challenges and 
how the funding is being used, and help identify and disseminate good 
practice. 

22 The needs assessment was completed in September and will inform the 
future Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation Strategy due for 
publication no later than 5 January 2022. 

Governance Structure  

23 The Safe Durham Partnership (SDP) have a remit to deliver a range of 
cross cutting objectives and subsequently form part of the council’s 
delivery mechanism for the County Durham Vision 2035.  The SDP, 
along with its subgroups take a lead on several of the vision objectives. 

24 The Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Executive Group (DASVEG), 
a well-established subgroup of the SDP, is responsible for providing the 
governance arrangements for the domestic abuse system across 
County Durham and Darlington. 

25 The DASVEG reporting structure also ensures that as well as regular 
reporting to the SDP, strong links are in place with wider partnerships 
including the Durham Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and the 
Durham Safeguarding Adults Partnership. 

Service Provision Requirements 

26 DCC, guided by DASVEG, and informed by the outcomes of the need’s 
assessment will be required to commission the following provision: 

(a) Refuge accommodation 
(b) Specialist safe accommodation  
(c) Dispersed accommodation  
(d) Sanctuary scheme   

Page 136



(e) Move on and/or secondary accommodation  
(f) Any other accommodation as identified by the need’s assessment  

27 In addition to the accommodation requirements, the act also places a 
responsibility on DASVEG to ensure that the following wrap around 
support is also made available to all victims, including children and 
young people housed within the various safe accommodation: 

(a) Advocacy support 
(b) Management of services 
(c) DA prevention advice and guidance  
(d) Specialist support for victims with protected characteristics and 

complex needs  
(e) Children and young people’s support  

28 It should also be noted that DCC and its partners have some safe 
accommodation provision already in place this includes: 

(a) Four women’s refuge  
(b) Domestic Abuse Navigator Service (DAN) for victims with 

complex needs 
(c) Dispersed properties including some move on  
(d) Sanctuary Scheme   

29 Appropriate consultation that captured the lived experience of survivors 
has taken place with current providers and has formed part of the 
evidence base of the need’s assessment process.  

Funding  

30 In January 2021 the Home Office released a funding allocation of £50k 
to each tier one local authority.  This money, the Capacity Building 
Fund, is to be specifically used to build system capacity to ensure local 
authorities have resource to support them prepare to meet the 
requirements of the act and to contribute to the development of the 
needs assessment and strategy. 

31 DCC, in line with local authorities across the country, have agreed to 
utilise their allocation of the Capacity Building Fund to employ, on a 
short-term basis, a dedicated Domestic Abuse Commissioning Officer.  

32 It should be noted that DCC will be required to report nationally on how 
their funding has been utilised and what impact it has had on system 
progress. 

33 In addition, the Director of Public Health (DPH) signed a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU) with DLUCH in March 2021.  This MOU has 
enabled the release of a further £1.16m New Burdens Funding (NBF). 

Page 137



34 The amount of NBF received was calculated using a national formula 
based on predicted need for the development and sustainability of a 
broad range of safe accommodation options and the associated wrap 
around support across County Durham. 

35 It is the intention of the Act to make NBF available each financial year 
however, further years funding will not be announced until the autumn 
of 2021, making the commissioning of quality services more 
challenging. 

36 A detailed commissioning proposal informed by the need’s assessment 
will be presented to DASVEG prior to the commitment of any NBF 
spend. 

Progress to Date 

37 County Durham and Darlington already benefit from a long-standing DA 
governance structure reporting to the SDP, therefore DASVEG will act 
as County Durham’s local domestic abuse partnership for both local 
authority areas. 

38 A multi-agency working group has been established to ensure that the 
remaining requirements of the act are met.  Initially the focus of the 
group was the completion of the need’s assessment within timescale 
and the completion of the Safe Accommodation Strategy 2021 – 24. 

39 Once the strategy has been endorsed, further work will take place on 
the development of a Whole System Approach to Domestic Abuse 
Strategy due to be published in 2022. 

40 It should also be noted that all development reports are informed by a 
range of complimentary Public Health led DA system improvements 
including; 

(a) Outcomes of the Budget Prioritisation work 
(b) DA Health Needs Assessment  
(c) Review of Co-ordinated Community Response  

Wider Domestic Abuse System Improvements 

41 In addition to the progress made in terms of DCC and its partners 
meeting their statutory duty, as set out by the DA Act 2021, Public 
Health have led on a range of whole system improvement activity. 

Budget Prioritisation Exercise  

42 During August – September 2020, PH led on a system wide Budget 
Prioritisation (BP) process. 

Page 138



 

43 The BP framework encourages partners to think about how to get the 
best value for money. It does not prescribe how budgets should be 
allocated between programmes. Instead, it allows users to break down 
big decisions into smaller manageable pieces by considering:  

 which programmes could offer the greatest value in the future,  
 the current state of programmes that are being delivered,  
 the budget currently divided across programmes,  
 how easy it is for programmes to change. 

 
44 By thinking in this structured way, users of the prioritisation process will 

be able to make recommendations on whether to increase, decrease or 
maintain spend in each programme area.   

45 The County Durham process to date has followed the national steps.  
Specific workshop activities have included: 

 Confirming the overarching programme budget areas across the 
system. (Most of the budget is provided by Durham County Council, 
then the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner and then Durham 
Constabulary.)  

 Setting criteria by which to evaluate the potential value of 
programme spend.  

 Weighting the chosen criteria based on their relative importance to 
one another.  

 Completing evidence templates against the criteria.  

 Scoring against the criteria based on the evidence presented. 

 Completing current state templates and comparing current spend 
and outcomes to benchmarks if available; assessing the feasibility 
and opportunity for improvement.  

 Determining direction of travel of spend based on the collation of all 
the above. 

46 Outcomes: 

 All areas have suffered historic disinvestment and programme 
budgets are built on non-recurrent funding. National 
recommendations for spend per head far exceed local spend. 

 Demand exceeds the current service capacity in all areas. All 
programme areas would benefit from an increase in budget, yet 
partners are realistic about organisational budget pressures.  

 Strong evidence base for a range of interventions and approaches.  

 All partners appreciated how interconnected the domestic abuse 
system is, and investment needs to be strategic to ensure stability 
throughout the system and for its vulnerable users.  

Page 139



 Partners developed an understanding of all programme areas, the 
evidence base and the current spend, which should ensure a more 
collaborative approach to commissioning going forward. 

 Direction of spend (table below). Given the scale of need in County 
Durham there are no recommendations to reduce investment in a 
programme area as the risks were perceived to be too great. 

Programme Area Direction 
of travel 

Comments 

Children and Young 
People - Prevention  

Increase Small investment with good outcomes currently. 
High feasibility to improve. Opportunity to impact 
adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). 

Children and Young 
People - Specialist 

Increase Outcomes good but investment small. Impact on 
ACEs. Modelling to predict increase. 

Adults – Prevention Maintain Current programme DCC non recurrent funding, 
system wide investment required. 

Adults – Specialist Maintain Requires mainstream investment otherwise lacks 
resilience. Excellent service outcomes. 

Accommodation Maintain Current budget is favourable based on overall 
spend. Consider other models but maintain funding 
for vital crisis service. 

Workforce Increase High feasibility scores. All agencies recognise 
importance but needs strategic support and 
investment.  

Perpetrators Maintain Critical system interdependencies but requires 
investment from all partners.  

 
Health Needs Assessment  

47 During 2019 – 2020, Public Health have worked with partners to 
develop a Domestic Abuse Health Needs Assessment (HNA). 

48 The role of this HNA is to consider what we know, but also to think 
about what we should know about a population.  

49 In a constantly evolving agenda, it is critical to continually assess our 
knowledge and understanding of national policy which is implemented 
at a local level to best meet the needs of our residents. In a real-world 
context of limited resources, decisions need to be made about how and 
where those resources are allocated and areas with high need are likely 
to be prioritised. 

50 The principle of the HNA is based upon three critical processes for 
gathering relevant information, as illustrated in Diagram 1. 

 

 

Page 140



Diagram 1 – Health Needs Assessment 

 

51 A literature review was conducted to understand from published 
evidence what potential health inequalities may exist and be able to 
then compare this, utilising an epidemiological approach, to local 
intelligence and data.  Lastly, a broad range of stakeholder engagement 
was carried out, and thematically reviewed, to capture the voice of 
victims and perpetrators through robust interviews and focus groups. 

52 The systematic process of the HNA has allowed for the development of 
a range of key findings and recommendations covering the following DA 
system areas: 

 System Review and Mapping: ensuring there is a collective 
understanding of interdependencies and partnership working,  

 Significant unmet need, 

 Demand led system/graded response,  

 Equity of access, 

 Prevention with a focus on the impact on children, 

 Older adults,  

 Mental health needs, 

 Learning from emerging practice. 
 

53 The detailed recommendations have been endorsed by members of 
DASVEG and will be considered when developing all future system 
work moving forward. 

Co-ordinated Community Response  

54 In July 2020, with support from the newly appointed Domestic Abuse 
Commissioner, leading national organisation Standing Together 

Data and 
Intelligence

Service 
user and 
stakehol

der 
feedback

What has 
already 
been 

published 

Health Needs 

Assessment to 

provide 

recommendations 

to improve health 

and reduce 

inequalities  

Page 141



published the report In Search of Excellence which examines the 
effectiveness of  Co-ordinated Community Response’s (CCR) from 
across the country. 

55 National and international best practice identifies that each local 
authority area should have a Co-ordinated Community Response (CCR) 
in place (Diagram 2). 

Diagram 2: Co-ordinated Community Response  

  

56 After considering the findings of this report, public health with the 
support of DASVEG, have instigated a system leadership self-
assessment process by developing an audit tool designed to identify 
strengths and weaknesses across 12 key component sections of the 
CCR system. 

57 Once completed, this will be considered alongside the requirements of 
the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, the outcome of the BP exercise and the 
findings of the HNA to enhance our CCR and approach to tackling DA 
as a whole system. 

Main implications 

58 Failure to meet the deadlines set by DLUCH will result in DCC not 
meeting requirements of the MOU and may result in government 
scrutiny.   

Page 142



59 In addition, if appropriate services are not commissioned within the 
timeframe required, the level of funding that the local authority has 
received, and future funding allocations may be affected. 

Conclusion 

60 Tackling Domestic Abuse remains a priority for Durham County Council 
and its partners.  The implementation of the requirements of the 
Domestic Abuse Act 2021 will ensure that victims, including children 
and young people receive the support they need to live free from 
violence and abuse. 

Author 

Helen Riddell    Tel:  03000 268630 

 

  

Page 143



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 places a statutory duty on the local authority in 

relation to the provision of suitable safe accommodation to residents of County 

Durham and those from other areas. 

Finance 

DCC have received £1.16m New Burdens Funding in order to meet the needs 

of the Safe Accommodation requirements of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021.  

Failure to appropriately allocated spend may impact on future funding 

agreements.  

Consultation 

N/A 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

N/A 

Climate Change 

N/A 

Human Rights 

N/A   

Crime and Disorder 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 will impact on policing and will be a focus of 

work for the Safe Durham Partnership.  

Staffing  

N/A 

Accommodation 

The local authority has a statutory responsibility to house victims of domestic 

abuse. 

Risk 

There are a number of risks associated with failure to comply with the 

requirements of the Act including financial.  

Page 144



Procurement 

There are procurement implications as there is a requirement to 

commission/procure a range of suitable accommodation-based and support 

services for victims of domestic abuse in this financial year and future years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 145



 

 
 

Appendix 2:  Support for Victims  

 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 will: 

 create a statutory definition of domestic abuse, emphasising that 
domestic abuse is not just physical violence, but can also be emotional, 
coercive or controlling, and economic abuse. As part of this definition, 
children will be explicitly recognised as victims if they see, hear or 
otherwise experience the effects of abuse; 

 create a new offence of non-fatal strangulation; 

 extend the controlling or coercive behaviour offence to cover post-
separation abuse; 

 extend the ‘revenge porn’ offence to cover the threat to disclose 
intimate images with the intention to cause distress; 

 clarify the law to further deter claims of “rough sex gone wrong” in cases 
involving death or serious injury; 

 create a statutory presumption that victims of domestic abuse are 
eligible for special measures in the criminal, civil and family courts (for 
example, to enable them to give evidence via a video link); 

 establish in law the Domestic Abuse Commissioner, to stand up for 
victims and survivors, raise public awareness, monitor the response of 
local authorities, the justice system and other statutory agencies and 
hold them to account in tackling domestic abuse; 

 place a duty on local authorities in England to provide support to victims 
of domestic abuse and their children in refuges and other safe 
accommodation; 

 provide that all eligible homeless victims of domestic abuse 
automatically have ‘priority need’ for homelessness assistance; 

 place the guidance supporting the Domestic Violence Disclosure 
Scheme (“Clare’s law”) on a statutory footing; 

 ensure that when local authorities rehouse victims of domestic abuse, 
they do not lose a secure lifetime or assured tenancy; 

 stop vexatious family proceedings that can further traumatise victims by 
clarifying the circumstances in which a court may make a barring order 
under section 91(14) of the Children Act 1989; 

 prohibit GPs and other health professionals from charging a victim of 
domestic abuse for a letter to support an application for legal aid. 

 

 

Page 146



 

 
 

Appendix 3:  Measures for tackling perpetrators  

 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 will: 

 prohibit perpetrators of abuse from cross-examining their victims in 
person in family and civil courts in England and Wales; 

 bring the case of R vs Brown into legislation, invalidating any courtroom 
defence of consent where a victim suffers serious harm or is killed; 

 enable domestic abuse offenders to be subject to polygraph testing as a 
condition of their licence following their release from custody; 

 extend the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the criminal courts in England 
and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland to further violent and sexual 
offences; 

 provide for a new Domestic Abuse Protection Notice and Domestic 
Abuse Protection Order, which will prevent perpetrators from contacting 
their victims, as well as force them to take positive steps to change their 
behaviour, e.g. seeking mental health support; 

 introduce a statutory duty on the Secretary of State to publish a 
domestic abuse perpetrator strategy (to be published as part of a 
holistic domestic abuse strategy). 

 

 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 

P
age 149



The Act aims to:

• Protect and Support Victims

• Transform the Justice Process

• Improve Performance 

• Promote Awareness 

The Act brings about:

• New legislative measures

• Specific requirements for a Tier 1 Local Authority

• Statutory duties

A timeline for implementation of the Act has been developed

P
age 150



Whole 
System 

Approach 

P
age 151



Health Needs Assessment 

Literature 

review

Qualitative 

feedback
Data

Findings and recommendations

All areas generate 

learning

P
age 152



Potential numbers applied to County Durham  Adults

Percentage impacted Possible no. in Co Durham

Prevalence incident or crimes in a year 6% 23423

Any DA from the age of 16 21% 81983

Female victim 75% 17568

Male victim 25% 5856

Taken from National estimates and applied to the County Durham Population 

Potential numbers applied to County Durham  children and young people

Experienced psychological abuse as a child 19% 74174

Witnessed domestic abuse or violence in the home 8% 31231

Has experienced physical assault 7% 27327

Has experienced sexual assault 7% 27327

P
age 153



Potential numbers in County Durham – vulnerable groups

Vulnerable groups % of population 

(general)

Possible numbers in 

County Durham

General population 14% 10376

Older adults 25% 2594

Living with abuse over 

20 years

6% 23424

Disability (x2 as likely) 12% 14554

LGBTQ (2% of 

population)

11% 859

Transgender (% 

unknown)

28% -

P
age 154



Considerations 

• Are we data-led or system-led? 

• How do we scale-up our approaches?

• Review and understand the system 

• Demand led/Graded response 

• Equity of access 

• Prevention

• Older adults 

• Mental Health needs 

P
age 155



Budget Prioritisation Outcomes  
Programme Area Direction 

of travel

Comments

Children and Young 

People - Prevention 

Increase Small investment with good outcomes currently. High 

feasibility to improve. Opportunity to impact adverse 

childhood experiences (ACEs).

Children and Young 

People - Specialist

Increase Outcomes good but investment small. Impact on ACEs. 

Modelling to predict increase.

Adults – Prevention Maintain Current programme DCC non recurrent funding, system 

wide investment required.

Adults – Specialist Maintain Requires mainstream investment otherwise lacks 

resilience. Excellent service outcomes.

Accommodation Maintain Current budget is favourable based on overall spend. 

Consider other models but maintain funding for vital 

crisis service.

Workforce Increase High feasibility scores. All agencies recognise 

importance but needs strategic support and investment. 

Perpetrators Maintain Critical system interdependencies but requires 

investment from all partners. 

P
age 156



Countywide Specialist Service Referrals 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

6982 7250 8237

Refuge Referrals 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

454 624 1115

Next Steps

• Recommendations of BP and HNA implemented 

• Strategy development and publication 

• Joint commissioning plan

P
age 157



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

             

       

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

24 November 2021 

Better Care Fund Policy Framework and 

Planning Requirements 2021- 2022 

   

Report of Paul Copeland, Strategic Programme Manager, 
Integration, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this paper is to provide a summary of the Policy 
Framework and Planning Requirements for the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
2021 - 2022. 

Executive summary 

2 The BCF is one of the government’s national initiatives for driving health 
and social care integration and requires Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCG’s) and local government to agree a joint plan for using pooled 
budgets to support integration. 

3 Given the ongoing pressures in health and social care systems, there is 
minimal change to the BCF in 2021 - 2022. The BCF aims to build upon 
progress during the pandemic, strengthening the integration of 
commissioning and delivery of services.  

4 The BCF Policy Framework outlines the 5.3% national uplift but as in 
previous years, there is some variation in the actual percentage 
amounts across Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWB’s). The Health and 
Social Care System in County Durham have agreed a 5.3% uplift for 
2021 - 2022.  

5 The BCF plan for 2021 - 2022 will consist of: 

 A narrative plan 

 A completed BCF planning template including: 

o Planned expenditure from BCF sources 

o Confirmation that national conditions of the fund are met, 
as well as specific conditions attached to individual funding 
streams. 

Page 159

Agenda Item 8



 
 

o Ambitions and plans for performance against BCF national 
metrics. 

o Any additional contributions to BCF Section 75 
agreements.  

6 The Health and Wellbeing Board have agreed delegated authority to the 
Chair and Vice Chair to sign off the BCF Plan due to the deadline being 
prior to the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting. 

Recommendation(s) 

7 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the contents of this report.  

(b) Note that a full copy of the BCF Plan will be available from Paul 
Copeland, Strategic Programme Manager. 

(c) Agree to receive further BCF updates at future Health & 
Wellbeing Board meetings.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 160



 
 

Background 

8 The Government and NHS England and Improvement published the 
BCF Planning Requirements for 2021 - 2022 on 30 September 2021. 
This publication sets out the detailed requirements for BCF plans 
following the 2021 - 2022 BCF Policy Framework published by the 
Government on 19 August 2021.  

9 The BCF is one of the government’s national initiatives for driving health 
and social care integration. It requires CCG’s and local government to 
agree a joint plan for using pooled budgets to support integration.  

10 Given the ongoing pressures in health and social care systems, there 
will be minimal change to the BCF in 2021 - 2022.  The 2021 - 2022 
BCF aims to build upon progress made during the pandemic, 
strengthening the integration of commissioning and delivery of services.  

11 There is a continued focus on improving how and when people are 
discharged from hospital.   

Policy requirements 

12 The national conditions for the BCF in 2021 - 2022 are: 

 A jointly agreed plan between local health and social care signed 
off by the HWB. 

 NHS contribution to adult social care to be maintained in line with 
the uplift to CCG minimum contribution. 

 Invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services. 

 A plan for improving outcomes for people being discharged from 
hospital.  

13 Reporting of Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) was suspended in 
March 2020 and replaced with a situation report that reflects the revised 
hospital discharge policy. In 2021 - 2022, performance on discharge at 
a HWB footprint will be monitored using data collected from hospital 
systems through the NHS Secondary Uses Service (SUS) and used to 
inform support offers to systems.  

14 The Policy Framework outlines the 5.3% national uplift but as per 
previous years there is some variation in the actual percentage amounts 
across HWB’s. The Health and Social Care System in County Durham 
have agreed a 5.3% uplift for 2021 - 2022.  

15 The Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF) and Disabled Facilities Grant 
(DFG) continue to be paid to local authorities with a condition that they 

Page 161



 
 

are pooled locally into the BCF and spent on specific purposes set out 
in the grant determinations and conditions.  

16 The Health and Wellbeing Board have agreed delegated authority to the 
Chair and Vice Chair to sign off the BCF Plan due to the deadline being 
prior to the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting. 

Planning requirements 

17 For 2021 - 2022, BCF plans will consist of: 

 A narrative plan 

 A completed BCF planning template including: 

o Planned expenditure from BCF sources 

o Confirmation that national conditions of the fund are met, 
as well as specific conditions attached to individual funding 
streams. 

o Ambitions and plans for performance against BCF national 
metrics. 

o Any additional contributions to BCF Section 75 
agreements.  

Metrics 

18 The BCF Policy Framework sets national metrics that must be included 
in BCF plans in 2021 - 2022. The framework retains the existing metric 
from previous years: 

 Effectiveness of reablement (proportion of older people still at 
home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement or 
rehabilitation).  

 Older adults whose long-term care needs are met by admission 
to residential or nursing care per 100,000 population.  

Hospital Discharge Metrics 

19 New measures have been introduced to reflect the Hospital Discharge 
and Community Support: Policy and Operating Model (July 2021). 

20 Since May 2021, revised metrics to track the implementation of the 
discharge policy are being collected via the Acute Daily Situation 
Report.  

Page 162



 
 

21 This data is not currently collected at a local authority footprint in 
national reporting. Discharge metrics for the BCF will therefore be 
based on information available through hospital patient administration 
systems. Local systems need to agree a plan to improve outcomes 
across the HWB area for the following measures: 

 Avoidable admissions, unplanned hospitalisation for chronic 
ambulatory care sensitive conditions.  

 Reducing length of stay in hospital, measure through the 
percentage of hospital inpatients who have been in hospital for 
longer than 14 and 21 days.  

 Improving the proportion of people discharged home using data 
on discharge to their usual place of residence.  

20 Hospital trusts, local authorities and CCG’s need to work together to 
continue to improve the use of situation reporting and other data to 
understand the effectiveness of their local implementation of the 
Hospital Discharge Policy to include analysis of discharges into each 
pathway and outcome.  

BCF Planning timetable and assurances 

21 The timescales for agreeing BCF plans and assurance are set out 
below: 

BCF planning requirements published 30 September 2021 

Optional draft BCF planning submission submitted 
to Better Care Managers (BCM) 

By 19 October 2021 

Review and feedback to areas from BCM’s By 2 November 2021 

BCF planning submission from local HWB areas 
(agreed by CCG’s and local government). All 
submissions will need to be sent to the local BCM 
and copied to 
england_bettercarefundteam@nhs.net 

16 November 2021 

Scrutiny of BCF plans by regional assurers, 
assurance panel meetings and regional moderation 

16 November to 7 
December 2021 

Regionally moderated assurance outcomes sent to 
BCF team 

7 December 2021 

Cross- regional collaboration 9 December 2021 

Page 163

mailto:england_bettercarefundteam@nhs.net


 
 

Approval letters issued giving formal permission to 
spend (CCG minimum) 

From 11 January 
2022 

All section 75 agreements to be signed and in place 31 January 2022 

Reporting in 2021 - 2022 

22 Quarterly reporting will recommence in 2021 and will cover progress in 
implementing BCF plans, progress against metrics and ongoing 
compliance with the national conditions of the fund.  

Conclusion 

23 As set out in the BCF Policy Framework, the requirements of the 
planning process are clear and focus on continuity in 2021 - 2022, while 
enabling areas to agree plans for integrated care that support recovery 
from the pandemic, building upon the closer working that systems 
developed to respond to it.  

Author 

Paul Copeland   Tel:  03000 265190 

  

Page 164



 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

The BCF Pooled Budget is £84.5m. 

Consultation 

As required through the Health & Wellbeing Board. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to ensure that all decisions are 

reviewed for their impact upon people. 

Climate Change 

Consideration of the impact of climate change in decision making and 

reporting has been considered. 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

Scrutiny of BCF Plans by Regional Assurers, Assurance Panel Meetings and 

Regional moderation. The Local Authority and the CCG must ensure that 

robust governance is in place to oversee BCF Funds. 

Procurement 

None 

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board      

24 November 2021 

Winter Planning 2021/22 

 

Report of Michael Laing Director of Integrated Community Services, 
Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the joint work underway 
between partners to prepare for Winter 2021/22. 

Executive Summary 

2 Winter 2021/22 is expected to be one of the most challenging 
experienced by public services. A “surge” in demand for health and 
social care is predicted. This “surge” will be caused by a combination of 
Covid, RSV (a respiratory virus that infects the lungs and breathing 
passages of children), flu, staffing pressures and current unprecedented 
demand.  

3 The Council also has the important and high profile responsibility to 
manage “cold weather” and “adverse weather events” with other 
partners. 

4 It is likely that in Winter 2021/22 public services will experience 
disruption and normal levels of service will not be provided.  

5 To prepare for the expected “surge” and to co-ordinate work across 
partners a Task and Finish Group was set up. This operated up to 31 
October 2021. The membership included  

 The Council – Integrated Commissioning, Public Health, Adult 
Care, Children and Young People’s Services and the Clean and 
Green Team 

 County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group representing 
Primary Care 

Page 167

Agenda Item 9



 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust – district 
general hospitals, community hospitals and community health 
services  

 Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust – some children 
and young people’s services 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust – mental 
health services 

 North East Ambulance Service 

6 The Group has brought plans together in one place, to share 
information. A presentation to the Board is attached at Appendix 2 with 
details of the demand pressures we face and measures we are putting 
in place. 

Recommendations 

7 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to note 
the contents of this report and the presentation at Appendix 2 and 
receive further reports throughout winter 2021/22. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 168



Background 

8 Winter 2021/22 is likely to be extremely challenging. Covid admissions 
to acute hospitals have continued. The Government’s health agencies 
have predicted increased flu infections and RSV. The health and social 
care system is already dealing with unprecedented demand. 

9 For the social care sector the care providers commissioned by the 
Council are reporting staff shortages especially in home care. The 
Council offers extensive support to care providers. This support is both 
financial and advice and guidance in managing infections and 
complying with Government regulations. The Council also works with an 
employment agency to help care providers to fill vacancies and has 
created the very effective Care Academy. Care providers have 
concerns about the effect of the new rules about compulsory 
vaccination of staff at a time when other employers are recruiting people 
who may have worked in care homes. 

10 We work with the County Durham Care Homes Association to help care 
providers to be sustainable. We have also supported home care 
agencies and work with them to provide care packages. 

11 Demand for adult social care assessments has also increased. 
Assessment Teams have seen increases especially in demand for 
mental health assessment post the Covid lockdown. The Hospital Social 
Work Team manages 500 cases each month with colleagues in the 
NHS. Cases are increasing in complexity and acuity.  

12 Health partners have been operating at unprecedented levels of 
demand. Presentations to Emergency Departments are approximately 
13% higher than 2019. The Trust sometimes declares the highest level 
of activity at OPEL 4 (Operational Pressures Escalation Levels). 
Patients have experienced delays, especially at University Hospital 
North Durham (UHND). This is because of the acknowledged problems 
with the physical space and layout of the Emergency Department. 
Despite increasing the number of beds the Trust is often in the position 
of having limited beds available to move patients out of the Emergency 
Department and onto wards. 

13 The Mental Health Trust has reported similar pressures and has 
operated at 117% capacity. The Crisis Response Service is working at 
full capacity and has difficulty finding beds into which patients can be 
admitted. The Trust is also implementing an Improvement Plan 
following a Care Quality Commission (CQC) report. 

14 The Ambulance Trust has called on military and private sector support 
to deal with demand which has remained at consistently high levels for 

Page 169



a sustained period. This means that requests for an ambulance are 
sometimes delayed. 

15 Primary care – including GP Practices – are in a similar position. They 
are also providing the majority of vaccinations. Recent surveys of 
patients in our Emergency Departments have shown that they are 
attending because they do not want to wait for GP appointments. 

16 All partners are reporting workforce pressures and have measures in 
place to support staff well-being. However staff have been involved in a 
national major incident since March 2020 and are now caring for people 
in a period of high demand.    

17 Partners have met to share the winter plan to co-ordinate activity and to 
prioritise work. Our winter plans will be held in one place and Council 
officers have joined the Winter Plan Operational Group to manage 
winter pressures.   

Next steps 

18 The Government has published Winter Planning Guidance for the NHS 
with funding to support additional capacity. Through the Integration 
Programme we will be bidding with NHS partners for funding to increase 
our hospital discharge and crisis response capacity in social care. Other 
funding sources may be available to support care providers. 

19 Last year the Government required the Council to submit a Social Care 
Winter Plan. Government Guidance for social care is expected to be 
published in the near future. 

Background papers 

 The Government’s Covid Winter Plan 2021/22 

Author  

Michael Laing  Tel:  07917513348 

  

Page 170



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None directly from this report.  

Finance 

None directly from this report. However funding may be available to support 
health and social care during Winter 2021/22 to which the partners can bid. 

Consultation 

NHS partners and colleagues in the Green and Clean Team and Adults and 

Health Services have contributed to the presentation. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The report concerns services for people with health and care needs who may 

have protected characteristics related to their condition. 

Climate Change 

None 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

There is a risk that the Council and NHS partners may not be able to meet 

demands for services in Winter 2021/22. This is included in the Risk 

Registers. 

Procurement 

None 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board 
24 November 2021

Winter Planning 2021/22

Michael Laing Director of Integrated Community Services

P
age 173



Format

• Background

• Current Situation

• What can we expect ?

• Social Care

• Primary Care

• Community Services

• Acute, Mental Health and Ambulance Trusts

• Public Health

• Durham County Council - Technical Services

• Vaccination

• Working together

• Summary and questions

P
age 174



Background

• Partners have developed Winter Plans over a number of years

• There are two types of Winter Plan: Surge and Cold Weather

• Surge is mainly about how to prevent and manage the increases in demand caused by illness of residents, 
patients and staff

• Cold weather is mainly about preparing the environment for adverse weather and responding to it

• The shared aim of the plans is to “prevent” demand and help people keep well over Winter

• Covid was an additional factor this Winter for residents and staff wellbeing

• Emerging evidence of what we can expect

P
age 175



Current Situation

• Unprecedented demand for health and care service.

• Covid admissions continuing

• Emergency Departments seeing sustained demand  – 13% increase on 2019

• Hospitals working hard to manage beds but often at highest levels of operation – OPEL 4

• NEAS seeing highest ever demand for ambulances

• GPs and Social Care experiencing high demand as well

• Workforce challenges in care providers especially home care

• We have been in a Covid national major incident since March 2020 which continues

P
age 176



What can we expect?

• Covid continuing over Winter – see Government’s Covid Winter Plan – will effect patients and staff

• Continuing demand for emergency, acute primary and social care

• Flu infections higher – see Government’s New and Emerging Respiratory Virus Threats Group (Nervtag)

• Increasing Children’s Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) – see Public Health England

• Workforce well-being critical after 18 months plus of sustained pressure

• Workforce vacancy rate of 7.3% in care providers – Skills for Care

• Will need to “flex” resources and manage public expectations

P
age 177



Social Care 1

• ‘Discharge to Assess’ ,  ‘Trusted Assessment’, ‘Home First’ and ‘Home from Hospital’ arrangements 
deployed

• Social care capacity available during Surge including Designated Settings

• Short Term Assistance Service commissioned for urgent / crisis community domiciliary care

• Innovative approaches to support capacity will be piloted – using technology. 

• Staff wellbeing services available and dedicated webpage established to assist providers to navigate 
options

• Community Services and Adult Care working together in TAPs to avoid admission

• Preparing for Winter Programme for social care providers

P
age 178



Social Care 2

• Durham Care Academy including recruiting and training of care staff

• Council support to access agency staff for care providers

• Community Services Teams and GPs working in care homes every day

• Additional support, advice and training on infection prevention and control

• Practical help if a Covid outbreak occurs

• Coordination of mutual aid to support service continuity

• Provision of bespoke training

• Financial support for all providers during the pandemic

• Targeted financial support to prevent provider failure

• Liaison with providers and CQC 

P
age 179



Primary Care
• Working with NEAS to avoid peaks in ambulance requests

• Care Navigators, Oximetry at Home, weekend visits to the frail, access to DVT pathway to avoid 
admissions

• GPs working in Community Hospitals and wards in Bishop Auckland

• Delivering the Covid and flu vaccination programme

• GP Service opened at UHND 1 November 2021

Next Steps:

• Looking at increasing face to face appointments following national guidance

• Return the management of long term conditions to where they were pre Covid

• Make sure the enhanced health in care homes if fully implemented

P
age 180



Community Services

• Working every day with the housebound to avoid admission

• Setting up 2 hour crisis response service to avoid admission

• Additional therapists in Community Hospitals to help with discharges

• Covid and flu vaccination in care homes and for the housebound

• Extra bed capacity in Community Hospitals

• Integrated working with GPs and social care

P
age 181



Acute Care - CDDFT

• Already implemented Winter style measures

• Increased staffing capacity in Emergency Departments

• Deployed clinical staff including senior managers to areas of high demand and recruiting more staff

• Opened additional beds 

• Using Bishop Auckland Hospital capacity

• Working hard to deliver planned surgery and performing well

• Investing in the Same Day Emergency Care model 

• Caring for patients and staff

P
age 182



Mental Health - TEWV

• Prioritised capacity for “front door” services like crisis teams

• Cold weather contingencies in place e.g. access to 4x4 vehicles for crisis teams, 

• Targeted support for more vulnerable people e.g. care homes 

• Range of internal measures in place to support staff, from wobble rooms created through COVID to Schwartz 
rounds, employee psychology support, peer support mechanisms

• Dedicated COVID resilience hub in place 

• Support for individual partner organisations as required

• “Support on a page” for system widely circulated in 2020 – to be re-circulated for winter

• Community COVID Resilience Team now in place across the County – partnership between Resilient Communities 
Group and TEWV, provides early intervention for COVID-specific MH/emotional wellbeing needs.

P
age 183



North East Ambulance 
Service

• Aim to increase capacity over Winter through a variety of measures

• Using independent sector capacity

• Previously had military support

• Increasing capacity of NHS 111

• Treating patients safely at home to avoid conveyance to hospital

P
age 184



Public Health

• Outbreak management and preventing spread of disease

• Sharing data with partners 

• Focus on the most vulnerable and disadvantaged and at risk building on our Durham Together work

• Taking our communities with us

• Focus on the social determinants of health and wellbeing – warm homes, food access, social isolation

• Ensuring our local places can function – gritting, winter maintenance

P
age 185



Council’s Technical 
Services - Highways

• Treating 45% (1733 km) of the carriageway network. Known as Priority 1 – critical infrastructure, NHS 
facilities

• Priority 2 routes are treated after P1 routes and only in times of prolonged winter weather - 10% of the 
network or 387 km

• DCC salt stocks  - 42,000 tonnes to cover 160 runs and 2500 salt bins providing a high degree of resilience

• SLAs with local residents and farmers with snow ploughs and other clearance equipment for rural places

• SLAs with town and parish councils to clear snow and grit roads and paths in communities using 
volunteers

• Customer emergency number 03000 261000 staffed 24 hours per day – must be an immediate danger to 
public safety

• All operations are supported by a communications plan and our policy which is published on the website

P
age 186



Vaccination

• Both Covid and Flu vaccination key activities to prevent illness

• Primary Care Networks continue to offer Covid 1st and 2nd doses and “booster” vaccinations and flu jabs

• Care homes and housebound being vaccinated by Community Services and GPs

• Hospital Hubs open for health and social care staff at County Hall and Darlington Memorial Hospital

• Vaccination programme for 12-16 year olds in schools underway

• Community Pharmacies offering vaccination plus mobile and pop up clinics

• Vaccination Centre at Arnison Centre, mobile clinics, pop-up clinics in place aimed at areas of low take up

• National media campaigns encouraging vaccination

P
age 187



Working together

• Surge pressures managed through Local A&E Delivery Board (LADB). Chaired by CDDFT Chief Executive

• CDDFT working with other acute trusts and NEAS to manage demand across the region

• County Durham Care Partnership Chief Officers meet informally to ensure mutual support 

• Working together to move resources quickly and flexibly

• All partners have internal systems based on the “Gold Command” model to manage Winter Pressures

• Social Care and Community Services meet to manage pressures in the care sector and support providers

• Local Resilience Forum (LRF) structures in place to prepare for and manage incidents

• Shared national and local communications

P
age 188



Summary & Questions

• NHS Winter Plans submitted in line with national guidance and Covid Winter Plan

• Expecting Winter Plan for Social Care

• All partner organisations co-operating

• Evidence suggests a challenging winter ahead and service prioritisation likely

• Recognise current levels of demand and staff well-being critical factors

• All Winter Plans will be in one place for the first time dealing with surges in demand and cold weather 
events

• Thank you

• Questions

P
age 189



P
age 190



Key Campaigns
Autumn / Winter 2020/21

Covid-19

Autumn / Winter Plan 

P
age 191

A
genda Item

 10



COVID-19 

Marketing and communications activity has supported the changes to the Government Roadmap, including a 

regional approach to key messages with the strapline ‘Covid Safe County’. 

• Overarching messages: Communications have continued to encourage residents to wear a mask, practice hand 

hygiene, keep social distancing in busy areas, to self-isolate and get a PCR test when symptoms occur, and have 

both doses of the vaccine.

• Areas of enhanced response: Communications have been used in a more targeted way in areas of enhanced 

response to support and strengthen community engagement work. This has also supported the ‘Leave no one 

behind’ vaccine work driven by Public Health data for low take up areas. 

• ‘Beat Covid North East’: 2 campaigns have continued; Every Question Matters to address vaccine hesitancy 

concerns and the ‘Acts of Kindness’ campaign. 

2

• CYPS / Education: Supported to advise and inform schools, pupils and parents  

following the re-opening in the autumn, especially in terms of testing for 

secondary school pupils, the changes to test and trace procedures, vaccine 

information for 12-16 year olds and guidance for dealing with anti-vaccine activity. 

P
age 192



Raising Awareness of Health Harms and Wellbeing Services

Tobacco: Localised the Don’t Wait campaign, collaborating with the Stop Smoking 

Service and FRESH. Targeted marketing in areas of high smoking prevalence. 

World Breastfeeding Week/Big Latch On: Raising awareness of World Breastfeeding Week 

across DCC and One Point social media channels driving traffic to The Global Big Latch On 

event, which took place virtually. 

Physical Activity: Use of COMF bid to proactively engage and re-engage people, who are 

Inactive, into physical activity within their local community, and to instil key health behavioural 

messages as we recover from the Covid19 pandemic. The ‘Move’ campaign launched in 

September with over 191 1 to 1 appointments booked as of 11 October. 

Mental Health: Amplification of World Suicide Prevention Day with resources shared 

across DCC and partners’ social media channels. 

P
age 193



Raising Awareness of Health Harms and Wellbeing Services

Painkillers don’t exist: The aim of the second phase of the campaign is to develop public 

knowledge around how to live better with persistent pain and understand when and how 

pain medication is used most effectively.  The ‘call to action’ remains to discuss pain and pain 

medication concerns with their GP. The main target audience is patients on painkillers for 

persistent pain, and their family or carers. 

Key messages to encourage patients to take greater control of their personal health decisions 

has been shared with partners. Campaign runs from September – December 2021.

Better Health at Work: Employee health and wellbeing survey launched in September 2021. 

P
age 194



Autumn / Winter Activities – COVID-19

Ongoing preventative messaging will continue as government guidance for Covid-19 changes. 

For the autumn / winter period there is a communications plan in place to continue to

support Public Health priorities for the recovery from Covid. 

The key areas this plan addresses are:  

• Vaccination Support – supporting the ‘Leave no one behind’ vaccine activity, promoting 

the mobile pop-up clinics in low vaccine take up areas and encouraging take up of the Covid booster. 

• Testing – Encouraging residents to continue twice weekly LFD testing and PCR close contact testing. 

Also planning for encouraging businesses to pass on these messages to employees.

• Covid Champions / Junior Champions – Support to recruit a wider range of champions and also 

assisting in the brief for the community engagement evaluation project.  

• Outbreak Support – Reactive communications support in the event of an outbreak in a particular 

area or setting.

• Beat Covid North East – Supporting the ‘Acts of Kindness’ campaign and Acts of Kindness Awards.

P
age 195



Coming up – Autumn / Winter Campaigns 

Key campaigns (External): 

• Tobacco: STOPTOBER DCC comms and amplification of NHS Better Health resources.

• Alcohol Awareness: Campaign theme will be a repeat of ‘Alcohol Causes Cancer’. 

COMF to be utilised to amplify a localised campaign highlighting cancer and alcohol.

• Mental Health: Promoting World Mental Health Day, DCC’s WMHD campaign will focus on 

promotion of the benefits of talking to friends and colleagues and engagement. 

Also Mental Health at Scale project planned for January / February 2022

to target businesses to support employees’ mental health. 

• Domestic Abuse: Supporting 16 Days of Action Against Domestic Violence and White Ribbon 

campaigns.

• Flu campaign: Do Your Bit campaign supporting NHS regional Flu activity.

• Physical activity: ‘Move’ campaign continues until March 2022 with a focus on different target 

audiences each month. Will link to Active 30 aimed at encouraging children and their families to be 

more active.

ET1

P
age 196



Slide 6

ET1 Emma Todd, 19/05/21

P
age 197



Coming up – Autumn / Winter Campaigns 

Key campaigns (Internal): 

• Employee Health and Wellbeing: 

• Continued promotion of the Staff Wellbeing Portal and the Employee Assistance 

Programme.

• Recruitment campaign planned for Domestic Abuse Workplace Champions. 

• Menopause Awareness Day is taking place on the 18th October 2021 and Durham County   

Council (DCC) will be raising awareness of menopause across the workforce.

• Better Health at Work: Supporting the World Mental Health Day theme ‘Mental Health in an 

Unequal World’ to address stigma and discrimination associated with poor mental health. 

• Staff wellbeing survey: Feedback will inform the planning for the autumn BHAW priorities. DCC 

continue to offer “Eat Wise Drop a Dress Size” and Mental Health Awareness training via the 

Wellbeing for Life service. 

P
age 198



 

 

           

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

24 November 2021 

 COVID-19 Vaccine Inequalities Update  

 

Report of the COVID-19 Vaccine Inequalities Group  
Joseph Chandy, Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery 
(Primary Care), NHS County Durham CCG 
Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council  
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the work being 
undertaken to mitigate against COVID-19 vaccine inequality in under-
represented groups across County Durham.  

Executive summary 

2 Vaccinations have a critical role to play in the fight against COVID-19.  

3 Our ambition is that no one is left behind, and to enable people to make 
an informed choice to take up the vaccine.  

4 The report highlights the significant amount of collaborative work 
undertaken to ensure equitable access to the COVID-19 vaccination 
programme, particularly in under-represented communities and 
marginalised groups.   

5 While positive work is taking place to address the gaps, continued and 
expanded focus is needed, in-line with an ever-changing picture of 
vaccine uptake and amendments to national guidance. 

Recommendations 

6 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

(a) Receive this report and note its contents. 

Page 199

Agenda Item 11



 

 

(b) Acknowledge that a significant amount of collaborative work has 
been undertaken to increase vaccination uptake in under-
represented groups. 

(c) Recognise that work to reduce the gap in vaccine uptake 
between different population groups is ongoing. 

  

Page 200



 

 

Background 

7 The impacts of the coronavirus pandemic have been disproportionately 
felt by communities who already experience longstanding inequalities in 
the United Kingdom. 

8 The rollout of the COVID-19 vaccination programme across County 
Durham began in December 2020. The COVID-19 vaccine is the best 
way to protect us from coronavirus and will save thousands of lives.  

9 Local systems need to ensure good uptake and equitable access to the 
COVID-19 vaccination programme across all population groups.  

10 Variation in vaccine uptake is driven by multiple factors, for example 
health status, environment and socio-economic deprivation. 
Understanding the root cause of gaps is critical to addressing vaccine 
inequalities.   

11 The eligible population for COVID-19 vaccination in County Durham has 
increased to 485,295 (this is our 12+ population). As of 14 October 
2021, 82% of the eligible population had received a first vaccine and 
76.6% a second vaccine. 

12 Whilst the national COVID-19 vaccination programme has achieved 
significant coverage in the overall eligible population, avoidable 
inequalities in vaccination still exist within some population groups and 
these must be addressed.  

13 This report draws on non-patient identifiable data from multiple sources. 
As some inequality groups are not routinely coded on clinical systems, 
for example people experiencing homelessness, there has been the 
need to work with system partners to gain an understanding of vaccine 
coverage in certain groups. 

County Durham Vaccine Inequalities Group 

14 A sub-group of the Immunisation Board has been set-up bringing 
together existing workstreams targeting homeless and rough sleepers 
and the Gypsy Roma and Travellers community and expanding to cover 
all inequalities.  

15 The multi-agency working group is focused on narrowing the gap 
between population groups with lower vaccine coverage and the rest of 
the population, informed by data and local intelligence.  

16 The remit of the group is to: 

 

Page 201



 

 

 Work with Primary Care Networks (groups of general practices 
working together with health and care partners, abbreviated as 
PCNs), to understand their community needs and support their 
plans to increase vaccine intake, as appropriate.  

 Partnership working with local authority intelligence team to 
analyse vaccine uptake data, by PCN, age, gender, geography, 
ethnicity, and other protected characteristics to ensure equity of 
access to having the vaccine.  

 Aggregating data sets to monitor vaccine uptake particularly in 
the low socio-economic areas, where it is known the population 
suffer from a higher rate of co-morbidities such as obesity, 
diabetes, inactivity.  

 Implement a multi-faceted targeted approach, using current 
reliable datasets and local trusted at source insights, to improve 
vaccine accessibility at a very local level. (This has been 
accomplished by utilising roving mobile provision, enabling taking 
the vaccine out to communities via the MELISSA (Mobile 
Education Learning Improvement Simulation Safety Activities) 
training bus, specifically useful when trying to reach socially 
excluded groups such as Gypsy Roma Travellers). 

 Promote community development and cohesion, building on 
existing collaboration with anchor organisations and community 
networks, voluntary care and social enterprise partners, faith 
leaders and Area Action Partnerships to ensure promotional 
activity reaches grass roots level.  

 Implement community engagement, linking with COVID-19 
champions and awareness workers, neighbourhood wardens and 
Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) to 'spread the word' 
about the vaccine events via word of mouth and leaflets drops in 
targeted areas.  

17 A summary plan on page is included in Appendix 2. Underpinning this, 
is a comprehensive COVID-19 vaccine inequalities action plan, to 
ensure no one gets left behind. 

Identifying priority low uptake communities 

18 Initial analysis undertaken on behalf of the Immunisation Board 
indicated that while vaccine coverage at county level was comparable to 
anywhere in the North East and beyond, at sub-county level there was 
significant variation in vaccine uptake for both doses across age bands, 
gender and the social gradient. In an attempt to address this inequality, 
we have adopted an evidence and intelligence led approach to 
identifying and addressing poor vaccine uptake in small areas across 
County Durham.  

Page 202



 

 

19 A Geographical Information System (GIS) vaccine dashboard has been 
developed to display the latest data for County Durham and is updated 
on a twice weekly basis currently. The dashboard, based on Public 
Health England business intelligence data and therefore resident based 
rather than the National Immunisation Management System (NIMS) 
content, which is based on GP registration, shows overall coverage for 
Doses 1 and 2, gender and age bands as well as the social gradient in 
terms of uptake and contains maps for Doses 1 and 2 coverage at 
Lower Super Output Area (LSOA)1. 

Figure 1. Vaccine GIS dashboard front page. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20 Additional analysis is presented on a regular basis to both the Vaccine 
Inequalities Group and the Immunisations Board covering vaccine 
uptake by ethnicity, gender, age band, deprivation decile and showing 
the number of residents partially and fully vaccinated along with the 
number unvaccinated residents at varying geographic levels (from 
Middle Super Output Area (MSOA), to Lower Super Output Area 
(LSOA) and more recently to Output Area (OA)1.  

 

 

 

 

 

                                         
1 These are small area geographies. MSOAs have an average population of around 8,200 residents. 
LSOAs have an average population of around 1,620 and OAs an average population of around 310 
residents. OAs are an extremely granular level of geography to analyse. 

Page 203



 

 

Figure 2. Example of MSOA level analysis, with thresholds. 

 

Figure 3. Drill through to OA analysis with thresholds 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21 This OA level vaccine coverage is also mapped on the Health 
Protection Assurance Board’s Risk and Recovery GIS map (for those 
OAs where coverage is below 70% for Doses 1 and 2). This clearly 
shows clustering of small areas of relatively poor vaccine coverage but 
the proportion of OAs with less than 70% coverage is now less than 3% 
for Dose 1 and less than 8% for Dose 2. This combined small area 
analysis forms the basis of the planning for the locations of the 
MELISSA training bus and other vaccine pop-ups.  

22 At the beginning of this process there was significant variation in OA 
level coverage within County Durham despite overall good levels of 
coverage at county level, with around 45% of OAs reporting uptake 
below 70% for Dose 1 and around 85% below 70% for Dose 2. 

 

 

 

Page 204



 

 

Figure 4. Map showing OAs where Dose 2 coverage is less than 70% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23 As of 13 October 2021, there are 48 OAs (2.8%) where coverage is 
lower than 70% for Dose 1 and 128 OAs (7.4%) where coverage is 
lower than 70% for Dose 2. 

Wellbeing Approach 

24 The Vaccine Inequality Group has adopted a wellbeing approach to 
delivering its actions and have seen successful outcomes as a result. 
The approach to wellbeing principles ensure that actions are informed 
by evidence and local conversations. Co-production of services is at the 
heart of this approach to maximise outcomes from available resources. 

25 The wellbeing approach has supported vaccine pop-up clinics to utilise 
local assets in the areas of highest need and worked with the 
community to promote clinics in the most suitable way for each 
community. Local champions have empowered residents to access the 
vaccine with appropriate messages and language.  

Overview of interventions to address vaccine inequalities 

Access-focused interventions 

26 Interventions promoting ease of access have included:   

(a) Pop-up clinics using the MELISSA training bus: These have been 
delivered in areas of known low vaccine uptake. To date over 
5,000 vaccines have been delivered on the bus (mixture of first, 
second and booster doses). Overall feedback has been extremely 
positive – many thought the pop-up clinic using the bus was a 

Page 205



 

 

brilliant idea and good for those who couldn't travel to get 
vaccinated. There were comments about it being quick and easy 
and very efficient.  

(b) Pop-up walk in clinics: Vaccination clinics, removing the need to 
book an appointment, have been held by Local Vaccination 
Services across County Durham. These clinics also supported 
surge planning and included the pop-up walk in vaccination clinic 
at Millennium Place in Durham where over 1,300 people were 
vaccinated and the clinic at Maiden Castle where a further 265 
vaccines were delivered. Boots Pharmacy in Durham also ran a 
walk-in clinic, delivering 244 vaccines. 

(c) Practice-based vaccination clinics: The Medicine Optimisation 
Team have supported the movement of vaccine to GP practices 
to enable vaccinations to take place in a location closer to 
people's homes. 

(d) Joint approaches with community pharmacies: A collaboration 
agreement between Knights Pharmacy and Bishop Auckland 
PCN was developed and implemented to increase available 
appointments for local people. This work was nationally 
recognised. 

(e) Transport: The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
commissioned a transport hub in Phase 1 of the vaccination 
programme, to support vulnerable people experiencing physical 
and/or financial challenges, to access vaccination at their Local 
Vaccination Service site. 

Homeless and Rough Sleepers 

27 A roving team supported by a CCG GP Clinical Lead was established to 
deliver drop-in vaccination clinics for people experiencing homeless and 
those sleeping rough. This work is being supported by the Housing 
Solutions team and the COVID-19 champions who have visited hostels 
across County Durham. 

28 As of 6 September 2021, the team has offered vaccination to 446 
identified homeless people, of which 50% have received a first vaccine 
with 33% receiving a second vaccine. Figures for County Durham are 
broadly in line with the regional average (49% have received a first 
vaccine and 30% a second vaccine).  

29 Discussions are ongoing with providers and the voluntary agencies that 
work with the homeless to consider ways to increase uptake and 
address vaccine hesitancy in this cohort. Work is also being progressed 

Page 206



 

 

to commission a service to support provision of first, second and 
booster doses in this population. 

30 There is some cross over with the homeless population and drug and 
alcohol recovery service (DARS) clients. DARS clients in themselves 
are not classified as an eligible group by the Joint Committee on 
Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) in terms of attending an addiction 
service. However, many clients fall into eligible cohorts resulting from 
long-term conditions or homelessness. The service has segmented 
these clients and supported them to access the vaccine.  

Gypsy Roma and Travellers (GRT) Community 
 
31 The Housing Solutions lead for the GRT community and Harrogate and 

District NHS Foundation Trust 0-25 nurse have contacted the 126 
households living on the six permanent GRT sites and supported them 
with appropriate resources to help people better understand COVID-19 
symptoms, the role vaccination plays in saving lives - aiming to remove 
barriers to the GRT community accessing COVID-19 vaccination and 
COVID-19 testing arrangements. 

32 Working in partnership with local PCNs pop-up vaccination clinics using 
the MELISSA training bus were offered on the temporary stop-over sites 
which the GRT community access enroute to and from Appleby Horse 
Fair, which took place in August 2021. Whilst it was positive to hear that 
many of the GRT community on the site had already been vaccinated, 
CCG and PCN staff had the opportunity to have conversations with 
people to gain insight into the cultural values and reasons behind 
vaccine hesitancy.  

33 As of 13 September 2021, it was reported that 55% of those aged 18 
years and above, across the six permanent sites, had received a 
vaccine. This is based on primary data from GRT front-line workers. 
There is no readily available national data against which we can 
benchmark our local coverage of this group. 
 

 Vulnerable Resettlement Refugees  
 
34 The council is supporting refugees under the government’s resettlement 

programme.  All refugee arrivals are registered with a GP, have access 
to a full resettlement support service and will receive/be offered 
vaccination in line with their priority grouping.   

35 All resettled refugee families have been contacted by the resettlement 
support team to discuss the vaccination process and provide further 
information in response to any concerns raised. In addition, all families 

Page 207



 

 

eligible to book vaccination appointments are being offered support to 
do this if required. 

36 As of 27 September 2021, out of 143 resettled refugees (aged 16 and 
above), 106 (74%) have received a first dose of the vaccine and 63 
(44%) received a second dose. Again, there is no readily available 
national data against which we can benchmark our local coverage of 
this group. 

37 Resettlement officers continue to activity support discussions around 
vaccine hesitancy and barriers. All practices have been requested to re-
offer vaccinations to this vulnerable group. 

Sex Workers 

38 This underrepresented group have been supported to access the 
vaccination. Changing Lives have helped people to book appointments 
and organised transport to the Arnison Mass Vaccination Site. Of the 
known sex workers in County Durham, support officers have reported 
approximately two thirds have now been vaccinated. Work to increase 
uptake in this group is ongoing. 

Ethnicity 

39 Regular updates from Public Health intelligence team informs current 
vaccine uptake by specific category, including Black, Asian and minority 
ethnic (BAME) groups registered by CCG.  

40 Data on ethnicity enables targeted communication and tailored 
information in different languages. It also highlights the need to have 
COVID-19 champions from diverse backgrounds, to enable them to 
become a trusted person within the community, supporting people make 
an informed choice.  

41 The COVID-19 vaccination uptake reports for County Durham have 
highlighted a significantly lower uptake in the Chinese population than 
any of the other ethnic groups. It is possible that some may have 
received their vaccine oversees, but the figures not included in our data. 
Following discussion with Durham University, a contributing factor is 
thought to be international students who are not currently resident in 
UK.  

42 Four additional pop-up vaccination clinics were held on the Palace 
Green, for students returning to campus, at the beginning of October 
2021. A total of 495 COVID-19 vaccines were administered; 85% of 
which were given to those aged 30 or under. 

 

Page 208



 

 

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender Plus (LGBT+) Community 
 

43 Durham County Council currently contract a LGBT+ young people's 
service. Opportunities to promote vaccine uptake via 
Humankind/Stonewall are being explored. The Durham PRIDE event 
provided an opportunity to promote key messages about COVID-19 
vaccination, with social influencers also encouraging vaccine uptake.  

44 As sexual orientation is not routinely coded on practice clinical systems, 
obtaining data for this group is challenging. 

Learning Disabilities 

45 Work has taken place to make COVID-19 vaccinations more accessible 
to people with learning disability. These has included: 

 Making reasonable adjustments for example long appointment 
slots 

 PCNs ensuring people with learning disability living in specialist 
resident homes being offered vaccination 

 Specialist nurses working for Tees Esk and Wear Valley NHS 
Foundation Trust (TEWV) responding to requests from PCNs to 
support individuals to access vaccination appointments  

 The CCG roving team of learning disability nurses going out to 
people's homes to deliver the vaccine. 

 
46 Practice clinical system data indicates a declined rate of 5.6% in this 

cohort. 

47 The Learning Disability Integrated Team have worked with several 
practices to undertake a 'deep dive' to understand reasons for not 
coming forward for vaccination, to help inform solution-based actions to 
increase vaccine uptake.   

48 Learning from the deep dive indicated more work was needed to tailor 
communications to this vulnerable group to help them to understand the 
importance of getting vaccinated, how to book an appointment and 
ensure that reasonable adjustments are taken into consideration.  

49 As of 4 October 2021, 87% of people with a learning disability in County 
Durham, aged 12 and above were reported to had received a first 
vaccine and 82% a second vaccine, which is broadly in line with the 
average uptake across the region; 87% and 81% respectively (COVID-
19 vaccination uptake report produced by NHS North of England 
Commissioning Support (NECS), using data sourced from the Reporting 
Analysis and Intelligence Delivering Results (RAIDR) system and the 
NHS Foundry Master Patient Index (MPI).  

Page 209



 

 

50 Work is ongoing collaboratively between primary care and TEWV to 
explore other options that might be available to improve uptake in this 
vulnerable group.  

Severe and Enduring Mental Illness 
 

51 Below are examples of work being untaken to support vaccine uptake in 
people with severe and enduring mental illness: 

 Social Prescribing Links Workers in some PCNs, contacting 
people on the practice register and inviting for vaccination  

 Offering reasonable adjustment where appropriate 
 Mental Health Trust staff promoting the vaccine and encouraging 

people to take up the offer 

 Dissemination of information including details on pop-up 
vaccination clinics in non-clinical settings and a vaccine referral 
letter via the Mental Health Provider Forum, the Resilient 
Communities Group and Cree services 

 PCNs ensuring people in Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
registered specialist care homes are offered vaccination 

 Offering vaccination to mental health in-patients – a process has 
been in place since the start of the year using the Astra Zeneca 
vaccine 

 
52 As of 4 October 2021, 87% of people with severe mental illness in 

County Durham, were reported to had received a first vaccine and 82% 
a second vaccine; which is slightly above the average uptake across the 
region; 86% and 80% respectively (COVID-19 vaccination uptake report 
produced by NECS, using data sourced from RAIDR and NHS Foundry 
MPI). 

53 Primary care and TEWV are working in collaboration to explore other 
options that might be available to improve uptake in this 
underrepresented group. 

Carers 
 

54 Direct links have been established with Durham County Council Carer 
Support, who hold a substantial Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP) and non-DWP contact list. Vaccination promotional activity has 
included a bulletin provided to over 20,000 carers.  

55 As of 4 October 2021, 96% of carers in County Durham, aged 12 and 
above were reported to had received a first vaccine and 94% a second 
vaccine; which is slightly above the average uptake across the region; 
94% and 92% respectively (COVID-19 vaccination uptake report 

Page 210



 

 

produced by NECS, using data sourced from RAIDR and NHS Foundry 
MPI).  

At-risk 12- to 15-year-olds 

56 The JCVI published guidance on 19 July 2021, which recommended 
that some at risk 12-15 years olds should be offered COVID-19 
vaccination.  This included children with severe neuro-disabilities, 
Down’s Syndrome, underlying conditions resulting in 
immunosuppression, profound and multiple learning disabilities (PMLD), 
severe learning disabilities or who are on the learning disability 
register.  This was further extended by the JCVI on 3 September 2021 
to include additional at-risk children, including those with haematological 
malignancy, sickle cell disease, type 1 diabetes, congenital heart 
disease and other health conditions including severe asthma.  The full 
list of criteria is available in the Green Book, which has the latest 
information on vaccines and vaccination procedures, 
for vaccine preventable infectious diseases in the UK.  

57 All PCN-run Local Vaccination Service sites in County Durham 
completed an assurance checklist confirming that appropriate training 
and safety measures were in place to enable the safe vaccination of this 
patient cohort.  This included a requirement to ensure appropriate 
informed consent and competence of the child were in place.  Within 
County Durham eligible patients were identified by the PCNs and GP 
practices and invited for vaccination.  All eligible children in the initial 
cohort had been identified and offered an appointment by 19 August 
2021, and the subsequent cohort were all identified and offered an 
appointment by 30 September 2021.  Support was offered by TEWV 
Learning Disability nurses to ensure that appropriate adjustments were 
made and where necessary home visits were undertaken. 

Healthy 12- to 16-year-olds  

58 Harrogate and District Foundation Trust (HDFT) are providing 
vaccinations to 12- to 16-year-olds in schools. This service is 
commissioned by NHS England.  

59 HDFT have been working with Head Teachers and partners to give the 
vaccinations in a safe and well managed way in line with national 
guidance. They were asked to agree a date for vaccinations with every 
Head Teacher in County Durham by half term week (Monday 25 
October 2021).  

60 HDFT have started to vaccinate pupils in schools across County 
Durham and will continue to do so until all 12- to 16-year-old pupils who 

Page 211

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-the-green-book-chapter-14a


 

 

are eligible have been offered the vaccination. Parents and carers will 
be contacted through the schools to give consent to vaccination.  

61 Discussions are underway to: 

 Make arrangements for home educated 12- to 16-year-olds 

 Use the capacity of the Mass Vaccination Centre 

 Have follow up appointments for pupils who have not, for whatever 
reason, been unable to be vaccinated at school 

 Collect and understand the data about vaccination take up 
 

Detained Estates 

62 As the COVID-19 vaccination programme continues to be delivered to 
all adults, efforts are being made to encourage staff and prisoners or 
detainees to get fully vaccinated, especially given the vulnerabilities of 
people in prisons and places of detention. The Detained Estates arm of 
the vaccination programme is led by NHS England with input from the 
Health and Justice Team. 
 

63 Figure 5 shows the percentage of people vaccinated within the County 
Durham Detained Estates. Data provided is specific to the over 50s 
population and the whole prison population. 
 
Figure 5. Vaccination rates in County Durham Detained Estates 
 
 1st Dose 

Over 50's 
2nd Dose 
Over 50's 

1st Dose 
Whole prison 
population 

2nd Dose 
Whole prison 
population 

HMP Youth Offender Unit  
Deerbolt 

N/A N/A 35% 35% 

HMP Durham 
 

74% 64% 53% 38% 

HMP Frankland 
 

87% 85% 73% 67% 

HMP Low Newton 
 

90% 83% 85% 70% 

Data source: NHS Foundry 10 October 2021 

64 Vaccination rates will be lower than that in the community, due to new 
admissions and transfers into the secure and detained estates each 
week. The population churn on a weekly basis is significant in our 
reception prison, HMP Durham. 
 

65 There has been a high hesitancy rate within the Prison setting, 
particularly in the Young Offender setting. There are a range of reasons 
for this, peer pressure, sense of infallibility in young men and a belief 
that COVID-19 will not have an impact on young people. There have 
been a range of initiatives introduced to address these issues including 

Page 212



 

 

detained young people informing the communication for the prison and 
having COVID-19 champions to support young people in their decision 
making. 
 

66 When compared to the National vaccination figures for Detained 
Estates, the North East and Yorkshire Region is the second highest 
performer, which given the number of reception prisons we have in the 
North East is a positive achievement. This reflects the hard work of the 
prison health care teams across our region. 
 

Workplace settings 
 

67 Information, communication and marketing have been shared via the 
'Better Health at Work' provider (which has over 70 members); Business 
Durham, the environmental health team and licencing team. 

68 Links have been made with the Durham County Council COVID-19 
Outbreak Control Team. 

69 Pop-up vaccination clinics have been delivered on the Amazon site at 
Bowburn and Newton Aycliffe Industrial Estate; both have been 
positively received.  

Patients at risk of anaphylaxis 

70 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) have 
been running a complex patient clinic to ensure that people with 
possible or confirmed allergies to the COVID-19 vaccines are 
vaccinated with additional monitoring in place in-line with national 
guidance. This has been offered to all cohorts of patients to increase 
uptake in this complex group. 

71 To date, CDDFT has received over 200 referrals from across County 
Durham and Darlington for people who may need to have their COVID-
19 vaccine in a hospital setting. Each referral is assessed by a panel of 
clinicians from CDDFT and County Durham CCG. Most people have 
been booked for vaccination in one of the hospital clinics or have been 
assessed as being able to safely receive their vaccination in primary 
care. To date, CDDFT has delivered over 180 vaccinations with clinics 
continuing to support people with their second and booster doses in line 
with national guidance. 

Communication and engagement 

72 Communication teams in both the CCG and Durham County Council 
have and continue to promote consistent messages about COVID-19 
vaccination and where to get jabbed, to help overcome barriers to 

Page 213



 

 

access. A range of communication methods have been adopted 
including social media, videos, leaflets and posters. 

73 Engagement with local communities, particularly those in deprived 
areas, has been strengthened through the COVID-19 champions and 
awareness workers. 

74 Adoption of a community champion approach is beneficial in mobilising 
communities to support each other to promote the importance of the 
vaccine using local people as a powerful 'trusted voice'. 

North East and North Cumbria Vaccine Equalities Board 

75 A presentation has been prepared by the North East and North Cumbria 
(NENC) Vaccine Equalities Board in July 2021 to inform on ‘Approaches 
to address vaccine inequalities in the North East and North Cumbria’. 
The document provides a summary of approaches being taken across 
the region to address vaccine inequalities and highlights best practice 
capturing key learning for sharing gaps and opportunities.  

76 Durham is well represented detailing targeted work undertaken to 
ensure information is accessible for all communities, the vaccine is 
accessible via the vaccine bus and targeted pop-up clinics for 
underrepresented groups, partnership working is at the heart of the 
process to engage and empower communities.  

77 The presentation will continually be updated to ensure opportunities for 
learning and sharing good practice are utilised.  

Learning to date 
 

78 The following themes have been identified by the NENC Vaccine 
Equalities Board from activity across the region, these are true to 
County Durham's approach to mitigating vaccine inequalities. 

 Better information for communities and professionals (based 
on insight): Enabling people to make an informed decision via 
the provision of appropriate and targeted information tailored to 
meet the needs of different populations. 

 Increasing accessibility – taking the vaccine to people: 
Removing common barriers (including location, booking of 
appointments, transport and cost) by providing clinics in 
community venues enhanced by support and information to make 
taking up the vaccine as easy as possible. 

 Empowering communities – asset based, community 
champion approaches: Mobilising communities to support each 

Page 214



 

 

other to promote the importance of the vaccine using local people 
as a powerful trusted voice. 

 Partnership working and collaboration: Multiagency 
partnership working to engage the hardest to reach using existing 
relationships to build trust and confidence in the vaccine 
programme and collaboration across the NENC to share 
 best practice and resources. 

Resource implications 

79 The direct funding of the vaccination roll-out programme is from the 
NHS. Additional funding (£18k) has made available via the Integrated 
Care System to support delivery of the local collaborative plan to 
address health inequalities. 

80 The original plan to establish a dedicated roving team for County 
Durham was not progressed. It was felt this was no longer needed 
given the successes of working with individual PCNs to reduce vaccine 
inequalities; with PCNs being ideally placed to know their local 
population needs. Available funding has been used on promotional 
materials and to meet any shortfall in staffing costs incurred when 
delivering pop-up vaccination clinics. 

Conclusion 

81 The development of safe and effective COVID-19 vaccinations provides 
hope for a return to normal life. Across County Durham there has been 
extensive planning for a vaccine rollout and ensure that those most at 
risk are offered vaccinations in a timely manner in-line with national 
recommendations. Our ambition is that no one is left behind, and to 
enable people to make an informed choice to take up the vaccine.  

82 A considerable amount of collaborative work has been undertaken to 
make sure that everyone eligible for a jab, has been able to get one. 
Despite the work has taken place to address the gaps, a continued and 
expanded focus is needed, in-line with an ever-changing picture of 
vaccine uptake and amendments to national guidance. 

83 All lessons learnt from tackling vaccine inequalities will need to feed into 
Phase 3 of the COVID-19 vaccination deployment programme and the 
annual flu immunisation planning, to ensure high uptake in all under-
represented groups. 

84 One approach to promote vaccine equality has been to connect and 
strengthen relationships with communities beyond the practice doors. 
While this is one area where concerted efforts to tackle health 
inequalities is making progress, lessons learned through the 

Page 215



 

 

vaccination programme, may also offer a springboard to addressing 
inequalities in health and care. 

Author 

Christine Scollen  

Commissioning and Development Lead, NHS County Durham CCG  
Email:  Christine.scollen@nhs.net 
 

  

Page 216

mailto:Christine.scollen@nhs.net


 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

No issues identified 

Finance 

Report includes a section on additional funding that has made available via 

the Integrated Care System to support delivery of the local collaborative plan 

to address health inequalities. 

Consultation 

Consultation with partners is ongoing to develop/delivery actions to reduce 

vaccine inequalities. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The report highlights work being undertaken to reduce inequalities in COVID-

19 vaccine uptake. 

Climate Change 

No issues identified 

Human Rights 

No issues identified 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

No issues identified 

Accommodation 

No issues identified 

Risk 

Any risks identified are escalated to the Immunisation Board and raised with 

the relevant stakeholder organisation via the appropriate representative on the 

group. 

Procurement 

Not applicable  

Page 217



 

 

Appendix 2:  Plan on a Page 
 

 

Page 218



COVID-19 VACCINE 
EQUALITIES UPDATE

P
age 219



Background

• Vaccinations have a critical role to play in the fight 
against COVID-19.

• The importance of maximising vaccine uptake in 
underserved communities and marginalised groups is 
recognised.

• A multi-agency working group has been established, with 
the specific remit of reducing vaccine inequalities and 
ensuring no one is left behind.

• A multi-pronged approach has been adopted to drive 
vaccination in low uptake groups.

P
age 220



Identifying priority low uptake communities

• Aim for a minimum of 70% 
uptake across all ages, genders 
and geographies

• County Durham has 19,000 plus 
people over the age of 40 
unvaccinated 

• Continually analysing vaccine 
uptake data and local soft 
intelligence, to help decide 
where best target interventions 
to have the most impact

P
age 221



Example of Good Practice: 
Pop-up Vaccination Clinics

• Excellent demonstration of 
collaborative work

• Supports ease of vaccine access
• Events underpinned by enhanced 

community engagement and 

communications 

• Over 5,000 COVID-19 vaccines have 
been delivered on the bus to date

• Extremely positive feedback from the 
public

P
age 222



Examples of other work

• Dedicated drop-in vaccination clinics for people experiencing homeless 
and those sleeping rough

• Targeted work with the GRT community and vulnerable resettlement 
refugees

• Making COVID-19 vaccinations more accessible to people with learning 
disability and severe mental illness

• Walk-in clinics for university students

P
age 223



Monitoring Progress 

P
age 224



COUNTY DURHAM COVID-19 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  

LOCAL OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN (LOMP) 
UPDATE 
24 NOVEMBER 2021

AMANDA HEALY
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

P
age 225

A
genda Item

 12



Covid-19 Data

Key Point

0-19 account for 40% 

of all cases 

Key Point

0-19 account for 40% 

of all cases 

Covid-19 Dashboard 

www.durhaminsight.info/

covid-19

P
age 226



Covid-19 Vaccinations

90% 1st Dose

84% Fully Vaccinated

16% Unvaccinated

• Leaving no one 

behind - targeted 

work ongoing

• Melissa Bus

• Covid-19 booster 

programme and the 

12-15 programme.

90% 1st Dose

84% Fully Vaccinated

16% Unvaccinated

• Leaving no one 

behind - targeted 

work ongoing

• Melissa Bus

• Covid-19 booster 

programme and the 

12-15 programme.

P
age 227



Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) Update

LOMP activity

• Local Autumn and Winter Planning and 

delivery (Based on National  Autumn and Winter 

Plan and National Contain Framework).

• Control measures still important - Hands, 

Face, Space, Fresh Air, Vaccinate.

• Test& Trace - Local Tracing Partnership.

• Continued support for Settings – flexing 

and adjusting to reflect current rates. 

• PCR and LFD Testing.

• Communication –

- Safe Covid County

- Act of Kindness 

COMF

• 76 bids through Test & Trace, COMF and Pooled 
LA7 totalling £23.3 million. 

• Current spend to date £6.8 million. Funding to be 
spent by March 2022.

• Stock take of bids in Q3 and Q4 to monitor 
forecast spend and underspend reporting to CMT 
and HPAB.

Examples of completed successful bids; 

• Additional support for schools covering unplanned costs 
during Covid.

• Mutual Aid and VCS Emergency Support

• Reinstatement of services

• Re-opening of school swimming pools

• CYP Emotional wellbeing – Bereavement Counselling

P
age 228



A more in depth look at 

Care homes

• Regional winter preparedness resource 

for care homes produced

• Mandatory vaccination for all health and 

social care workers by 11th November

• Booster vaccine roll out in progress

• Outbreak management arrangements 

continue supported by public health, UK 

Health Security Agency (UKHSA), 

Commissioning and Infection Prevention 

and Control Team.

Durham University

• Joint public health, Durham University 
review of the Outbreak Response Plan

• Plan presented to Health Protection 
Assurance Board in September 2021

• Co-location of assisted LFD testing and 
vaccination to maximise uptake

• To date over 50,000 LFD tests taken 
(12,000 students and staff involved) –
average of 2,500 tests per day

• Positive cases remain low with 1 in 
1,000 LFD tests.

• 500 vaccinations provided on site

P
age 229



COVID-19 Community Champions

There are 88 active Champions or Champions Plus

• 61 Covid Community Champions

• 27 Covid Community Champions Plus  

Champions programme has in place a robust and effective two-way dialogue with communities:

• Some individual social media posts have been viewed over 1000 times

• Issues raised by Champions have been reported to HPA Board and actioned or informed 

future work e.g. shaping wider comms messages with feedback to Champions of outcomes

• Case studies promoting Champions programme and Vaccination support have featured in 

local newspapers 

Champions programme is an embedded team within COVID response and recovery, working 

collaboratively with PH Outbreak Control team, COVID Awareness co-ordinators, COVID 

Compliance team and Neighbourhood Wardens 

Champions programme have linked with Fun with Food school holiday activity 

providers, wider organisations working with children and families and Durham Youth 

Council to develop a Young Champions programme 

P
age 230



Autumn and Winter Plan

National Autumn and Winter Plan:

• Aims to sustain the progress we’ve made 

• Ensuring the NHS is not overwhelmed 

• Maximising uptake of the vaccine 

• Identifying and isolating positive cases to 

limit transmission

• Support for the NHS and Social Care

• Enable the public to make informed 

decisions

• Continued ‘Working Safely’ guidance for all 

employers

• Retain contingency measures

• PCR and LFD testing offer continues

Local winter planning:

• Flu season expected to be high – Flu 

vaccination high priority (staff offer)

• Other respiratory viruses expected to be high

• Covid will be circulating – controls continue 

to be promoted and in place 

• Covid vaccine booster for those eligible

• Retain outbreak controls and investigations

• Continued testing for Schools and University

• Support for self-isolation

• Business continuity

P
age 231



Public Questions

1. Why is it not a requirement for people to wear masks at both indoor and outdoor events?

2. Why is the vaccine I’ve received for my booster Jab (Pfizer) a different make to the one for the first 

two doses (Astra Zeneca)? 

3. People are getting confused about time periods between booster jabs and the time you have to wait 

before a Covid vaccine if you have tested positive for Covid. Can you explain this? 

4. I hear on the news this Flu season is expected to be high. Why? And what are you                            

doing to protect the NHS?

P
age 232


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 1 September 2021
	5 Health and Social Care Integration:
	6 County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-25 Update:
	CDOF Commentary
	The County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-2025 3rd edition
	OGIM Maternity 2021
	OGIM Children and Young People 2021
	OGIM Cancer 2021
	OGIM Cardiovascular Disease 2021
	OGIM Diabetes 2021
	OGIM Drug and Alcohol 2021
	OGIM Respiratory 2021
	OGIM Sexual Health 2021
	OGIM Stroke 2021
	OGIM Dementia 2021
	OGIM Ageing Well 2021
	OGIM Carers 2021
	OGIM Learning Disability and Autism 2021
	OGIM Mental Health 2021
	OGIM Oral health 2021
	OGIM Primary Care Networks 2021
	OGIM Urgent and Emergency Care 2021
	OGIM Digital 2021
	OGIM Personalised Care 2021
	OGIM Population Health and Prevention 2021
	OGIM Shorter Waits 2021

	7 Overview of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021:
	Item 7 - Domestic Abuse Act

	8 Better Care Fund:
	9 Winter Planning Arrangements:
	Item 9 - Winter Planning - Appendix 2

	10 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns:
	11 Covid 19 Vaccine Inequalities Update:
	Item 11 - Covid 19 Vaccine Inequalities Update presentation

	12 Local Outbreak Control Plan Update, including questions from members of the public and stakeholders:

